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Chairman’s Statement

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

In 2023, China’s real estate market continued to adjust at the bottom.
With the meeting of the Political Bureau in July which emphasized
“major change in the industry’s supply and demand relationship” as a
watershed, policy efforts gradually shifted to “support and stimulate at
the same time” (FE£2 17 fH). Favorable policies on the demand including
lowering down payments, reducing interest rates and “grant of loans
based on buyers’ houses but not loans” (ZETRE) side were
implemented one after another to support residents’ property purchase
by mortgage, and entity protection measures including “three no less
than“(={E-~MER) and equal support for financing on the supply side
were successively implemented. The government has taken the lead
in releasing a white list of real estate enterprises to ease their capital
pressure.

Despite the launch of various favorable policies and the market picking
up to a certain extent, residents have lowered their expectations
of future income and their willingness on property purchases has
weakened, making market sales still very difficult. In such a challenging
environment, the Company has always adhered to the corporate
vision of “becoming a city builder for a better life”, overcome internal
difficulties, and made strenuous efforts to fulfill the objectives of “ensuring
delivery and cash flow” with a proactive, accountable and pragmatic
attitude. The Group made a reverse schedule for the delivery of projects
throughout the year, designated responsible personnel, and focused
its manpower and financial resources on overcoming the difficulties in
delivery. During the year, a total of more than 20 projects were delivered
with a delivered area of more than 1,476,000 sg.m. and the revenue
from delivery also exceeded RMB17 billion. The Group preserved cash
flow, accelerated cash collection, controlled three expenses and kept
expenditure within the limits of revenues; adjusted the financing structure
to further reduce financing costs; revitalized assets and realized rapid
clearance while balancing the value of goods and the preservation of
assets. Compared with the same period in 2022, the Group’s revenue
from delivery for the period increased by 48% and total interest-bearing
debts decreased by 29%.

In 2024, real estate policies at the central level are expected to continue
to power up on the supply side and demand side, and local control
policies still have room for further optimization. In the long run, the real
estate market will remain a market with a scale of RMB10 trillion, and
there will still be structural opportunities in different cities and across
different demands.
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Chairman’s Statement

The Group will stay true to its original aspiration and continue to uphold
the corporate vision of “becoming a city builder for a better life”, and
will closely focus on “three major missions” to achieve steady and
healthy development of the enterprise: firstly, to continue to focus on the
building of product strength, strengthen engineering quality control, and
fulfill promises to customers with craftsmanship, and boost sales with
good reputation; secondly, to continue to strengthen the formulation
and implementation of marketing strategies, and implement project-
specific strategy to realize fast sales and more collection of cash; and
thirdly, to assign specific responsibilities to specific personnel and make
all-out efforts to ensure delivery.

The Group will continue to strengthen its presence in the Yangtze
River Delta region, proactively respond to market opportunities and
challenges, and continue to create value as a token of appreciation to
our customers and shareholders for their continued support for and
trust in the Group.

Lui Ming

Chairman
28 March 2024

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

BERENmED I

General Overview

Ganglong China Property is an established property developer in China.
The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock
Code: 6968.HK) by way of the Global Offering on 15 July 2020 (the
“Listing”). This marked an important milestone in the development of
the Company.

Headquartered in Shanghai, the Group is an active real estate developer
in China. Adhering to our core value of “striving for innovation, building
with integrity”, the Group believes that we have developed splendid
reputation in our market for constant innovation, excellent quality of our
various products and credibility.

Despite the supportive policies introduced by the PRC Central
Government, the Group had experienced another very difficult year in
2023. Nevertheless, the Group managed to achieve contracted sales
of approximately RMB12,200 million for the year ended 31 December
2023.

In the coming year, the Group will continue to find opportunities. We will
make progress in the development of the business development of the
Group to reward our shareholders.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Business Review

The Group derives its revenue primarily from sales of properties. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately RMB17,579 million, representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 48%.

Contracted sales

For the year ended 31 December 2023, including those of joint ventures
and associates, the Group recorded unaudited contracted sales of
approximately RMB12,200 million. Contracted gross floor area (“GFA”)
sold was approximately 1,109,000 sg.m.. The average selling price
(“ASP”) of our contracted sales for the year ended 31 December 2023
was approximately RMB11,001 per sg.m..

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had contract liabilities of
approximately RMB8,695 million.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had unfulfilled contracts related to
sales of properties of approximately RMB11,411 million.

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2023

£ AE)
AEEMKAZRAAMENE - BE2023F
1231 AL FE - AEEHLRALNBARE
17 579B T - AL AN4I48% »

BHHEE

HE2023F12A31BIEFE - BEZSEELE
REERNR 28R  ARBREEZNEOHEE
HEHAARE122008 87T - HEANEEAE
(TBEEME |)%1,109,000F 752K » & F20234F
12A31BLLFE - AHHENTHEE(FHE
BDHABSFHRARE11,0017T

MR2023F12A31H * AEEMENEBEHNAAR
"8 695H BT ©

R2023F12 A31H » AEBARBITHYEHEEL
BAREN1A1EETT



Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Sales of properties

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue from sales
of properties increased by approximately 48% year-on-year to
approximately RMB17,579 million. The Group recognised total
GFA of approximately 1,476,636 sqg.m., representing an increase of
approximately 33% as compared to 2022. The ASP of the properties
recognised as property sales was approximately RMB11,905 per sg.m,
representing an increase of approximately 11% as compared to 2022.

The following table sets out the recognised sales and GFA sold by type
of properties and city for the year ended 31 December 2023:

MIZEHE

B E2023F12A31HILLEFE - MEHEKGER
LEIZ2IN4I48% E A AR EE17,579B & T © ANEH
MR AT TS 491,476,636 F 5 2K » #20224F
EANAI33% - BERBMEHENYWETHER
B ETF K ARE11,9057T © B2022F 1 AN4)
11% °

TREHIEE2023F 12 A31HILFEIRYEHER
AR TR A S 2B MR SRS -

Recognised Recognised Recognised
GFA ASP revenue

[ 3 SR
EEEE FHEE SRRk E
sg.m. RMB/sg.m. RMB’000

Pk ARM/ERK  ARMTR

Residential, retail and commercial T - ZE R %

Nantong 3 178,364 13,959 2,489,728
Huaian R 208,840 10,505 2,193,921
Changzhou e 177,253 12,080 2,141,250
Yancheng B3 119,138 15,558 1,853,501
Wuxi #15 129,640 13,313 1,725,858
Chengdu B EB 94,955 17,402 1,652,387
Wuhu S 175,690 7,033 1,235,566
Fuyang B85 84,182 8,992 756,930
Taizhou Z=M 50,800 14,422 732,660
Hefei A 45,825 10,819 495,788
Guangzhou BN 34,182 11,924 407,586
Suzhou ERM 31,775 12,448 395,538
Huangshan =1L 24,194 12,037 291,217
Luoyang &5 43,051 6,440 277,231
Guizhou M 64,263 3,751 241,066
Huizhou =M 14,074 12,232 172,160
Shaoxing gl 410 10,068 4,128
Car parks and garage/storage (EHEE REE R TFR 512,704
Total wmEt 1,476,636 11,905 17,579,219
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Land reserves

As of 31 December 2023, the Group (together with its joint ventures and
associates) had 59 projects with land reserves amounting to 5,079,968
sg.m., of which 52 projects were located in cities in the Yangtze River
Delta region.

The following table sets out the GFA breakdown of the total land reserve
of our Group by province or cities as of 31 December 2023:

T Hh A

M2023F12H31H - AEE(GERESEDRER
BN E))HEASEEE - i A5,079,968
ERHK - Es2fEEE R RZ AR o

TRETIHN2023F 12 A31 B AREBIZA DM T
EloH M EAEELETBERMA -

Total land Percentage of

reserve(! total land bank

Provinces/Cities T it 1L ih B AR

H#1,/BH g WEDL

(sg.m.) (%)

(FFF2K) (%)

Jiangsu 3 1,857,398 36

Guangdong ER 1,653,204 33

Anhui 2 949,322 19

Guizhou =)l 267,212 5

Henan ARG 149,172 3

Zhejiang T 145,403 3

Sichuan gl 41,042 1

Shanghai == 17,215 0

Total st 5,079,968 100
Notes: BtsE -

(1)  Total land reserve equals to the sum of (i) The total GFA available for
sale and total leasable GFA for completed properties; (i) total GFA for
properties under development; and (i) total GFA for properties held for
future development.

(2)  For projects developed by our subsidiaries, joint ventures or associated

companies, 100% of total GFA are accounted for the respective
projects.

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Financial Review

Overall performance

During the year ended 31 December 2023, total revenue of the Group
was approximately RMB17,579 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 48%. Gross profit and net profit of the Group
were approximately RMB2,389 million and RMB718 million, for the year
ended 31 December 2023, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 21% and 24%, respectively.

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a total
revenue of approximately RMB17,579 million, representing a year-
on-year increase of approximately 48%. The Group recognised total
GFA of approximately 1,476,636 sg.m., representing an increase of
approximately 33% as compared to 2022. The increase was primarily
attributable to the growth in recognised sales of properties, driven by
an increase in the Group’s property projects delivered during the year
and increase of the ASP of the properties of approximately 11% to
RMB11,905 sg.m. as compared to 2022.

Cost of sales

The cost of sales of the Group mainly represents the costs incurred
directly for sale of properties, which comprised construction costs, land
costs, capitalised interest and impairment recognised for properties
under development and completed properties held for sale.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the cost of sales of the Group
was approximately RMB15,190 million (2022: RMB9,914 million),
including a provision for impairment recognised for properties under
development and completed properties held for sale of approximately
RMB671 million (2022: RMB71 million).

Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the gross profit of the Group
was approximately RMB2,389 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 21%. Gross profit margin was primarily
affected by the selling prices, the construction costs and land costs
of our properties delivered. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group recorded a gross profit margin of approximately 14% as
compared to approximately 17% in 2022. The decrease in the gross
profit margin was mainly due to the increase in impairment recognised
for properties under development and completed properties held for
sale as compared with last year.

Bt 7% [E] 8

BERA

HZE2023F12A31HIEFE - AEBEBWRZELD
BARMA7T579EETT - RLLIEINA48% - EE
2028F 12 A1 ALLFE - REEEF KFHED
R BARE2389FE LM ARKTISHEETT
B3G5 B 4I21% K 24% ©

g

HZE2023F12A31HILFE  AEEBBERZH B

ARBEA7579H 8T - BELIEMNL48% - AEME
RUBEETETEL,476,636F 17 K » EX20224F 12 4

#133% ° FZIEMEBBRENAFERNREEE L

KN ZEIE B g hN A R Y1 TE B /9 T B (EE2022

FEAN11%ZGFEHAKARE11,0057T - B
REMEHEER -

o

HERA

AEBNHERAEEREEELNNEHER
A BARRHEAA - R - BAMER B R
BAE R RIS EH ENE R TR AHERE -
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B/ AREE15,1008 BT (20224F : ARM9,914
BEL)  EREAZRTMERBELENEET
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EF

HE2023F12A31AILFE - XEEHNENLN A
ARBE2,380F & T+ RILLIGMNAI21% » BFI=E
EXIRTYEMRBHEER  BEKARLH
AN E - HFE2023F12A31BIHFEE - AEE
SRISERNERL14% » 2022F AR B17% ° £
FETHREAAEATRYERBIELENE R
TEFHRREER TGN -
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Other income and other gains, net

The Group had other income of approximately RMB27 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, as compared to approximately RMB46
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. During the year ended
31 December 2023, it primarily consisted of rental, management and
consulting service income of approximately RMB41 million netted off by
loss on disposal of a subsidiary of approximately RMB13 million (2022:
rental, management and consulting service income of approximately
RMB23 million and gain on disposal of a subsidiary of approximately
RMB9 million). The management and consulting services mainly
comprise the assignment of staff and personnel to support the operation
of the relevant project companies including but not limited to services
with respect to managerial, operational, financial and marketing aspects
and are provided exclusively to the Group’s joint ventures and associates
in relation to the property development projects.

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses decreased by
approximately 12% year-on-year from approximately RMB416 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB368 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease was primarily
attributable to the better control measures in marketing and advertising
costs and the reduction in staff costs.

General and administrative expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses decreased by
approximately 37% year-on-year from approximately RMB493 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB312
million for the year ended 31 December 20283. The decrease in general
and administrative expenses was primarily due to further organisation
streamlining to lift efficiency at a lower cost.

Fair value loss on investment properties

The Group develops and holds certain retail units for rental income and/
or capital appreciation. The fair value loss on investment properties
amounted to approximately RMB30 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: nil).

Provision for impairment of financial assets

For the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment of financial assets
amounted to approximately RMB56 million, which was mainly due to
the Group’s provision for other receivables and balances with associates
and joint ventures after the assessment of expected credit losses by
considering historical loss experiences, existing market conditions and
forward looking information (2022: nil).

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Finance costs — net

Net finance costs of the Group decreased by approximately 33% year
on-year from approximately RMB118 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately RMB79 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The decrease was due to the lower average principal
balances of interest-bearing debts and higher efficiency in utilising
interest-bearing debts in various property development projects.

Share of results of joint ventures and associates

The Group accounts for the results of joint ventures and associates using
the equity method, which mainly represent the share of profits related to
the projects delivered during the relevant period that have been offset
by losses incurred by other joint ventures and associates.

Share of results of joint ventures and associates was approximately a
loss of RMB24 million and a profit of RMB79 million for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022, respectively. The change was in line with
the decrease in revenue from sales of properties of the joint ventures
and associates.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses increased by 68% from approximately RMB494
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB828
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was primarily
attributable to the combined effect of (a) increase in the number of
projects delivered during the year; (b) increase in amount of tax losses
not recognised as deferred income tax assets; and (c) increase in
corporate income tax expenses for the projects delivered during the
year. The effective tax rates, excluding the share of results of joint
ventures and associates, were 53% and 50% for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year
The Group’s profit and total comprehensive income was approximately
RMB718 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB581 million). The profit attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately RMB148 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: RMB122 million).

The basic and diluted earnings per share of the Company was RMBO0.09
per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB0.07 per
share).

A& AN R ER

REBHBEX N FHERLBDLZ8% - AEE
2022F 12 A1 A IEFEMHARKE118EETLR
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group has always pursued a prudent treasury management policy
and actively manages its liquidity position to cope with daily operation
and demands for capital for future development.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had financed
its working capital, capital expenditure and other capital requirements
primarily through cash generated from operations, including proceeds
from the pre-sale and sales of our properties.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had total cash (including
restricted cash, pledged time deposits and cash and cash equivalents)
of approximately RMB1,836 million (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately RMB4,142 million).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate new
borrowings obtained by the Group amounted to approximately RMB427
million and repayment of borrowings was approximately RMB2,289
million. As of 31 December 2023, the Group’s total bank and other
borrowings amounted to approximately RMB4,824 million, representing
a decrease of approximately 29% as compared to approximately
RMB6,766 million as of 31 December 2022. Amongst bank and other
borrowings, approximately RMB2,797 million (as at 31 December
2022: approximately RMB2,741 million) will be repayable within one
year and approximately RMB2,027 million (as at 31 December 2022:
approximately RMB4,025 million) will be repayable after one year.

Senior notes

In November 2022, the completion of the exchange offer had resulted in
the issuance of principal amount of US$145 million new notes pursuant
to the exchange offer (the “2023 Senior Notes”). The 2023 Senior
Notes bear interest at a fixed rate of 13.5% per annum, payable semi-
annually in arrears.

On 6 November 2023, all of the outstanding 2023 Senior Notes was
redeemed in full, and the redemption price was paid in kind with new
notes issued in an aggregate principal amount of US$164,411,875
which bear interest at a fixed rate of 9.5% per annum, payable annually
in arrears (the “2024 Senior Notes”).

The issuance of the abovementioned senior notes was for the purpose
of general working capital of the Group.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Key financial ratios

As of 31 December 2023, the Group’s net gearing ratio (calculated as
the total borrowings net of restricted cash, pledged time deposits and
cash and cash equivalents divided by total equity) was 26% (as at 31
December 2022: 24%). As of 31 December 2023, the Group’s liabilities
to assets ratio after excluding contract liabilities was approximately
50% (as at 31 December 2022: 56%). As of 31 December 2023, the
Group’s total cash to short terrm debt ratio (calculated as cash and
bank balances divided by short term bank and other borrowings) was 0.7
times (as at 31 December 2022: 1.5 times). The decrease in liabilities
to assets ratio was primarily attributable to the increase in total equity
by delivery of more projects and reduction in total borrowing. The net
gearing ratio remained stable. The Group will continue to manage its
working capital efficiently through working capital management policies
and continue to utilise the Group’s available financial resources including
proceeds from sales and pre-sales of property projects, draw down
of banking facilities and other borrowings and optimise the payment
schedule to contractors through negotiation based on the latest
construction progress.

The Group’s current ratio is calculated based on its total current assets
divided by its total current liabilities as of the respective dates. The
Group’s current ratio had increased from approximately 1.43 times as
of 31 December 2022 to approximately 1.67 times as of 31 December
2023. The current ratio was maintained at a stable level throughout the
years.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates its business in China. Other than the
offshore senior notes which are denominated in US$, the Group did not
have any other material direct exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations
for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Directors expect that any
fluctuation of RMB’s exchange rate will not have any material adverse
effect on the operation of the Group.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

FEHBLER
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from its borrowings. Except for
the offshore senior notes the interest rate of which is fixed, most of the
Group’s borrowings are denominated in RMB, and their interest rates
on the Group’s borrowings are primarily affected by the benchmark
interest rates set by the People’s Bank of China. The Group manages
its interest rate risk by closely monitoring the trend of interest rate
fluctuation and its impact on the Group’s interest rate risk exposure, as
well as regulating the debt portfolio of the Group.

Pledge of assets

As of 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings were secured by its pledged time deposit, equity interests of
group companies, properties under development, completed properties
held for sale and investment properties with total carrying values of
approximately RMB9,815 million (31 December 2022: RMB19,375
million).

Commitments
As of 31 December 2023, the Group had commitments that are
contracted but not provided for as follows:

=B

R ER B O M) 2 LB 2 B B SR o BRI 2K Bl E RO B =
BEZEIN  AEBREDEFTAAREEHE
AEBERON XTI E2ZHEARRITRENE
EREZE  ARBBATESRNENSBE
RESAEENERRNTZE  URERAKE
EBEE AEREFERR o

EEIKE

2028512 A31H « AEEME THRITREME
HHEEREANAREKSI5HEL(2022412
A318 : AR¥19,3758 & 7T) ME B E BifE
o EEARMBRARER - FAEBYE  HEH
ENE B TYERSEMERBER -

A
R2023F12A31H » AEB BRI HEEREEN
HGENT

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR®Tr) (AREEFTT)
Contracted but not provided for EHESIEOES T 4,245,972 6,481,219

The amount represented capital commitment for construction contracts
and agreed proposed development contracts determined based on
current estimated budgets.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Financial guarantees and contingent liabilities
As of 31 December 2023, the Group’s total financial guarantees are as
follows:

B ERENEEE
R2023F 12 A31H + AEBMBIEERAOT

31 December 2023
2023%F12H31H

31 December 2022
2022412 A31H

(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR¥F ) (AR¥FT)
Guarantee in respect of mortgage BETEREENLRIERE
facilities for certain purchasers TEHBIER 7,653,612 13,687,789
Guarantee provided for the borrowings &4 44 1> % & ZiR ey
of joint ventures 1R 234,170 285,425
Total et 7,887,782 13,973,214

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had arranged for
bank financing for certain purchasers of our properties and provided
guarantees to secure obligations of such purchasers for repayments.
Such guarantees periods start from the date of grant of mortgage, and
terminate upon the earlier of (i) the issuance of the property ownership
certificate to the purchaser; or (i) the satisfaction of mortgage loans
by the purchasers of our properties. Pursuant to the terms of these
guarantees, upon default of mortgage payments by these purchasers,
the bank may demand us to repay the outstanding mortgage principal
of the loan together with accrued interest owed by the defaulting
purchasers to the banks. Under such circumstances, the Group are
entitled to forfeit the relevant purchaser’s deposit and resell the property
to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the bank. The Directors
consider that the likelihood of default of payments by the purchasers is
minimal and the Group’s credit risk is significantly mitigated.

The Group also provided guarantee for borrowings of the Group’s joint
ventures and associates from time to time in proportion to its equity
interests. The relevant borrowings were primarily from banks to finance
property development projects of these joint ventures and associates,
whereby the land use rights of the joint ventures and associates were
pledged to the banks and our guarantees were provided in addition
to the pledges. The Directors consider that the likelihood of default in
payments by the joint ventures and associates is minimal and therefore
the financial guarantees measured at fair value is immaterial and no
liabilities was recognised.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had no other material contingent
liabilities.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

On 12 January 2023, Jiangsu Zhengchang Zhongrunfu Investment
Development Co., Ltd.* (T#1FERHEHEERERFRAF) (the IV
Partner”), Anhui Gangfan Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (ZEBMNEEEGRA
7]) (an indirect and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Anhui
Ganglong Real Estate Co., Ltd.” (Z&EBEEZ AR A7) (an indirect
and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Huangshan Ganglong
Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (BZILEBEEEBR A7) (‘Huangshan Project
Co”) and Guangde Gangxing Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (BEmSMHE XS
fR A F]) (“Guangde Project Co”) entered into an equity interests swap
agreement, pursuant to which JV Partner agrees to transfer its 30%
equity interests in Huangshan Project Co to Anhui Ganglong Real Estate
Co., Ltd.; and Anhui Gangfan Real Estate Co., Ltd. agrees to transfer
the 100% equity interests in Guangde Project Co it held, to the JV
Partner (the “Equity Interests Swap”).

Following the completion of the Equity Interests Swap, (i) the Company
no longer held any equity interests in the Guangde Project Co, which
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and the Guangde Project Co
was no longer consolidated into the financial statements of the Group;
and (i) the Huangshan Project Co became a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group.

On 2 April 20283, Jiangsu Ganglong Huayang Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (T
EOBIETEIS B X B A F) (the “Vendor”) (an indirect and wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company), Nantong Jiuhe Property Development Co.,
Ltd.* (@A MBHEFE AR A F) (the “Purchaser”) and Nantong
Jiuhe Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (BBAMEXEGRAF]) (the “Target
Company”), among others, entered into the equity transfer agreement,
pursuant to which the Vendor agrees to sell, and the Purchaser agrees
to purchase the 35% equity interests in the Target Company held by the
Vendor, at a consideration of RMB173,000,000 (the “Disposal’).

Following the completion of the Disposal, the Company no longer held
any interest in the Target Company and the Target Company ceased to
be a subsidiary of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material

acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Future plans for material investments

The Group will continue to invest in its property development projects
and acquire suitable land parcels, if it thinks fit. These investments
would be funded by internal resources and/or external borrowings. Save
as disclosed above, the Group did not have any future plans for material
investments as of the date of this report.

Human resources

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 402 employees
(81 December 2022: 744 employees). Total expenditure on salary and
welfare of the Group’s employees for the year ended 31 December
2023 amounted to approximately RMB202 million (for the year ended
31 December 2022: approximately RMB321 million). The Group has
adopted a system of determining the remuneration of employees based
on the performance of employees. In general, the Group provides
competitive remuneration packages to employees, which include
basic salaries, performance-based rewards and year-end bonus. The
Group also pays social security insurance for the Group’s employees,
including medical insurance, work-related injury insurance, endowment
insurance, maternity insurance, unemployment insurance and housing
funds. In terms of employee training, the Group provides consistent and
systematic training to employees based on their positions and expertise
in order to enhance their expertise in real estate and their related fields.

Future Outlook

“Houses are not for speculation” determines that the overall keynote
of the property market shall be of stability. Whether it is stabilizing land
prices, housing prices, or expectations, it is all for the stable and sound
development of the real estate market, and for the people to have a
home to live in.

The real estate industry has undergone profound changes but is
still facing considerable challenges. The market has become more
demanding than ever in terms of quality, professionalism and services.
The only way we can survive the new cycle is to stay united, pragmatic,
aggressive and hardworking. With gratitude and the concept of open to
mutual benefit, we will work together with property owners, employees,
investors and suppliers to create common prosperity.

Summary of property development

The Group’s land reserve represents the sum of (i) total GFA available
for sale or lease for completed properties which also includes completed
GFA that have been pre-sold but not yet delivered, (ii) total planned
GFA for properties under development, and (jii) total estimated GFA for
properties held for future development. The total land reserve of the
Group represents the total land reserve of projects developed by the
Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

The following table sets out the GFA breakdown of the total land reserve TREHEE2023F 12 A31 HIM B B £ D 57

of the Group by geographical location as of 31 December 2023: BRAANEE i EE SRR AmBERRMA
Completed
GFA available Planned GFA Total land % of total
Property projects developed Number of for sale/ GFA under of future reserve of  land reserve
by the Group's subsidiaries® projects  leasable GFA  development  development the Group!  of the Group
ARLE/ e ]
LA R RREH REH 1t
KEENBARFHRNNEERR BEYE CHIREEE BEERE RUREEE LHRELIY S30EAM
(in'sq.m.) (in'sq.m.) (in'sq.m.) (in'sq.m.)

(F7k) (Fik) (F7k) (Fik)

Anhui ZH Fuyang =15 1 418,128 - - 418,128 8%
Hefei Ak 1 56,032 89,323 - 144,355 3%
Huangshan Zll 1 61,597 - - 61,597 1%
Wuhu & 2 119,443 205,799 - 325,242 6%
Guangdong ER Guangzhou B 1 - 183,371 631,314 814,685 16%
Huizhou 2N 1 18,408 - - 18,408 1%
Foshan B 1 - 171,771 - 171,771 3%
Guizhou I Panzhou BN 1 - 33,060 234,152 267,212 5%
Henan e[ Luoyang B 1 10,038 139,134 - 149,172 3%
Jiangsu iIE Changshu B 2 40,030 - - 40,030 1%
Changzhou M 7 36,058 - - 36,058 1%
Funing B 1 - 207,192 N 207,192 4%
Hai'an B% 3 36,239 62,747 - 98,986 2%
Haimen st 1 7,158 - - 7,158 0%
Huai'an R 2 101,133 83,800 - 184,933 4%
Jingjiang B 1 - 185,829 - 185,829 4%
Lanyungang ~ EZ% 1 2,407 - - 2,407 0%
Nanjing R 2 8,923 83,516 - 92,439 2%
Nantong i 1 - 81,919 - 81,919 2%
Taizhou TN 1 - 149,307 - 149,307 3%
Yancheng B 4 43,321 127,028 - 170,349 3%
Yixing L 1 39,645 - - 39,645 1%
Yizheng & 1 - 150,093 - 150,093 3%
Shanghai o} Shanghai ts 1 17,215 - - 17,215 0%
Sichuan i Chengalu k# 1 41,042 - - 41,042 1%
Zhejiang e Huzhou il 2 9,356 - 130,203 139,569 3%
Shaoxing Al 2 5,000 - - 5,000 0%
Sub-total Nt 44 1,070,173 1,953,889 995,669 4,019,731 80%
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Completed
GFA available Planned GFA Total land % of total
Property projects developed Number of for sale/ GFA under of future reserve of land reserve
by the Group’s joint ventures® projects  leasable GFA  development  development the Group  of the Group
ARAE/ s 1]
ALY EGEE RRER r£E it
REERELEFRRNNEERY BREE CATREER BEER RUREEE IhRELEY  S30EAM
(insq.m.) (insq.m.) (insq.m.) (in'sq.m.)
(FAX) (FAX) (FAK) (FAX)
Jiangsu & Changshu B 2 12,557 - - 12,557 0%
Haimen & 1 301 - - 301 0%
Nanjing EE 1 11,672 153,432 - 165,104 3%
Nantong e 3 20,361 178,902 - 199,263 4%
Taixing Z8 1 13,763 - - 13,763 0%
Zhejiang il Huzhou A 1 844 - - 844 0%
Sub-total Nt 9 59,588 332,334 - 391,922 7%
Completed % of
GFA available Planned GFA Total land total land
Property projects held by the Group's Number of for sale/ GFA under of future reserve of reserve of
associated companies® projects  leasable GFA  development  development the Group! the Group
AithE/ tx5E
AR RGN RREH RER G
REEBE N RFHRNNEERR EREE CHIREER BEERE RUREEE DRGS0 S2MESM
(in'sq.m.) (in'sq.m.) (in'sq.m.) (in'sq.m.)
(FAHK) (K (FAHK) (FAK)
Jiangsu TE Changshu B 1 8,204 - - 8,204 0%
Haimen pelsl 1 2,791 - - 2,791 0%
Lianyungang BE) 1 8,613 - - 8,613 0%
Rugao mg 1 338 - - 338 0%
Yancheng i 1 29 - - 29 0%
Guangdong ER Guangzhou EM 1 - - 648,340 648,340 13%
Sub-total NGt 6 19,975 - 648,340 668,315 13%
Grand Total @ 59 1,149,736 2,286,223 1,644,009 5,079,968 100%
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The following table sets forth a summary of our property and project TREFEMOEHETEE MO FHEEIE R BASU
phases developed, including projects and project phases held for future T BIEE 2023412 431 B ER KR IA

developments as of 31 December 2023. B &IEHE Bg -
Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated ~ Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
AEENEAT BB /thit
FrEgmnEER B HENE BERR rEEEGER  BHEER BIRE LHEELY
(sqm) (sq.m)
(FAX) (FAX)
Anhui 2
Fuyang Gang Long Mei Di Yun Zhu South Side of Runhe Road Under Development 5% 218,655  Tobe assessed 418,128
= BREEMEL and Fast Side of Funan e I
Road, Yingzhou District,
Fuyang City, Anhui Province
ZREERTENEETE
LR
Hefei Chen Guang Ya Yuan Southwest of the Junction Under Development 60% 66,068 April-24 144,355
A RIER of Guohe West Road e 4F4R
and Zhanghuatai Road,
Shuangdun Town,
Changfeng County, Hefei
City, Anhui Province
THERETREEESE
RIAREEZAERN
i
Huangshan Gang Long Jun Wang North Side of Beihai Road, Completed 70% 46,780 May-23 61,597
&1l BREE Tunguang Town, Tunx BRT 23557
District, Huangshan City,
Anhui Province
THEBLMERREAA
LERILA
Wuhu Hu Shan Ying North to Fushan Road, Under Development 60% 132,596 July-24 215,658
g L South to Longtang e UFTA

Road, West to Planning
Branch Road and East to
Longhu Road, Sanshan
District, Wuhu City, Anhui
Province
THEEETZILRLEY
Wk - BERER AR
MBS - RERMHA
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group's Subsidiaries ~ Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrERMEER BB BENE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIRH TiHRBEY
(sa.m) (sam)
(FAX) (FAX)
Ganglong Shi Dai Tian Jiao North of Binhu Avenue, Completed 65% 65,176 December-23 109,584
(Phase 2) South of Shuiyangjiang BT 23F12A
BRERAE (ZH) Road, Fast of Baosha
Road, Wuhu County,
Anhui Province
THAENGER E
B KIS T3 -
ROBUR
Guangdong ER
Guangzhou Zeng Cheng Shi Tan West Side of Nanbei Under Development 60% 196435  Tobe assessed 814,685
B g Avenue, Shitan Town, Figh A
Zengcheng District,
Guangzhou City
BTEARRERRL
RERH
Huizhou Gang Long Zi Yu Hua Ting No. 9 Shangluo Road, Completed 51% 30,507 November-22 18,408
Y AEgERE Chenjiang Street, BRT 20118
Huicheng District,
Huizhou City
BimEARRIGE
FRAGR
Foshan Foshan Shunde Project Plot on the west side of national ~ Under Development 100% 40,848 March-25 171,771
iy fRIlIE=IER highway 105 south of Shunde B+ 2553
Waterway, Lunjiao Street,
Shunde District Foshan City
FTIEERBHEEIRE
ENE105EER B
Guizhou BN
Panzhou Park Mansion Wetland Park District, Under Development 100% 116,101 May-26 267,212
B FHHR Panzhou City, Guizhou FEH 26%5A

Province

ENEEMDRHAERE
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B EE AT ()
Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrERMEER BB BELE BERR rEEEGEE  HEEE BRIRY thREEY
(sq.m) (sa.m)
(FAX) (FAX)
Henan [z
Luoyang Mansion Grand Intersection of Lugji Under Development 100% 95,168 January-24 149,172
&5 E b Expressway and Chanhe e 24F1A
Bridge, Chaoyang Town,
Mengjin County, Luoyang City
AT a2ERGERS
RREETERXA
Jiangsu &
Changshu Tang Yue Ming Zhu South Side of Tongjiang Completed 35% 62,585 August-22 39,942
R #hia% Road and West Side of BRI 208 R
Taishan Road (currently
known as Yanghong
Road), Longteng District,
Changshu City
ERmERLRETHREE
SILE(RRIR A
Xiang Yu Hua Ting No. 159 Haitang Road, Completed 100% 60,221 April-20 88
BilERE Haiyu Town, Changshu Gty BT 2047
BATEEAERI 595
Changzhou Yan Shan Ying 180 meters Northwest of Completed 35% 61,021 December-22 6,203
EM L the Intersection of the BRT 2F12A
Side Road of Chengdong
Avenue and Jinhui Road,
Liyang City, Changzhou,
Jiangsu Province
TEE BNmERTHR
AEFRESERIND
FI 180K
Ganglong Bauhinia Residence  North Side of Dongfang Completed 100% 43,510 November-14 4,705
EREHR Road and Fast Side BAT 14118
of Huafeng Road,

24

Changzhou City, Jiangsu
Province

TEHETMTRA LA
ZERRA
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEE W

Property Projects
Developed by the
Group’s Subsidiaries
REEHELR
FrERMEER

B34 ()

Projects

BB

Project Location

ERfE

Project Status

ERMRR

Interest
attributable to
the Group

FEMEGRR

Total Land
Reserve

Actual/Estimated
completion date
BB /it
HEERE BRIRY thREEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (FAX)

Site Area

Ganglong Hua Ting
EEEE

Ganglong Shang Ceng
AERE

The Hong Kong Masterpiece
B

Ziyu Mansion

E

North Side of Xinggang
Avenue and West Side of
Chahua Road, Zhonglou
District, Changzhou City,
Jiangsu Province

IHAENMEERSE
REILR - FrEsAmEH

North Side of Tongjiang
South Road, Zhonglou
District, Changzhou City,
Jiangsu Province

TEERNTEERR
STARILE

West of Dongcheng Road
and North of Dongfang
No. 2 Road, Changzhou
City, Jiangsu Province

ITERE BMERHRIAA
-yt -S4

East Side of Shuntong
Road and South Side
of Gongyuan Road,
Economic Development
Zone, Changzhou City,
Jiangsu Province

e
JERERE - R

Completed
B#T

Completed
B%T

Completed
BRI

Completed
BRI

100%

100%

100%

100%

23,900 January-11 2,810
NF1A

8,000 June-11 5,049
11565

132,460 July-20 2,230

20%TH

24,312 November-20 568
20%11A

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated ~ Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrERMEER BB BELE BERR rEEEGEE  HEEE BRIRY thREEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (FAX)
Qin Hu Chun Qiu Hua Yuan East Side of Renmin Road, Completed 50% 42,605 May-23 14,433
AR North Side of Jiacheng Road, BT 23555
Jiaze Town, Wujin District,
Changzhou
ENREEEEEARE
R SR
Funing Wen Lan Fu East Side of Shanghai Road Under Development 40% 67,454 June-25 207,192
BE ORI and South Side of Suzhou FEm 256
Road, Chengnan,
Funing County
EEEHE A
REEMBEH
Hai'an Hanlin Capital No. 8 Hebin East Road, Completed 70% 57,633 December-21 715
a7 BIRER Hai'an City BRI 1512
BRI ERASH
Taoyuan Li South Side of Hebin East Road  Completed 28% 49,314 Apri-23 35,624
kEe and West Side of Xin'an Road, P 3T 2347
Hi-tech Zone, Hai'an,
Nantong City
BATERT AR
R HHE
Tian Cui Ge North Side of Huanghai Avenue,  Under Development 24% 23,960 January-24 62,747
XER West Side of Tongyu Road, ~ Bi%h 2441
Hai'an City, Jiangsu Province
THEsREE LA
ERABE
Haimen Nature Image Intersection of Beijing Completed 26% 47,078 January-23 7,158
bl ARRE Middle Road and RT 231

Jianghai Road, Haimen
District, Nantong City,
Jiangsu Province
TEEmRTEMELR
PRETERIXA
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group's Subsidiaries ~ Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
RS I BB BENE BEAR rEEEGER  HEER RIRY Likkey
(sam) (sam)
(FAX) (¥7K)
Huai'an Sunac Plaza West Side of Tianjin Road Under Development 26% 188,564 June-24 99,707
i3 BeES and South Side of Yan'an FiEh 2B A
East Road
RERER - ERREEH
Dong Wang Fu West Side of Tieyun Road Under Development 100% 50,476 July-24 86,226
H2f and North Sice of G AUFTA
Shanyang Avenue,
Huai'an City, Jiangsu
Province
IHEERTHERAN
WAL
Jingjiang JunYuan Ya Ju Land parcel 02 and 08, Under Development 34% 70210 Tobeassessed 185,829
B BERE North Side of Yongyi Road, ~ Fi%h =
Jingjiang City
BImkaEHIH02 - 03585
Lianyungang Jing Shan Xiu Shui South of Haining Road and Completed 100% 53,063 October-19 2,407
BE SIE West of Yuzhou Road, BRI 19810
Haizhou District,
Lianyungang City
EEETANREERE
BMAR
Nanjing River of Mansion Land Parcel 01, South of Completed 50% 28,188 January-22 8,923
R BitAA Puwu Road and West of BRT 2%1H
Nanwan Street, Qiaolin
Town, Pukou District,
Nanjing City
ARmRARRNERSHE
PN - EEAIARO 1R
Tang Yue Fu North of Wenchang East Under Development 60% 28,483 October-24 83,516
2 Road and West of FEm 245108
Hospital of TCM Hospitdl,

Yongyang Street, Lishui
District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province

THERRTEKEKGE
EXERBIML - hEBR
i
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group's Subsidiaries ~ Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
EEENELT BB /thit
RS L BB BELE BERR rEEEGER  HEER BIRE LihEEEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (F7K)
Nantong Long Xi Hua Yuan Intersection of Xiting Haiping Under Development 40% 35723 Tobe assessed 81,919
3 BEVE Highway and Jinshi Highway, B =
Tongzhou District,
Nantong City
BRTENEESETRE
RERRRR
Taizhou Shang He Feng Hua Yuan West Side of Qingnian Road, Under Development 34% 67,035 Tobe assessed 149,307
N LiRER North Side of Renmin East B s
Road, Hailing District
BREEEERAEL
ARRHILE
Yancheng Chun Xi Ji East Side of Fangong Road Under Development 51% 44,485 August-24 81,672
i) BEE and North Side of F%h 24587
Wei'er Road, Economic
Development Zone,
Dongtai City, Jiangsu
Province
IHRERATEERER
ERBRE - BRI
Ganglong Capital East of Jinhai Road and Completed 100% 64,193 December-20 506
BEER South of Huanghai Road BRI 20%12A

(No. 77 Jinhai Road),
Xiangshui County,
Yancheng City
ETEKELERR
ESRE(SBRTTE)
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

B E e AT ()
Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
REEHELR BB /thit
FrERMEER BB BENE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIRY Likkey
(sa.m) (sam)
(FAX) (FAX)
Guan Tang Fu No. 8 Yanzhen Road, Yandu Completed 34% 69,049 March-22 17,181
BERH District, Yancheng City BRT 23R
B mESRETRR
Jun Qi Hua Yuan East Side of Kaifang Avenue Under Development 51% 43,865 January-24 70,990
EHE and South Side of Dongjn -~~~ Bk 24E1 A
Road, Yannan Gaoxin District,
Yancheng City,
Jiangsu Province
IHE B ERSHE
FHAERA - FERmEH
Yixing Ganglong Lakeside Mansion Opposite to the South Gate Completed 100% 66,626 July-23 39,645
B8 St e of Dongjeo Garden C Zone, BT BETA
Qiting Street,
Yixing City, Jiangsu Province
Lakeside Mansion
IHLHEMIRSEE
RSEECERFHE
iy
Yizheng Han Yuan North Side of Zhenzhou East Under Development 60% 54,966 December-25 150,093
&H HE Road, East Side of Jiangcheng % 25F12A
Road, South Side of Wuyi
Huayuan, Yizheng City,
Jiangsu Province
THREEIMENRALE -
DHRRE - ATt EEh
Shanghai s
Shanghai Shan Shui Shi Jian Lanhai Road, Chongming Completed 50% 86,590 June-21 17,215
ts lIecii District, Shanghai City BRT 21%6A

LEmEHRESH

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEN WD AT (&)
Property Projects Interest
Developed by the attributable to Actual/Estimated ~ Total Land
Group’s Subsidiaries  Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
EEENELT B /it
RS L BB BELE EER rEEEGER  HEER BIRE LihEEEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(F7K) (F7K)
Sichuan mll
Chengdu Ganglong-Midea-Wei Lai Ying ~ Groups 2 and 4, Gemo Completed 55% 50,514 May-23 41,042
m# EEENF R Community, Dongsheng BRT 2358
Street, Shuangliu District,
Chengdu, Sichuan Province
RllERATERERE
ERrR-RmA
Zhejiang i
Huzhou Jiangnan Taoyuan No. 328 Qianwan Road, Completed 25% 78,237 June-22 9,356
il LEHE Woxing Distict, Huzhou Oy~ C& L 2564
MNTRERA 265
Zha Xi Taoyuan No. 1789, 1919, Shiquangiao ~ Under Development 25% 176,013 September-24 130,203
EZIR Road, Wixing Distric, fEE 24597
Huzhou City
MNTRERAREHR
1789% - 19195
Shaoxing Ganglong - Bo Yue Fu Land parcel 39-1, North of Completed 70% 80,568 June-21 4875
el ety Shangyu City, Shaoxing BRT 21%6A
BR FEFI30-1H
Jun Wang Mei Ting Land parcel J6, Shangyu Completed 50% 92,923 December-23 125
EOERE Economic and Technological BRI 23%12A
Development Zone, Shaoxing
REFREERIREE
Jpittk
Sub-total it 3,136,248 4,019,731
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Property held by Interest
the joint ventures attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
of the Group Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
rEEAELE BB /thit
Tk BB BELE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE RIRH TiHRBEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (FAX)
Jiangsu ik
Changshu Shine Time South Side of Shenzhen Road, ~ Completed 50% 56,936 September-21 4,840
#3 i35 | West Side of Nansha Road, ~ B%T 21%9A
Changshu City
ERMAIBEN - AOH
il
The Asia Mansion East of Green Belt, West Completed 33% 66,378 June-21 7717
LEER of Planning Taishan BRI 21F6A
Road, South of Planning
Jinghai Road and North
of North Third Ring Road,
Changshu City
EAMSIENE 53
RIEIE - REEES
W =R
Haimen Run Yuan South of Nanjing Road, Completed 30% 63,285 November-19 391
el EE East of Jialingjiang Road, BRT 195114
Haimen District, Nantong
City, Jiangsu Province
IEEmRTEMREREE
BIETHER
Nanjing Lan Wan Jiu Zhu Longrui Road, Liuhe District, Under Development 25% 60,138 Tobe assessed 165,104
EE EEnE Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province ~ % =

(approximately 150 meters
north of Chengwang Qlinan
Garden)

TEEmRT  ARERE
(BZrEEE R
41505%)

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property held by Interest
the joint ventures attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
of the Group Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
rEERELYE BB /thit
T b BB BELE BEAR rEEEGEE  HEEE BIRE LihEEEY
(sqm) (sqm)
(FAX) (FAX)
Nantong Metropolis North of Zhangyuan Road, Completed 13% 109,890 September-20 7,253
[k Hie South of Yanshou (West BRI 20%94
of Hongxi Kindergarten),
Core Area of Yinhe New
District, Jinsha Town,
Tongzhou
BHEDERTHERD
BE KRR T
W (TR RERER)
Starry Bay Land parcel R2017-028, Completed 33% 56,868 September-19 13,108
BaE South Side of Jiangjing BRI 19594
Garden, West Side of
Hantong Road,
Tongzhou District, Nantong City
HRnENRERRE
IRIEERE
R2017-0284415%
The Garden of Time Groups 3, 4, 5 and 6 Section Under development 25% 61,164 Tobe assessed 178,902
BAMIEE of Chengbei Communty, BRh ap

Chengbei Street, Rugao City
mEHHI GBI E
34 SR6MEE

Talxing Majestic Mansion East Side of Zhenhai Road, Completed 33% 125,306 December-20 13,763
Bodcl HE North Side of Chengjiang BRT 2012
Road, Taixing City
REMRERRA
BRI
Zhejiang i
Huzhou Eastern Mansion Land parcel 2017-49, Completed 60% 57,734 November-20 844
M KBRE South unit, Taihu Lake Resort, 2% T 20%11A
Huzhou City
BNTANERERET
2017-49% 5%
Sub-total Nt 655,699 391,922
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENwED (&)

Property held by Interest
the associates attributable to Actual/Estimated  Total Land
of the Group Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve
rEEHELT BB /it
Tk BB BELE BEAR rEEEGER  HEER RIRY Likkey
(sqm) (sqm)
(¥7K) (¥7K)
Jiangsu ik
Changshu Brown Stone Life South of Fuchunjiang Road and ~ Completed 25% 53,530 November-20 8,204
23 BREZ North of Xiangehun Road, BRI 20F11A
Changshu
BAERIRMERBRMIL
Haimen Romantic Bay Henan, Haimen District, Hexi, ~ Completed 30% 52,569 November-19 2,791
pot Bl Dongzhou, Nantong Cty, BRI 195117
Jiangsu Province
TEEmEmaFHETE
RMAR
Lianyungang Feng Huang Yuan Zhu Haininggen South, Completed 20% 56,593 September-21 8,613
EE EEEE Fenghuang Avenue BRI 21%9A
East, Haizhou District,
Lianyungang City
EEATANREERE
BEAER
Rugao Imperial Garden South of Fushou East Road, Completed 30% 43,601 March-20 338
me BAHE East of Xianhe Road, BRT 2053A
North of Jigfang Road
and West of Lvyang
Road, Rucheng Street
I EBRESRANE
USSR AR - BBHUOA
B~ RN
Yancheng Jun Yue Fu Group 7, Beilin Completed 20% 99,553 July-19 29
5 B Community Residents B®T 1978
Committee, Tinghu
Economic Development
Zone, Yancheng City
ERmTREEREE

I ERRZEELA
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEE WD ()

Property held by Interest

the associates attributable to Actual/Estimated ~ Total Land

of the Group Projects Project Location Project Status the Group Site Area  completion date Reserve

REEBELNT BB /thit

BENNE BB BRfE BERR rEEEGEE  HEEE BRIRY thREEY

(sqm) (sqm)

(FAX) (FAX)

Guangdong ER

Guangzhou Huangpu Project Wangcun Vilage, Longhu Held for future 20% 170455 Tobe assessed 648,340

EM ERIER Street, Huangpu District, development BHE

Guangzhou City HERREE
BN ESRENGEER

Sub-total it 476,301 668,315

Grand total @ 4,268,248 5,079,968

Notes: B

(1)  Total land reserve equals to the sum of (i) the total GFA available for
sale and total leasable GFA for completed properties; (i) total GFA for
properties under development and (i) total GFA for properties held for

future development.

(2)  For projects developed by the Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures
or associated companies, 100% of total GFA are accounted for the

respective project.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENEAREEENBERE

Board of Directors

Our Board consists of 8 Directors, of whom 3 are executive Directors,
2 are non-executive Directors and 3 are independent non-executive
Directors. Our Board is responsible for and has general powers for the
management and conduct of our business.

Executive Directors

Mr. Lui Ming (& BA), aged 61, is one of the executive Directors, one of
the founders of the Group, chairman of the Board and chief executive
officer of the Group. He is responsible for formulating and overviewing
the strategic planning of the Group. Since the establishment of the
Group, he has over 16 years of experience in the property development
industry. He has also served as a director of various subsidiaries of the
Group. Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Lui manages and operates
the business in Kin Hing Hong Textiles Limited, a company principally
engaged in trading of textile product from March 1993 to June 2005 as
a director. He was appointed an executive Director on 8 October 2018.

Mr. Lui completed EMBA courses in Nanjing University of Science and
Technology in Nanjing in 2013.

Mr. Lui is the younger brother of Mr. Lui Wing Mau and Mr. Lui Wing
Nam, both non-executive Directors, and the uncle of Mr. Lui Chi Chung
Jimmy and Mr. Lui Jin Ling, both executive Directors.

5T

EXgmsRESMAN  HP3RR/UITES 24
RIFRATEFURSERBIIFNTES - EFE
BENHA —RENERMFARERS -

HITES

BEKXE 615k AEP—BHTES - A&
BEF—ZBPA  EBSIERAEEITERE
HoWAEEFTNAEAEENREEE - 8
REEKIUR - B EEREHEREITERS
E16FLR - BN ALEZEWEQEM
EE o RAIPIALEER - 254 E1993F3AE
20056 AN EFRITHBMAR AR (—HEZER]
EHBRBINRR)NEEENETENEEE
% o HN2018F10 ASEELZ T AMITES °

B S ER2013F £/ RS R 3 T KEEMBA
AR o
BREABKEEEHEBKEAEMAIENTE

B)NEE  aTREERAEREE(OR/RT
BER)MMR -
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEENBEREE)

Mr. Lui Jin Ling (B35), aged 41, is one of the executive Directors
and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible for overseeing
the cost planning and management functions of the Group. Prior to
founding the Group, Mr. Lui joined Kin Hing Hong Textiles Limited
in April 2006 as a marketing manager and was responsible for its
daily operation and marketing; and he remained involved in customer
relationship management on part-time basis since shifting his business
focus to the Group in July 2007. Since the establishment of the Group,
Mr. Lui has over 16 years of experience in the property development
industry. Mr. Lui has also served as a director of various subsidiaries of
the Group. He was appointed an executive Director on 8 October 2018.

Mr. Lui studied Computer Engineering at the University of California,
Irvine from January 2004 to March 2005.

Mr. Lui is the son of Mr. Lui Wing Mau, a non-executive Director, the
nephew of Mr. Lui Wing Nam, a non-executive Director and Mr. Lui
Ming, the chairman of the Board and executive Director, and the cousin
of Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy, an executive Director.

Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy (2 %88), aged 43, is one of the executive
Directors and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible
for overseeing the risk management functions of the Group. Prior to
founding the Group, Mr. Lui joined Kin Hing Hong Textiles Limited from
January 2005 as a marketing manager and was responsible for its
daily operation and marketing; and he remained involved in customer
relationship management on part-time basis since shifting his business
focus to the Group in July 2007. Since the establishment of our Group,
Mr. Lui has over 16 years of experience in the property development
industry. Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy has served as the director of various
subsidiaries of the Group. He was appointed an executive Director on 8
October 2018.

Mr. Lui obtained a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration in
January 2005 from Chapman University in the United States of America.

Mr. Lui is the son of Mr. Lui Wing Nam, a non-executive Director, the
nephew of Mr. Lui Wing Mau, a non-executive Director and Mr. Lui
Ming, the chairman of the Board and executive Director, and the cousin
of Mr. Lui Jin Ling, an executive Director.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEERNBEREA)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lui Wing Mau (2K %), aged 71, is one of our non-executive
Directors and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible for
advising on strategy and overall development of the Group. Prior to
founding the Group, Mr. Lui manages and operates the business in Kin
Hing Hong Textiles Limited, a company principally engaged in trading
of textile products, from March 1993 to June 2005 as a director and
remained responsible for the overall business strategy and business
direction thereafter. He was appointed as a Director on 8 October 2018
and was appointed as a non-executive Director on 17 September 2019.

Mr. Lui completed his secondary education in the PRC in the 1960s.

Mr. Lui is the father of Mr. Lui Jin Ling, an executive Director, the elder
brother of both Mr. Lui Ming, the chairman of the Board and executive
Director and Mr. Lui Wing Nam, a non-executive Director, and the uncle
of Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy, an executive Director.

Mr. Lui Wing Nam (& k), aged 68, is one of the non-executive
Directors and one of the founders of the Group. He is responsible for
advising on strategy and overall development of the Group. Prior to
founding the Group, Mr. Lui manages and operates the business in Kin
Hing Hong Textiles Limited, a company principally engaged in trading
of textile products, from March 1993 to June 2005 as a director and
remained responsible for the overall business strategy and business
direction thereafter. He was appointed as a Director on 8 October 2018
and was appointed as a non-executive Director on 17 September 2019.

Mr. Lui completed his secondary education in the PRC in the 1970s.

Mr. Lui is the father of Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy, an executive Director,
the elder brother of Mr. Lui Ming, chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, the younger brother of Mr. Lui Wing Mau, a non-
executive Director and the uncle of Mr. Lui Jin Ling, an executive
Director.

FHITES

BARBRE 715 REF—ZIFERTEER
REBER—ZEIPA - FEAERAEERE X
BREEREEERER - REAEER - 2k4El
199343 A 2200556 A R EEITH ki B R A 7
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEENBEREE)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Pak Hung (FR#878), aged 43, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 11 February 2022. He is
responsible for providing independent advice to the Board. He is also
the chairman of the audit committee, and a member of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Board.

Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience in corporate finance,
compliance, auditing, and company secretarial fields. He is currently
the company secretary of Shanghai Dongzheng Automotive Finance
Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2718). Mr. Chan served as an independent non-
executive director of JLogo Holdings Limited (stock code: 8527) from
June 2021 to March 2024. Mr. Chan had been a manager of the listing
division of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and has worked
in international accounting firms.

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor of Business Administration (Professional
Accountancy) from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2002.
He is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a fellow member of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a CFA charterholder of the CFA Institute.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Ms. Tang Lo Nar (38 &), aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 June 2020. She is responsible for
providing independent advice to the Board. She is also a member of the
audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee of
the Board.

Ms. Tang has over 28 years of experience in accounting, tax, audit,
company secretarial and finance. She began her career by joining Ernst
& Young, an international accounting firm in September 1995 where she
last served as a Senior Staff Accountant Il. Ms. Tang then joined KPMG
Tax Limited, an international tax service provider in March 2001, where
she was involved in a wide range of tax compliance and advisory tasks
and left in August 2004 as a Tax Manager. Ms. Tang began her own
business by establishing TLN Co., Ltd. in Hong Kong in August 2004
to provide accounting, management consultancy, tax planning and
company secretarial services. Ms. Tang was the company secretary of
two Hong Kong Main Board listed companies, namely Asia Resources
Holdings Limited (stock code: 899) and Karce International Holdings
Company Limited (currently known as Starlight Culture Entertainment
Group Limited) (stock code: 1159), for the periods from December 2008
to April 2010 and from January 2009 to April 2010 respectively. She
was then the company secretary of Yueshou Environmental Holdings
Limited (currently known as China Gem Holdings Limited) (stock
code:1191), which is principally engaged in the provision of financial
service, from March 2012 to October 2014. Ms. Tang also took up the
role as the company secretary of ISP Global Limited (stock code: 8487)
from September 2018 to March 2021, a company principally engaged in
the sale of sound and communication systems and related services. Ms.
Tang joined Shuanghua Holdings Limited (stock code: 1241), a China-
based company principally engaged in the manufacture and sales of
auto air-conditioner parts and components, since May 2011 as the chief
financial officer and the company secretary, and she was re-elected as
an executive director in June 2015.

Ms. Tang obtained a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in October 1995. She further obtained
a master degree in English for the professions from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and another master degree in applied finance
from University of Western Sydney in November 2002 and September
2004 respectively. She is a Fellow of the Association of chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of Hong Kong Society of
Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Company Secretaries and the
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.
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Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (£ JE), aged 33, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 1 December 2023. He is
responsible for providing independent advice to the Board. He is also
the chairman of the remuneration committee, and a member of audit
committee and nomination committee of the Board.

Mr. Wong has over 7 years of experience in capital markets advisory
at various investment banks, specialising in initial public offerings and
capital fund raising for companies in Hong Kong. He is a managing
director of ZMF Asset Management Limited since September 2023
and had been previously working in several corporate finance advisory
companies. Mr. Wong obtained a bachelor degree in accounting and
finance from Lancaster University in the United Kingdom in 2013 and a
master degree in management from University College London in the
United Kingdom in 2015.

Senior Management

Our senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management
of our business. The biography of each of our senior management
member is set out below.

Mr. Dai Xiaofeng (& /)\g), aged 44, is one of the vice-presidents of
our Group, and has been with our group since May 2018. Mr. Dai is
responsible for overseeing the project operation of the Group.

From August 2002 to October 2004, Mr. Dai was an assistant engineer
at China Construction Eighth Division Installation Co., Ltd.* (FF&Z/\B%
# 2 7]), a construction contractor. From October 2004 to May 2016,
Mr. Dai worked in Jiangsu Changfa Property Group Co., Ltd.* (L& 5%
ESEBE AR AR, his last position was president of Jiangsu Changfa
Property Group Co., Ltd.. Mr. Dai then worked at Zhongnan Real Estate
Jinan Co.* (A &b )& [& 132 7)), a company which is principally
engaged in property development, from May 2016 to April 2018, as a
regional president.

Mr. Dai completed a three-year vocational course from Nanjing Tech
University (5= T A2 in June 2002 majoring in Building Equipment
Installation and Management. Mr. Dai further obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in Civil Engineering in January 2012 from Southeast University
(BRI RE). He is enrolled EMBA outreach program at Nanjing University
since October 2018. He held the Engineer qualification issued by the
Human Resource and Social Security Bureau of Changzhou (%N A
HEBEMAERER) since September 2011,

*  For identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Mr. Cheung Hung Kwong (3R %), aged 56, is one of the vice-
presidents of the Group and he is primarily responsible for formulation of
corporate finance and financial strategy and investor relations. He joined
the Group in May 2020.

Mr. Cheung has over 28 years of experience in auditing, financial
accounting, initial public offerings, merger and acquisitions, corporate
finance activities and investor relations. Mr. Cheung joined the assurance
and business advisory services department of PricewaterhouseCoopers
in July 1994 and left as a manager in the corporate finance and recovery
department of PricewaterhouseCoopers in March 2003. From March
2008 to March 2008, Mr. Cheung served in Boto Company Limited,
a festival product manufacturing company, and held various positions
including chief financial officer and consultant. Mr. Cheung joined Kaisa
Group Holdings Ltd. (stock code: 1638.HK) in July 2008 as the finance
director, and for the period from November 2009 to December 2014,
Mr. Cheung served as its chief financial officer, company secretary
and joint authorised representative. From January to March 2017, Mr.
Cheung served in Culture Landmark Investment Limited (stock code:
674.HK) as the company secretary and chief financial officer. From
March 2017 to March 2020, Mr. Cheung served in Harvest Property
Holdings Limited, a China-based property developer, and held various
positions including chief financial officer, vice president, joint authorised
representative and company secretary.

From December 2011 to March 2022, Mr. Cheung served as an
independent non-executive director, and was the chairman of the audit
committee, of China Aluminium International Engineering Corporation
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 2068) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
601068).

Mr. Cheung was admitted as a member of the AICPA in August 1996.
He was designated as a Chartered Financial Analyst by the Association
for Investment Management and Research in the United States of
America in September 2000. Mr. Cheung obtained his bachelor’s
degree in science from the University of Hong Kong in December 1990
and his master’s degree (distinction) in quantum fields and fundamental
forces from Imperial College of Science, Technology and Medicine,
University of London in January 1992.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EEREREEENBEREE)

Mr. Chan Pui Tak (BR#{E), aged 34, is the chief financial officer and
company secretary of the Group. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He joined the Group in April
2020 and is responsible for overseeing the corporate finance, financial
reporting, compliance, treasury and merger and acquisition of the
Group. Mr. Chan graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
with a bachelor’s degree in business and administration in professional
accountancy in 2011. Mr. Chan has over 12 years of financial and
accounting related experience. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan
worked for an international public accountancy firm and was involved
in a number of audit and assurance, capital market transaction and
advisory projects advising corporate clients including listed companies
and conglomerates worldwide.

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2023

BROTESE © 3458 AAEBEMEHER AR
E-WMRTEGHATEE - RN20205F4 A
MARER  YEEEEARE ZOERE §f
WER A% ME  HIESEE - REER2011
FEBETNABEXUNSEXSHETIEE
BELEN - REEBREEI12FZ2HMH RGN
&R - MARSER - REER —BEE S
BB ER  YE2HZE/GERFEEL
MRRREBECEEENET BEATEXH R
EREAEAR -



Directors’ Report

ESHE

The Board is pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Company Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 8 October
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s ordinary shares (the “Shares”)
were listed on the Stock Exchange since 15 July 2020.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries
established in the PRC are primarily engaged in the development of real
estate projects in the PRC.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of
the Group’s revenue and net results for the year by principal activities is
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report.

Business Review

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which includes a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group,
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business, could be found in the sections headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. Those discussions form
part of this directors’ report.

Relationships with Key Stakeholders

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and enhancing
cooperation with its business partners.

The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity
to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career
development opportunities based on their merits and performance.
The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide adequate trainings
and development resources to the employees so that they can keep
abreast of the latest development of the market and the industry and,
at the same time, improve their performance and self-fulfilment in their
positions.
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EEHE(E)

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with customers and provide the products in a way that satisfy needs and
requirements of the customers. The Group enhances the relationship by
continuous interaction with customers to gain insight on the changing
market demand for the products so that the Group can respond
proactively. The Group has also established procedures in place for
handling customers’ complaints to ensure customers’ complaints are
dealt with in a prompt and timely manner.

The Group is also dedicated to developing good relationship with
suppliers and contractors as long-term business partners to ensure
stability of the Group’s business. We reinforce business partnerships
with suppliers and contractors by ongoing communication in a proactive
and effective manner so as to ensure quality and timely delivery.

Further details of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers and others that have a significant impact on
the Group can be found in the “environmental, social and governance
report” which is available on the Company’s website of www.glchina.
group and on the website of the Stock Exchange. Those discussions
form part to this directors’ report.

Results and Dividend
The consolidated financial results of the Group for the year ended 31

December 2023 are set out on pages 108 to 235 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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Dividend Policy
The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”),
details of which are disclosed as follows:

Purpose

This Dividend Policy sets out the principles and guidelines that the
Company will apply when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

Principles and guidelines

The Board has the discretion to declare dividends to the shareholders of
the Company, subject to the Articles of the Association of the Company
(the “Articles”) and all applicable laws and regulations, taking into
account the factors set out below:

° financial results;

° cash flow situation;

° business conditions and strategies;

° future operations and earnings;

° capital requirements and expenditure plans;

° interests of shareholders;

° taxation considerations;

° any contractual, statutory and regulatory restrictions on payment
of dividends; and

° any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Review of the Dividend Policy
The Board will review the Dividend Policy as appropriate from time to
time.
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Annual General Meeting and Closure of the

Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at
the 2024 AGM

The annual general meeting of the Company (the “2024 AGM”) is
scheduled to be held on Friday, 7 June 2024. The register of members
of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 4 June 2024 to Friday, 7
June 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no share transfer
will be effected, for the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement
to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2024 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 3 June 2024.

Financial Summary

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 236 of this annual report.

Principal Subsidiaries
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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Reserves

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
the consolidated statements of changes in equity and Note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Distributable Reserves

The Company may pay dividends out of share premium, retained
earnings and any other reserves provided that immediately following the
payment of such dividends, the Company will be in a position to pay off
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had distributable reserves
amounting to RMB1,138 million (2022: RMB1,285 million).

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 32(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Borrowings from Bank and Other Financial
Institutions

Details of borrowings from bank and other financial institutions of
the Group as at 31 December 2023 are set out in Note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Loan and Guarantee

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had not made
any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to
the Directors, senior management, the controlling shareholders of the
Company (“Controlling Shareholders”) or their respective associates
(as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)).
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the

Company’s Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares or other listed securities during
the year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company
is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders.

Directors
The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this annual report:

Executive Directors
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling

Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lui Wing Mau
Mr. Lui Wing Nam

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Pak Hung

Mr. Guo Shaomu (resigned on 1 December 2023)

Ms. Tang Lo Nar

Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (appointed on 1 December 2023)

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Lui Wing Nam, Mr. Lui Wing Mau,
Mr. Chan Pak Hung and Mr. Wong Tung Yuen will retire from office by
rotation at the forecoming annual general meeting, and, being eligible,
have offered themselves for re-election.
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Biographical Details of the Directors and the
Senior Management

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages 35 to
42 in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of Mr. Lui Ming, Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr Lui Chi Chung Jimmy,
being the executive Directors, has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
the Listing Date, which has been renewed for a term of three years with
effect from 15 July 2023 and shall continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party giving three months’ written notice to the
other party, subject to termination provisions therein.

Each of Mr. Lui Wing Mau and Mr. Lui Wing Nam, being the non-
executive Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which has been renewed for a term of three years with effect from
15 July 2023 and shall continue thereafter unless and until terminated
by either party giving three months’ written notice to the other party,
subject to termination provisions therein.

Ms. Tang Lo Nar, being the independent non-executive Directors, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial
term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which has
been renewed for a term of three years with effect from 15 July 2023
and shall continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either
party giving three months’ written notice to the other party, subject to
termination provisions therein. Mr. Chan Pak Hung and Mr. Wong Tung
Yuen, being an independent non-executive Director, have entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from 11 February 2022 and 1 December 2023,
respectively.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).
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Contracts with Controlling Shareholders

Other than disclosed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no contract of significance was entered
into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling
Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2023 or subsisted at the end of the year and no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into during the year ended 31 December 2023 or subsisted at
the end of the year.

Director’s Interest in Transactions, Arrangement
or Contract of Significance

Other than disclosed in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement or contract
of significance to the business of the Group which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or any entity
connected with such a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Compensation of Directors and Senior
Management

The emoluments (including the discretionary bonuses) of the Directors
and senior management of the Group are decided by the Board
with reference to the recommendation given by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest
paid individual in the Group are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office. None of the Directors has waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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The Company has also adopted the Share Option Scheme as incentive
for Directors and eligible employees. Details of the said scheme are set
out under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this annual
report.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are
payable, for the year ended 31 December 2023, by the Group to or on
behalf of any of the Directors.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or
their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had
any interest in a business that competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a
director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

Continuing Disclosure Obligations Pursuant to
the Listing Rules

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any
other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.

Deed of Non-Competition

On 20 June 2020, each of the Controlling Shareholders entered into a
deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) in favor
of the Company, pursuant to which, among other things, each of the
Controlling Shareholders has irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken,
jointly and severally given certain non-competition undertakings to
the Company. Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in
the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders
and non-competition undertaking — Deed of Non-competition” in the
Prospectus.

The Controlling Shareholders confirmed that they have complied with
the Deed of Non-competition during the year ended 31 December
2023. The independent non-executive Directors were delegated with
the authority to review, on an annual basis, the compliance with the
Deed of Non-competition. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the relevant undertakings and were not aware of any
non-compliance of the Deed of Non-competition for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Management Contracts

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters
as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ service contracts”
in this annual report, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Group was entered into or in existence as at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Material Legal Proceedings
The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Share Option Scheme

On 20 June 2020, the Company has conditionally adopted the share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) which falls within the
ambit of, and is subject to, the regulations under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
selected participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage selected participants to work towards
enhancing the value of our Company and its shares for the benefit of the
Company and shareholders as a whole. The Share Option Scheme will
provide the Company with a flexible means of retaining, incentivizing,
rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to
selected participants.

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue on the day on which trading of the shares commence
on the Stock Exchange, such 10% limit represents 160,000,000
shares, accounting for approximately 9.87% of the issued shares of the
Company as at the date of this annual report, but excluding any shares
which may be issued upon the exercise of the over-allotment option.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted and to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Group to each selected participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12 months period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue.
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The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for the period
of 10 years commencing on the Listing Date (i.e. it is to be expired on
14 July 2030 and the remaining life of the scheme is approximately
6 years and 3 months), but in all other respects the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options granted
prior thereto or otherwise as may be required in accordance with the
provisions of the rules of the Share Option Scheme.

The amount payable for each share to be subscribed for under an
option in the event of the option being exercised shall be determined
by the Board but shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (i) the nominal value of a share on the date of grant.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable upon acceptance of the
grant of an option.

In respect of any particular option, an option period will be determined
by the Directors, save that such period may not be later than 10 years
from the offer date of that option.

Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and stated in the offer to
a grantee, a grantee is not required to hold an option for any minimum
period nor achieve any performance targets before the exercise of an
option granted.

No options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31
December 2023 and there were no outstanding share options under
the Share Option Scheme during the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2023. The number of options available for grant under the
Share Option Scheme was 160,000,000 as at 1 January 2023 and as at
31 December 2023.

Any individual, being an employee, director (including executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors), officer, consultant, advisor, distributor, contractor, customer,
supplier, agent, business partner, joint venture business partner or
service provider of any member of our Group or any affiliate who the
Board or its delegate(s) considers, in their sole discretion, to have
contributed or will contribute to our Group is entitled to be offered and
granted options. However, no individual who is resident in a place where
the grant, acceptance or exercise of options pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme is not permitted under the laws and regulations of such
place or where, in the view of the Board or its delegate(s), compliance
with applicable laws and regulations in such place makes it necessary or
expedient to exclude such individual, is eligible to be offered or granted
options.
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A summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme has been set
out in the section headed “Statutory and General Information — E.
Other Information — 12. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix V to the
Prospectus.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company or Its
Associated Corporations

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which
were required to be entered in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were otherwise required,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code, are set out below:

Interests in Shares of the Company
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Number of Shares
or underlying

Approximate
percentage of

Director/Chief executive Capacity/Nature of interest Sharestete ) shareholding®Note )
IR 40 AR B FREA
B BETBAR By REmE IR A7 B & (e ElagsdGial
Mr. Lui Ming Interest in controlled corporation 372,867,000 (L)Note2) 22.99%
BHTE YR A E R (izi2)
Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy Interest in controlled corporation 313,125,000 (L)Noted) 19.31%
BEEEE R EE R (#E3)
Mr. Lui Wing Nam Interest in controlled corporation 313,125,000 (L)Noted) 19.31%
=K E S A RESEEE R (fize)
Beneficial owner 2,613,000 0.16%
EmfEE A
Mr. Lui Jin Ling Interest in controlled corporation 217,643,000 (L)Note 4) 13.42%
B L R EE R (HiE4)
Mr. Lui Wing Mau Interest in controlled corporation 217,643,000 (L)Note 4) 13.42%
Bk S A RESEEE R (fiz4)
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Notes:

Q)

As at 31 December 2023, the Company issued 1,621,799,000 Shares.
The letter (L) denotes the entity’s long position in the relevant Shares.

These 372,867,000 Shares are held by Huaxing Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Huaxing”), a BVI business company incorporated in the BVI and
wholly-owned by Mr. Lui Ming. Mr. Lui Ming is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by Huaxing for the purpose of SFO.

These 313,125,000 Shares are held by Hualian Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Hualian”), a BVI business company incorporated in the BVI
and owned as to 60% and 40% by Mr. Lui Wing Nam and Mr. Lui Chi
Chung Jimmy respectively. Therefore, Mr. Lui Wing Nam and Mr. Lui
Chi Chung Jimmy are each deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Hualian for the purpose of SFO.

These 217,643,000 Shares are held by Hualong Development Co.,
Ltd. (“Hualong”), a BVI business company incorporated in the BVI
and owned as to 60% and 40% by Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr. Lui Wing
Mau respectively. Therefore, Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr. Lui Wing Mau are
each deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Hualong for the
purpose of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had, or were deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying

shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations,
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’
Interests and Short Positions in the Shares and

Underlying Shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Company, as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO, the following persons, other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company, had an interest of 5% or more in the
Shares or underlying Shares:

Number of Shares
or underlying

FERRRHEMATHEARTR
D RRER G 2R RAR

20235612 A31H » AR FFTHAT AL (R
ARIEBH TR THABRIN AR B A8
AR T B IRIRCE H S (551 )E5 33616 /B8 A
AP B RC M 2 5% K A RS -

Approximate
percentage of

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Sharesiete)  shareholding®ote 1)
IR 40 AR B FREA

REME ERME IR A7 B & (e Elagqbial

Ms. Chan Mei Kam Interest of spouseMote2) 372,867,000 (L) 22.99%

PREZLZ+ Pl (B i (at2)

Ms. Wong Sau Suet Interest of spouseMote3) 315,738,000 (L) 19.47%

BEAZERL P (B i o)

Ms. Wong Kwai Fa Interest of spouseMote4) 217,643,000 (L) 13.42%

EYER (A A (B M g (e

Huaxing Beneficial owner 372,867,000 (L) 22.99%

i BmEAA

Hualian Beneficial owner 318,125,000 (L) 19.31%

R BEmEAA

Hualong Beneficial owner 217,643,000 (L) 13.42%

£ BEnlEBA
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Notes:

Q)

As at 31 December 2023, the Company issued 1,621,799,000 Shares.
The letter (L) denotes the entity’s long position in the relevant Shares.

These 372,867,000 Shares are held by Huaxing, a company wholly-
owned by Mr. Lui Ming and he is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Huaxing for the purpose of SFO. Ms. Chan Mei Kam is
the spouse of Mr. Lui Ming, therefore she is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares which Mr. Lui Ming is interested and deemed to be
interested for the purpose of SFO.

These 313,125,000 Shares are held by Hualian, a company owned
as to 60% by Mr. Lui Wing Nam and he is deemed to be interested in
all the Shares held by Hualian for the purpose of SFO. Ms. Wong Sau
Suet is the spouse of Mr. Lui Wing Nam, therefore she is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares which Mr. Lui Wing Nam is interested
and deemed to be interested for the purpose of SFO.

These 217,643,000 Shares are held by Hualong, a company owned as
to 40% by Mr. Lui Wing Mau and he is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares held by Hualong for the purpose of SFO. Ms. Wong Kwai
Fa is the spouse of Mr. Lui Wing Mau, therefore she is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares which Mr. Lui Wing Mau is interested and
deemed to be interested for the purpose of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares that were recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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Arrangements to Purchase Shares or
Debentures

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed under the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” in this annual report, at no time during
the year under review was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt
securities including debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Major Suppliers and Customers

In the year under review, the Group’s largest customer accounted for
0.20% of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 0.51% of the Group’s total revenue.

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
3.34% of the Group’s total purchase. The Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 9.07% of the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined under
the Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or
the Group’s five largest customers.

Tax Relief and Exemption of Holders of Listed

Securities

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their respective holding of
the Company’s securities.
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Retirement Benefits Scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the employees of the
Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong are required to participate in the
Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong. The employees of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-managed retirement
benefits scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees of
both Hong Kong and the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to this
retirement benefits scheme is to make the required contributions under
the scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Group’s are set out in Note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in
this section, during the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
had not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

Related Party Transactions and Connected
Transactions

The significant related party transactions as disclosed in Note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements do not constitute a “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as the case may be)
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules that needs to
be disclosed or is not fully exempted under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing
Rules.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

Since the Listing, the Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code
of conduct regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by the
Directors and the Group’s senior management who, because of his/her
office or employment, is likely to possess inside information in relation to
the Company or its securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2023. In addition,
the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by
the senior management of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2028.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this annual
report, the Company has maintained the public float as required under
the Listing Rules.

Indemnity of Directors

The Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
for all Directors and senior management. These insurances provided
protection to the liability incurred from related cost, fees, expense and
legal actions resulting from corporate activities. Pursuant to Article 192
of the Articles, the Directors, managing Directors, alternate Directors,
auditors, secretary and other officers for the time being of the Company
and the trustees (if any) for the time being acting in relation to any of the
affairs of the Company, and their respective executors or administrators,
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors
or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or
supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any)
as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty, and
none of them shall be answerable for the acts, receipts, neglects or
defaults of any other of them, or for joining in any receipt for the sake of
conformity, or for any bankers or other persons with whom any moneys
or effects of the Company shall be lodged or deposited for safe custody,
or for the insufficiency or deficiency of any security upon which any
moneys of the Company shall be placed out or invested, or for any other
loss, misfortune or damage which may arise in the execution of their
respective offices or trusts, or in relation thereto, except as the same
shall happen by or through their own fraud, dishonesty or recklessness.
The Company may take out and pay the premium and other moneys
for the maintenance of insurance, bonds and other instruments for the
benefit either of the Company or the Directors (and/or other officers) or
any of them to indemnify the Company and/or Directors (and/or other
officers) named therein for this purpose against any loss, damage,
liability and claim which they may suffer or sustain in connection with
any breach by the Directors (and/or other officers) or any of them of their
duties to the Company.

Corporate Strategy

The Group’s corporate strategy is to improve quality, reduce costs and
expenses, and enhance efficiency. By leveraging Hong Kong’s space
design concepts and incorporating local culture, the Group strives
to deliver properties of exceptional quality and ingenuity to meet our
customers’ need, creating social value to the communities.
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Corporate Culture and Value

The Company recognises the importance of corporate culture in
defining the qualities and behaviors of our people, who play a crucial
role in bringing our purpose to life. Our culture is shaped by our
vision of “becoming a city builder for a better life” and core value of
“striving for innovation, building with integrity”. The Group actively
instills and consistently reinforces its purpose, vision and core value
(including value of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly) across
the entire organisation. Taking into accounts of these measures, the
Board satisfied that the Group’s culture, purpose, value and strategy
are aligned. The Directors will continue to act with integrity, lead by
example, and promote the desired culture of the Group.

Corporate Governance

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance
for enhancing the management of the Company as well as preserving
the interests of the shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted
the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code of the
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”), as its own code
to govern its corporate governance practices. Save for the deviation
in relation to the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
being the same individual, the Board considers that, the Company has
complied with, to the extent applicable and permissible, the CG Code
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Lui Ming is currently the Chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Group, responsible
for strategic planning and managing of the Group’s overall business
and operations. Mr. Lui Ming has been responsible for the overall
management of the Group since the establishment of the Group. The
Board believes that the current structure enables the Group to make
and implement business decision swiftly and effectively which promotes
the Group’s development in line with other strategies and business
direction. The Board considers that the balance of power and authority,
accountability and independent decision making under the present
arrangement will not be impaired because of the diverse background
and experience of the non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors. Further, the audit committee of the Company, which
consists of a majority of independent non-executive Directors, has free
and direct access to the Company’s external auditors and independent
professional advisers when it considers necessary. Therefore, the
Directors consider that the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the
CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance.
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The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 64
to 95 of this annual report.

Donations
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group made charitable
and other donations amounting to RMB237,000.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the management and
external auditor the accounting principles and policies adopted by the
Company and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Auditor

There has been no change in the Company’s auditor since the Listing
Date. The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.
A resolution will be proposed at the 2024 AGM to re-appoint
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company was in
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the Company in all material aspects.
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Changes in the Board and the Directors’

Information

Change in Directors’ information since the date of the 2023 interim
report of the Company and up to the date of this report, which are
required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are
set out below:

With effect from 1 December 2023, (i) Mr. Guo Shaomu has resigned
as an independent non-executive Director, and ceased to act as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee; and (i) Mr. Wong
Tung Yuen has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

With effect from 14 March 2024, Mr. Chan Pak Hung has resigned as
an independent non-executive director of JLogo Holdings Limited (stock
code: 8527).

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Lui Ming
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report in the
annual report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Company has adopted the
CG Code. For the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date
of this report, save for the deviation in relation to the Chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer being the same individual, the
Board believes that the Company has complied with the code provision
of the CG Code. The Company will continue to review and enhance its
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the code
provisions of the CG Code.

The Board

(1) Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility for day-to-day management and operation
of the Group to the senior management of the Group. To
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board
has established three Board Committees including the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. The Board has delegated to the Board Committees
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.
All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith,
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

(2) Directors’ and senior management’s liability
insurance and indemnity
The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Directors and senior management of the Company
for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.
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(3) Board composition

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, two
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors.

Executive Directors
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling

Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lui Wing Mau
Mr. Lui Wing Nam

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan Pak Hung

Mr. Guo Shaomu (resigned on 1 December 2023)

Ms. Tang Lo Nar

Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (appointed on 1 December 2023)

Except that Mr. Lui Ming is the younger brother of Mr. Lui Wing
Mau and Mr. Lui Wing Nam; the uncle of Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy
and Mr. Lui Jin Ling, Mr. Lui Jin Ling is the son of Mr. Lui Wing
Mau and Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy is the son of Mr. Lui Wing Nam,
there is no other relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship) among the Board members.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report, the Board met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2)
and 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive Directors with at least
one independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise and the appointment of independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
Among the three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chan
Pak Hung and Ms. Tang Lo Nar have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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(4) Board diversity policy

Pursuant to Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the nomination
committee (or the board) shall have a policy concerning diversity
of board members, and shall disclose the policy on diversity or a
summary of the policy in the corporate governance report. The
board diversity policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) specifies that in designing the composition of the
Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
The appointment of Directors will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be evaluated against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, knowledge and skills.

The composition of the Board will be disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report every year and the Nomination Committee
will supervise the implementation of this policy. The Nomination
Committee will review the effectiveness of this policy, as
appropriate, discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval on an annual basis.

As at 31 December 2023, the diversity of the Board is illustrated
as below. Further details on the biographies and experience of the
current Directors are set out on page 35 to page 40 of this annual
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed the membership,
structure and composition of the Board, and is of the opinion that
the structure of the Board is reasonable, and the experiences and
skills of the Directors in various aspects and fields can enable the
Company to maintain high standard of operation.

Measurable objectives
For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

()  Independence: The Board should include a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) so that
there is a strong element of independence in the Board. The
independent non-executive Directors shall be of sufficient
calibre and stature for their views to carry weight.

(i)  Skills and experience: The Board possesses a balance of
skills appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The Directors have a mix of finance, academic
and management backgrounds that taken together provide
the Company with considerable experience in a range of
activities.

Apart from the above objectives, the Board Diversity Policy has the
following objectives to comply with the Listing Rules:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

2. at least three of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

3. atleast one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise; and

4. an appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with
reference to stakeholders’ expectations and international and
local recommended best practices.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives in the Board
Diversity Policy.

As at 31 December 2023, approximately 70% and 30% of the
Group’s total workforce were male and female respectively. While
all members of our senior management are male, the board of
directors of certain of our subsidiaries consisted of 50% female
directors as at 31 December 2023. The Company will continue to
enhance diversity in different levels of workforce.
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Confirmation of independence by the
independent non-executive Directors

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Director of his/her independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with the independence guidelines as
set out in the Listing Rules.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring Directors to disclose
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments as well as their
respective identity of the public companies or organisations
and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed
to disclose, and already disclosed their commitments to the
Company in a timely manner.

Induction and continuous professional
development

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, each newly
appointed Director should be provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.
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For the year ended to 31 December 2023, all Directors have been HZE2023F12A31AILFE  28EFH
updated with the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules Eiﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁ%%ﬁ R FTIB R R A
and other applicable regulatory requirements through reading FEERTHENEIERIEBEN - UER
materials to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of é%ﬁ&ﬁﬂfﬁiwﬁ%&ﬁﬂﬂ@i% EAE

good corporate governance practices.

The individual training record of each Director received during the BEEREE2023F12A31 H L FE AT
year ended 31 December 2023 is summarised below: Tz f R
Attended Attended
trainings trainings
organised organised by
by the professional Reading
Directors Company organizations materials
el SmEE
Bx By sZ I SRR IEI R AR
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman) v v
BRRSEE(EE)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling v v
EHESE S A
Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy v 4
BEREE
Non-executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. Lui Wing Mau v v
BRI A
Mr. Lui Wing Nam v 4
BoKE R E
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. Chan Pak Hung v v v
BRIAMG 4
Ms. Tang Lo Nar v v 4
BB+
Mr. Wong Tung Yuen v v v
ITRREE
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to paragraph C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer (“CEOQ”) should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Mr. Lui Ming is currently both the Chairman of the Board and
the CEO of our Group, responsible for strategic planning and
managing of our Group’s overall business and operations. Mr.
Lui Ming has been responsible for the overall management of our
Group since the establishment of our Group. The Board believes
that the current structure enables us to make and implement
business decision swiftly and effectively which promotes our
Group’s development in line with other strategies and business
direction. Our Board considers that the balance of power and
authority, accountability and independent decision-making
under our present arrangement will not be impaired because of
the diverse background and experience of our non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors. Further, our
Audit Committee, which consists a majority of independent non-
executive Directors, has free and direct access to our Company’s
external auditors and independent professional advisers when it
considers necessary. Therefore our Directors consider that the
deviation from paragraph C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code is appropriate in such circumstance. In order to maintain
good corporate governance and to fully comply with paragraph
C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, our Board will regularly
review the need to appoint different individuals to perform the roles
of chairman and CEO separately.

The Board and the senior management, which comprises
experienced and high calibre individuals can ensure the balance
of power and authority. As at 31 December 2023, the Board
comprised three executive Directors, two non-executive Directors
and three independent non-executive Directors.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

Each of Mr. Lui Ming, Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr. Lui Chi Chung
Jimmy, being the executive Directors, has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, which has been renewed
for a term of three years with effect from 15 July 2023 and shall
continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party
giving three months’ written notice to the other party, subject to
termination provisions therein.
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Each of Mr. Lui Wing Mau and Mr. Lui Wing Nam, being the non-
executive Directors, has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
the Listing Date, which has been renewed for a term of three years
with effect from 15 July 2023 and shall continue thereafter unless
and until terminated by either party giving three months’ written
notice to the other party, subject to termination provisions therein.

Ms. Tang Lo Nar, being the independent non-executive Directors,
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for
an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,
which has been renewed for a term of three years with effect
from 15 July 2023 and shall continue thereafter unless and until
terminated by either party giving three months’ written notice to
the other party, subject to termination provisions therein. Mr. Chan
Pak Hung and Mr. Wong Tung Yuen, being an independent non-
executive Director, have entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
11 February 2022 and 1 December 2023, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to have entered into any service agreement or letter of appointment
with any member of the Group (excluding agreements expiring or
determinable by any member of the Group within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office
by rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed
for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years.

Any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall submit
himself/herself for election by shareholders at the first general
meeting of the Company after appointment and any new Director
appointed as an addition to the Board shall submit himself/herself
for re-election by the shareholders at the next following annual
general meeting of the Company after appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
monitoring and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-election and succession planning of Directors, in
particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer.
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(10) Board meetings and committee meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Both the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee shall meet at least once every year and the Audit
Committee shall meet at least twice a year. Notices of not less than
fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying board papers are dispatched to the Directors or
committee members at least three days before the intended date
of the meeting to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and be adequately prepared for the meeting. When
Directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an
opportunity to make their views known to the chairman of the
Board or the committee members prior to the meeting. Minutes
of meetings are kept by the Company Secretary with copies
circulated to relevant Board or Board Committee for comments
and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by the
Board and the committees and the decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by the Board or committee members
and dissenting views expressed. Draft minutes of each Board
meeting and committee meeting are sent to the relevant Board or
committee members for comments within a reasonable time after
the date on which the meeting is held. The minutes of the Board
meetings are open for inspection by Directors.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, six board meetings
were held and the attendance of the individual Directors at these
meetings is set out in the table below:

HE2023F12A31HIEFE » 8BIT TN
FEgen  [AREENZSEENERES
METIR TR

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
= BHE BERLE
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman and Executive Director) 6/6
BRREE (LEHFNTEE)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling (Executive Director) 6/6
EESEE(HTEE)
Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy (Executive Director) 6/6

AEREE(HITEE)
Mr. Lui Wing Mau (Non-executive Director) 6/6
KK (FEBTTESE)

Mr. Lui Wing Nam (Non-executive Director) 6/6
Bk S (FEPTTEE)
Mr. Chan Pak Hung (Independent Non-executive Director) 6/6
BRIEIBSEE(H U HHTESE)
Mr. Guo Shaomu (Independent Non-executive Director) (resigned on 1 December 2023) 5/5
BB (B FH77EF) (HR20235F12 41 BEHE)
Ms. Tang Lo Nar (Independent Non-executive Director) 6/6
BRI T (HHFHTEE)
Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (Independent Non-executive Director) (appointed on 1 December 2023) N/A
ITRREECFVIFHTEE)(R2023F12 1 REEE) TEA

(11) Model Code for Securities Transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”) as its own code of conduct regarding dealings in
the securities of the Company by the Directors and the Group’s
senior management who, because of his/her office or employment,
is likely to possess inside information in relation to the Company or
its securities. Under specific enquiry, the Directors and the Group’s
senior management have complied with the Model Code during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

(1

1)
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(12) Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of
the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. Directors could have recourse to seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to consult
with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board to
ensure that they remain appropriate to the Company’s needs.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the management on the Company’s
behalf.

(18) Corporate governance function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be
the collective responsibility of Directors and has delegated the
corporate governance duties to the Audit Committee which
include:

(@) to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors of the Group; and

(e) to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code from
time to time adopted by the Group and the disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report to be contained in the
Company’s annual reports.
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(14) Independent views and input

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board ensures the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
and at least one-third of its members being independent non-
executive Directors. Further, independent non-executive Directors
will be appointed to Board Committees as required under the
Listing Rules and as far as practicable to ensure independent
views and input are available. The Nomination Committee strictly
adheres to the independence assessment criteria as set out in
the Listing Rules with regard to the nomination and appointment
of independent non-executive Directors, and is mandated to
assess annually the independence of independent non-executive
Directors to ensure that they can continually exercise independent
judgement. No equity-based remuneration with performance-
related elements will be granted to independent non-executive
Directors as this may lead to bias in their decision-making and
compromise their objectivity and independence. A Director
(including independent non-executive Director) who has a material
interest in a contract or arrangement shall not vote or be counted
in the quorum on any Board resolution approving the same.

Board Committees

1)

Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) comprised four
members, namely Mr. Lui Ming (chairman and executive Director),
Mr. Chan Pak Hung, Ms. Tang Lo Nar and Mr. Wong Tung Yuen
(each an independent non-executive Director). The majority of the
committee members are independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Lui Ming is the chairman of this committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
followings:

o to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;
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EXSCEUSIINRREZSIGBEYR
HBLER EZERWRZARL=ZRBUIE
WITESENERD =02 —KERBIIEH
TTEE - 1IN ARAFIR EMRAZRE
RATEA T REBLFRITEEMAES
SZEE  UHERDGBEUBHLER 1R
#ZBEEBRET ETRADAEHARIES
REEBULIFATESFHOBLIEFHEER -
WEREGFIHBUIENTERT 2B
1 RERIRF BERFE R L B FIBT - B 3F
WITEEWEERTHAERRREBITRE
MRS TN REASZEHMEENR
HARRBYZEETEUERBIIM - e
HHLZHPHEEEANANES(BEBIL
FERTER)TESHBBZANALEZE
FERBRRE - TIEFIANEEAK -

B

[=]
?}UEE% \EE
2023128310 » AR AIRBEE S
([REZEEE ) HEUAK B4R - BNEEL
F(EBRNPTES)  RERLEE - BB
TERTRBREEGIBBIIERITES)
ZESHMAZHENEBBIUIENITES - B
BT RZZEEER -

REZ

1o
i3S

WETZREEEUTIE :

\

s ELBFRIEFSNRE - ABKA
AR (BIEHEE - MBKRERITE) » W5k
EAREA AR A DERE M EIEH
MEBREESREES

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023

75



76

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEERKRE (E)

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individual(s) nominated for
directorship(s);

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman of the Board (if any) and
the chief executive;

to review the Nomination Policy and to ensure disclosure of
the same in the Corporate Governance Report, including the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted
by the nomination committee to select and recommend
candidate(s) for directorship;

to review the Board Diversity Policy periodically and to ensure
disclosure of the same or a summary of it in the Corporate
Governance Report, including the measurable objectives that
the Committee has set for implementing the Board Diversity
Policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives; and

to ensure disclosure will be made in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying
the notice of the relevant general meeting where the Board
proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an independent
non-executive Directors at the general meeting:

° the process used for identifying the individual and why
the Board believes the individual should be elected
and the reasons why it considers the individual to be
independent;

° if the proposed independent non-executive Directors
will be holding their seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, why the Board believes the individual
would still be able to devote sufficient time to the Board;

o the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and

° how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent
on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit
time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put
to the Board for decision. Their written terms of reference are
available on the respective website of the Stock Exchange and the

REZBERIZME - &5 se 0 RETTE
B N B PR MR AR N6 N BB LT
MREARREAL - REZEEGNHEEE
REBEEGRHTESSELRE - HEER
REEE TR T R AR R BREER] -

Company.
For the year ended 31 December 2023, two meetings of the HZE2023F12A31HILFE IREREZES
Nomination Committee were held and the attendance record of BOTTMAGHE  REZECKELFEZE
the Nomination Committee members at these meeting is set out in EEEMESE N TR, ¢
the table below:

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
= BHE BERHE
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman) 2/2
BHS ()
Mr. Chan Pak Hung 2/2
BRIBISSE4
Mr. Guo Shaomu (resigned on 1 December 2023) 1/1
AR (FA2023F 12 A1 BEHT)
Ms. Tang Lo Nar 2/2
BEE £+
Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (appointed on 1 December 2023) N/A
FRIREA (R2023F12 A1 ARET) TiEA

In those meetings, the Nomination Committee reviewed and
discussed the policy, procedure and criteria for nomination of
the Directors, reviewed and discussed the Board Diversity Policy
and discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing the
policy and the progress made towards meeting the measurable
objective in the policy, assessed the independence of independent
non-executive Directors, considered the re-appointment of the
retiring Directors and the appointment of the new independent
non-executive Director, reviewed the time commitment required
from the non-executive Director and fulfilled duties as required
aforesaid.
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(2) Nomination Policy
The Board has adopted the following policy with regard to
nomination of Directors.

1. Objective
The Policy aims to:

o set out the criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of directors of the Company;

° ensure that the Board the Company has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company; and

o ensure the Board’s continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

2. Scope
The Policy applies to the Directors and where applicable,
senior management prepared for Board positions under the
succession planning of the Company.

3. Nomination and Appointment of Directors
3.1 Criteria
In evaluating and selecting any candidate for
directorship, the Nomination Committee shall consider
the following criteria in evaluating and selecting
candidates for directorships:

e  Character and integrity.

o Quialifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience and diversity
aspects under the Board Diversity Policy that are
relevant to the business and corporate strategies
of the Company.

o Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving
diversity on the Board.

o Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge

duties as a Board member and other directorships
and significant commitments.
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° Requirement for the Board to have independent
directors in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidates would be considered
independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

° Board Diversity Policy and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee
for achieving diversity on the Board.

° Such other perspectives that are appropriate to
the business of the Company.

3.2 Nomination Procedures
3.2.1Appointment of directors

U

(i)

(i)

(v)

The Nomination Committee identifies
individual(s) suitably qualified to become
Board members, having due regard to the
board diversity policy and the nomination
policy of the Company, and assesses the
independence of the proposed independent
non-executive director(s) as appropriate.

The Nomination Committee makes
recommendation(s) to the Board.

The Board considers the individual(s)
recommended by the Nomination
Committee, having due regard to the Board
Diversity Policy and the nomination policy of
the Company.

The Board confirms the appointment of the
individual(s) as Director(s) or recommends
the individual(s) to stand for election at a
general meeting. Individual(s) appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the Board will be subject to
re-election by Shareholders of the Company
at the next annual general meeting after initial
appointment in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company.
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(vi)

The chairman of the Nomination Committee
shall attend the annual general meeting of
the Company to answer the questions raised
by the shareholders on the nomination of
Directors and other matters in relation to the
Policy.

The Shareholders approve the election of
individual(s), who stand(s) for election at
general meeting, as Director(s).

3.2.2 Re-appointment of directors

U

(i)

(i)

The Nomination Committee shall review
the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring director including
his/her attendance of Board meetings and,
where applicable, general meetings, and the
level of participation and performance of the
Board.

The Nomination Committee shall also review
and determine whether the retiring director
continues to meet the criteria as set out in
3.1.

The Board considers each retiring
director recommended by the Nomination
Committee, having due regard to the board
diversity policy and the nomination policy of
the Company.

The Board recommends the retiring directors
to stand for re-election at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles.

The shareholders approve the re-election of
directors at the annual general meeting.
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4. Review and Monitoring of the Policy
The Nomination Committee shall review the structure, size,
composition (including skills, knowledge and experience) of
the Board on a regular basis at least annually and diversity of
the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills
and experience and diversity of perspective appropriate to
the requirements for the business of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall keep under review the
leadership needs of the Company, both executive and non-
executive, with a view to ensuring the continued ability of the
Company to complete effectively in the marketplace.

The Nomination Committee shall keep up to date and fully
informed about strategic issues and commercial changes
affecting the Company and the market in which it operates.

(3) Remuneration Committee
As at 31 December 2023, the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) comprised three
members, namely Mr. Wong Tung Yuen, Mr. Chan Pak Hung
and Ms. Tang Lo Nar, all of them are independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Wong Tung Yuen is the chairman of this committee.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the
followings:

o to make recommendations to the Board on the policy
and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

. to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

° either (i) to have the delegated responsibility to determine the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management; or (i) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management. This should include
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment. The Committee should consult
the Chairman and/or Chief Executive (if any) of the Company
about their proposals relating to the remuneration of other
executive Directors;
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° to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

o to consider factors salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;

o to review and approve the compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management for any loss
or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is
consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair and
not excessive;

° to review and approve compensation arrangements relating
to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure
that they are consistent with contractual terms and otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

o to ensure that no Directors or any of his associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

o to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Board has adopted a directors’ remuneration policy. It aims
to set out the Company’s policy in respect of remuneration paid
to executive Directors, non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors.

The directors’ remuneration policy sets out the remuneration
structure that allows the Company to attract, motivate and retain
qualified Directors who can manage and lead the Company in
achieving its strategic objective and contribute to the Company’s
performance and sustainable growth, and to provide Directors
with a balanced and competitive remuneration. Such policy will be
reviewed and updated from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee were
revised and adopted in December 2022 taking into account the
roles and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee set out
under the new requirements in Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
which took effect in January 2023. The written terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are available on the respective
website of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, two meetings of the
Remuneration Committee were held and the attendance record of
the Remuneration Committee members at these meeting is set out
in the table below:

HZE2023F12A31HILFE  HFWNLES
BITTMREH M@E‘%ﬁk/\ﬁjféi
=E S uaﬁzm?%ﬁﬁm-

R m

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
= BHE BERHE
Mr. Guo Shaomu (Chairman) (resigned on 1 December 2023) 1/1
BB (F ) (FR2023F 12 A1 BEHME)
Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (Chairman) (appointed on 1 December 2023) N/A
FRREAE(F/E) (2023512 A1 BEET) T
Mr. Chan Pak Hung 2/2
BRIBISSE4
Ms. Tang Lo Nar 2/2
B BRI 2+

In those meetings, the Remuneration Committee discussed
and reviewed the remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management of the Company, assessed performance of
executive Directors, made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management and fulfiled duties as required aforesaid. No matters
relating to the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
were required to be reviewed or approved by the Remuneration
Committee.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments are disclosed in Note 7 to the
consolidated financial statement of this annual report. Details of the
remuneration by band of the members of the senior management
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
below:
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WMERMET7 - BE2023F 12 A31 B ILFER
RRISHEEEBRERBEE D OFIFES
T

Number of
Remuneration band individual(s)
FrEN i E AE
Nil to RMB1,000,000 1
=& ARM1,000,0007T
RMB1,000,000 to RMB2,000,000 2

AE#1,000,0007T 2 A R #2,000,0007T
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(4) Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2023, the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”) comprised four members, namely Mr.
Lui Wing Nam (a non-executive Director), Mr. Chan Pak Hung, Ms.
Tang Lo Nar and Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (each an independent non-
executive Director), the majority of whom are independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Chan Pak Hung is the chairman of this
committee. The main duties of the Audit Committee include the
following:

Relationship with the external auditors

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the external auditor the nature and
scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit
process commences;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services. For this purpose,
external auditor shall include any entity that is under common
control, ownership or management with the audit firm or any
entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing
all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit
Committee should report to the Board, identifying and
making recommendations on any matters where action or
improvement is needed;
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Review of the Company’s financial information

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgments contained in them. In
reviewing these reports before submission to the Board, the
Audit Committee should focus particularly on:

U

(i

(i)

(iv)

any changes in accounting policies and practices;

major judgmental areas;

significant adjustments resulting from audit;

the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

compliance with accounting standards; and

compliance with the Listing Rules and other legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

Regarding above:

members of the Audit Committee should liaise with
the Board and senior management and the Audit
Committee must meet, at least twice a year, with the
Company'’s external auditor; and

the Audit Committee should consider any significant
or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in such report and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been raised by
the Company’s staff responsible for the accounting
and financial reporting function, compliance officer or
external auditor.
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Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system,
risk management and internal control systems

to review the Company’s financial controls, and unless
expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee,
or by the Board itself, to review the Company’s risk
management and internal control systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control
systems with management to ensure that management has
performed its duty to have effective systems. The discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management
and internal control matters as delegated by the Board or
on its own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors, and to
ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any
material queries raised by the external auditor to management
about the accounting records, financial accounts or systems
of control and management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters in these terms of
reference;

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2023

EEANTZHERRHIE - BREER
AIMEZRSR
o BERAARZMIBERE - UR(BRIER
SR EFERTRREEGNRES
SRS GHBEE) B AREZ R
B RANEPEEIE R

. EﬁiAfi*TumaJ—L REERAPEZER
CEREEECEITREZVERZ
*BQ*TI%;L F ERRRAREEEA

REESF EMIGERBED M E
RBIEENERERRN BT
BIRREREREERE TR

o EEETSRZRNEEH  pEHERKE
BRANSEREEEBAEERNE
BEHFHELER 2 O fEEITIHZ

o  WARRARBEZINE - ERAEEM
) V%IEHEZI{’E SEIHE  WHERA
BEZDEEARRRIARE BHERE
15 WRABBEE 2 AReE RE
BEMR

o BIAKREZMBEEFBEREER
o REIIEBRBEGTEREZ(EXE
HBARM ) - SNERBET R A AL
8% - WHBARE JERHIERERER Y
ZEMERREREREFH 2 EE

. BREFQRHEENBLZBHNEE
AR B E

o HBEEENINEENEFTSER



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRE(E)

to review the Company’s statement on risk management and
internal control systems (where one is included in the annual
report) prior to endorsement by the Board;

to discuss problems and qualified opinion, if any, arising from
the half-year and annual audits, and any matters the external
auditor may wish to discuss (in the absence of management
where necessary);

to review arrangements which employees of the Company
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, risk management and
internal control or other matters. The Committee should
ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters for appropriate
follow-up actions;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board from time
to time.

Corporate Governance Functions

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with and disclosure
under the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, two meetings of the Audit HZE2023F12A31BILFE  FZLZEE
Committee were held and the attendance record of the Audit BITTMRE:  ERLEeKBHEZS
Committee members at these meetings is set out in the table SEMEEEIN N RN ¢
below:

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
= BEHE BEREE
Mr. Chan Pak Hung 2/2
BRIAVESEAE
Mr. Lui Wing Nam 2/2
=K LA
Mr. Guo Shaomu (resigned on 1 December 2023) 2/2
BB A (2023512 A1 B B 1)
Ms. Tang Lo Nar 2/2
B Rz
Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (appointed on 1 December 2023) N/A
FHRIRGE(R2023F12 A1 AEEE) TEA
In those meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s EZEgEmL  BREEeEHNTASESE
policies on corporate governance and discussed the same with BEEE LT ENBE R EEEGHET
the Board, reviewed the financial reporting system, compliance TEER %ETﬁﬁ%i&if{iﬁt - BHRER
procedures, internal control and risk management systems NEHEH RRBRERERG(BEERES
(including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and T8 IQE&,@%’* BEEt &l AN

experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions) and
associated processes and the reappointment of the external
auditor and fulfilled duties as required aforesaid. The Board
had not deviated from any recommendation given by the Audit
Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal
of external auditor.

The Audit Committee also reviewed (i) the annual results of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2022 as well as the audited report prepared by the auditor relating
to accounting issues and major findings in course of audit; (ii)
the interim results of the Company and its subsidiaries for the six
months ended 30 June 2023; and (jii) the audit scope and audit
plan prepared by the auditor relating to the audit for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

There are proper arrangements for employees, in confidence, to
raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control and other matters. The written terms of reference
of the Audit Committee are available on the respective website of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for Financial
Reporting in Respect of Financial Statements
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 which give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of the
Group’s consolidated financial performance and consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are
put to the Board for approval. The Company provides all members of
the Board with monthly updates on Company’s performance, positions
and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report in this annual
report.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group on an ongoing
basis and review their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The management of the Group updates and reports the key risk areas,
including any remedial plans, if deemed necessary or appropriate, to the
Audit Committee for consideration. The identified key risk areas and the
appropriate risk mitigation strategies were reviewed and commented by
the Board at its meeting annually.
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The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted review of both
design and implementation effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023, covering all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, as well
as those relating to the Company’s ESG performance and reporting
are adequate. In this respect, the Audit Committee communicates any
material issues to the Board. The Board is of the view that throughout
the year ended 31 December 2023, the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company are effective and adequate.

Our Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Company has established its enterprise risk management
framework in 2020. While the Board has the overall responsibility
to ensure that sound and effective internal controls are maintained,
management is responsible for designing and implementing an internal
control system to manage all kinds of risks (including ESG risks) facing
by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks are
identified, assessed, prioritized and allocated treatments. Our risk
management framework follows the COSO Enterprise Risk Management
— Integrated Framework, which allows the Board and management to
manage the risks of the Group effectively. The Board receives regular
reports from the Risk Control Center and the Audit Committee. The Risk
Control Center is responsible for overseeing internal control and risk
management, and the Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing
the internal audit function.

Our Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence” corporate governance
structure with operational management and controls performed by
operations management, coupled with risk management monitoring
carried out by the finance and compliance team. The Group maintains a
risk register to keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The
risk register provides the Board, the Audit Committee, and management
with a profile of its major risks and records management’s action taken
to mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually
based on its likelihood of occurrence and potential impact upon the
Group. The risk register is updated by management as the risk owners
with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks, if applicable,
at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has been performed.
This review process can ensure that the Group proactively manages
the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk owners have access to
the risk register and are aware of and alert to those risks in their area
of responsibility so that they can take follow-up action in an efficient
manner.

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2023

EECEBEREE T B ANEEEE2023F
12A31HIEFERREIE &N EPE G ZAH R
AIREHEAKR O RETEEAELEE  B1EY
% BERARIES  UERASENGE - A
HER - MEREBREUNEARNFESGRIA L
[ERE BB AERENER  FIEE R
BE c ERZECYHMRNEZTSBEREMEKR
FIH -EBFLRAE  NEZE2023F12A8318EF
B ARRNEREEMATLEHER—EHBEE
BMRFESD ©

RPN ERBEEESR

RABIER2020F 2 K ¥RBERIELE -
ERHRERES RITRB B R EE B AER
BEM MEREIEERITREITAIZE G
E - UEBASEERY SERR(2IEESGRA

&) -

FRRKRHEAN LGRS - BBREER - 1
WMEEREAFRETHRERE - ZMHERER

EZRBECOSOTERMREE —4RAIESR ’?%
FeREEEEREEAEE AR - EFE
HmBEE K ET¢Mﬂ§V§AE&%ﬁ¢ ﬂ
BEERLBEEBRNIEHMERER B
ZE AT ENIPERA o

HAFIR E Bz

REBRM R ICEERRE  BHEER
@E”ﬁ%@%@&ﬁﬂ’ImWW&Aﬁl
BETRRERER AEEFERBRETMIA
EAEEMACHIEZERR - RERELMS
Exg ERZEeREREERHEETIZAR
B0 - WRCEE I B AR EAR R R R FTEREN Y 1T
B BERRDREEZEENA R REAREE
HWEEXEEVBFETHE - BRELMEE
EEERAREEANETEERRIGREH
MAFRR R SZBRRERR(WNER)ELE
FEH—R - BERBAIRRAEEEGERHR
EERNER - ABAERREEATEMRERE
RO i 3 A B mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm BE A% E R
B - B E R RURERAETTE ©



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
E 'M\Aiﬁﬂ:(nﬁ)

Our risk management activities are performed by management on an
ongoing process. The effectiveness of our risk management framework
will be evaluated at least annually, and periodic management meeting
is held to update the progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management
is committed to ensure that risk management forms part of the daily
business operation processes in order to align risk management with
corporate goals in an effective manner.

The Company has an internal audit function which primarily carries
out the analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the issuer’s risk management and internal control
systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at least, an annual
basis.

Handling of Inside Information

With a view to identifying, handling and disseminating inside information
in compliance with the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), procedures including notification of
regular blackout period and securities dealing restrictions to relevant
Directors and employees, identification of project by code name and
dissemination of information to stated purpose and on a need-to-know
basis have been implemented by the Group to guard against possible
mishandling and/or unauthorised use of inside information within the
Group.
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Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2023, an analysis of the fee paid/
payable to the external auditor of the Company in respect of audit
services and non-audit services is set out as follows:

S A

HE2023F12 A1 B IEFE » BRBEFTRE MIEE
RSB A AR A RINEZEMNE A ST
AT

Fees Paid/Payable

et ENER
Service Category RMB’000
BRI ARETTT
Audit services 3,000
EiT AR
Non-audit services -
B R
Total 3,000
1aET

Company Secretary

The Company appointed Mr. Chan Pui Tak as the company secretary of
the Company. Please refer to the section headed “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management — Senior Management” in this
annual report for the biography of Mr. Chan Pui Tak.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan Pui Tak
undertook not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to
update their skills and knowledge during the year ended 31 December
2023.
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General Meeting
During the year ended 31 December 2023, an annual general meeting
was held on 8 June 2023, the attendance of the Directors is as below:

RERRE
HZE2023F 12 A31 B IEFE - 12023546 A8H
BRA—NAFHRERE - @ZNEREEROT

Attended/
Directors Eligible to attend
55 BHE FERHE
Mr. Lui Ming (Chairman and Executive Director) 1/1
BRREE(EERHTEE)
Mr. Lui Jin Ling (Executive Director) i7al
BHEST A (HITEE)
Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy (Executive Director) 1/1
BERSEE(HITEE)
Mr. Lui Wing Mau (Non-executive Director) 1/1
BKIK SR (FEHTEE)
Mr. Lui Wing Nam (Non-executive Director) 11
EOKE SRk (FFHITESE)
Mr. Chan Pak Hung (Independent Non-executive Director) 1/1
PRAEB S E (B U HHTTEE)
Mr. Guo Shaomu (Independent Non-executive Director) (resigned on 1 December 2023) 1/1
SO (B FFH77EF) (72023512 A1 B EHE)
Ms. Tang Lo Nar (Independent Non-executive Director) 11
BRI L OFVIFHTEE)
Mr. Wong Tung Yuen (Independent Non-executive Director) (appointed on 1 December 2023) N/A
FRREECHZIFHTEE)(F2023F12 A1 BEZE) i A

Communication with Shareholders and Investor

Relations

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of
the shareholders and potential investors on the Group’s business,
performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes the
importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the informed investment
decisions.

The annual general meeting provides opportunity for shareholders to
communicate directly with the Directors. The chairman of the Board,
the chairmen of the Board Committees will attend the annual general
meeting to answer shareholders’ questions. The external auditor of
the Company will also attend the annual general meeting to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content
of the auditor’s report and auditor independence.
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To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and its
shareholders and maintains a website at www.glchina.group, where
up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information are available for public access. Shareholders and
investors may at any time contact the Company’s Investor Relations
Department at 852-5587 9653 or email to ir@ganglong.net.cn. The
Board will review the shareholders’ communication policy regularly to
ensure its effectiveness.

The Board reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders communication policy, including the communication
channels for shareholders in place and the steps taken to handle
shareholders’ enquiries, and considered that the shareholders
communication policy has been properly implemented and effective.

Shareholders’ Rights

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
will be proposed by the chairman of that meeting for each substantially
separate issue at shareholder meetings, including nomination and
election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each shareholder meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules.

(1) Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting
In accordance with Article 64 of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”), any one or more shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the
Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at
general meeting

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. However, shareholders who wish to propose
resolutions may follow Article 64 of the Articles for requisitioning an
extraordinary general meeting and including a resolution at such
meeting. The requirements and procedures of Article 64 of the
Articles are set out above.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests

to the Company as follows:

Address: Suite 501, 5/F, Five Pacific Place, 28 Hennessy Road,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Attention: Investor Relations Department
Tel: 852-5587 9653

Fax: 852-2688 0030

Email: ir@ganglong.net.cn

Enquiries will be dealt with in a timely and informative manner.

Change in Constitutional Documents

The new Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company were approved, adopted and effective
on 8 June 2023 to, among other things, confirm to the requirements
of the Listing Rules (including but not limited to the Core Shareholder
Protection Standards) and the Cayman Islands Companies Act.

(2)
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the Shareholders of Ganglong China Property Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Ganglong China Property
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which
are set out on pages 108 to 235, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
We draw attention to Note 2.1(c) to the consolidated financial
statements which states that as at 31 December 2023, the Group had
total borrowings of RMB4,823,857,000, of which RMB2,796,627,000
were current borrowings repayable within 12 months, trade payables,
bills payables and other payables of RMB2,793,683,000 and contract
liabilities of RMB8,694,513,000, while the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents, pledged time deposits and restricted cash amounted
to RMB570,167,000, RMB145,711,000 and RMB1,120,284,000,
respectively. These events and conditions, along with other matters as
set forth in Note 2.1(c), indicate the existence of a material uncertainty
that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,

BASEERTE R

MREHEELRERMOELAE  RALA
BEANBRERNBHBRAEENEE  BLE
BB R MER B A B R ST R
TR - AMTEHRS ERREEBOE

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 8o

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

. Provision for land appreciation tax

o Assessment of net realisable value of properties under °

development and completed properties held for sale

Key Audit Matter
BREETEE

BAIEET PR ERE FEMAL T

o MR ETRAEME

ﬂﬁﬁ%*%%&ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬂ@l%%%
""""" HI5 %A

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNEF N AR EBEETSE

Provision for land appreciation tax

TR ETR A BE

Refer to Note 4(b) and Note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.
BB E W IRE T 4(0)FIFHFE10 ©

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
had land appreciation tax (“LAT”) recoverable amounted to
RMB114,610,000 and the provision for LAT amounted to
RMB86,533,000, respectively.

202312 A31B RBEZBILFE - E5EMNAIKE
T ER A ARE114,610,0007 © LIS EFREEAA
R #86,533,0007T °

In assessing the provision for LAT, we have performed the
following procedures:

FERHE T IR ETREER - AR TIA NER

(@)

we understood, evaluated and tested the relevant controls
over the calculation of the provision for LAT and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty, complexity, subjectivity
and other inherent risk factors;

BT RE - FHEARIE T AR IR AR A R B M ER
TR WABERMGEENTREN - BME - T8E

MEMESEREAEZE - A TEREROES @R

we tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of sales of
properties and expenditures of the relevant properties by
checking the relevant documents including property sales
contracts and invoices;
BMBBREHEEER(AERHMEHESOMER) - U
ey 77 =R T Y3 8 S AR B 0 2 S HH w0 e

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2023



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B BE RS (&)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

ERESEHE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RANETT AR ERRENSE

LAT in Mainland China is one of the main components
of the Group’s tax provision, and is levied on the sale of
properties at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
based on the appreciation of land value. At the end of
each financial reporting period, management of the Group
estimates the provision for LAT in relation to the sales of
properties based on the allocation of revenue and cost of
sales among different property types and the estimated total
sales of properties less total deductible expenditures of the
relevant property. This estimation incorporated judgement
around classification of property types, and the application
of deductibles, which includes lease payments for land use
rights, property development costs, borrowing costs and
other development expenditures, based on management’s
understanding and interpretation of the relevant tax rules
and regulations.

REINME I ER s ESRERHEIZHEF ZEKE
D2 — o WEHE N L IR E THRIR30% E60%H) R
TEE IR ERLG - REREHR - EXEERER
BN R M EE A A 2 A O U\ N 88 6 AN S EE ) ik 51
BHEFREFT RN E B AR LB ETEE -
ZEFTEREEBYHBTUANRENIERMBE - 5
REMERIN S  RAEXNRNEELIERENEEN
o BHERERAR - BRAARTEMFE S HERE R
TR HEf -

(©

we assessed the reasonableness of the basis for
classification of property types and allocation of revenue
and cost of sales among different property types by
reviewing the relevant documents including construction
land planning permit and certificates;
BMEAEEERAMMRIFTAIBENEESEEH X - 5T
i 7 B HE D 8 LA R AR B 3 EE 5 i 9 H A N 8 65 B AR Y
AR

we obtained and examined the tax payments, LAT
clearance, where applicable, and other relevant
correspondences with local tax authorities, on a sample
basis, to assess the accuracy and reasonableness of LAT
provision; and

BPEFTRERR - THEENEE(HER)ARHEE
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETER

ERESSEHE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRAANEST N AEERRETSE

When the LAT is subsequently determined by the tax
authority upon LAT clearance, the actual payments may be
different from the estimates.

TS MRS B2 78 T T M IR BT RS
FHE -

- BERI KA g2 A BIRME

We focus on the provision for LAT as a key audit matter
due to the significance of the LAT to the consolidated
financial statements and the significance of the judgement
and estimates involved.

AR T IR EN YRS T BERERAERNTZEUARPIS R
B HIBA B B - RIS L E R E R TR
AR EStEIEmME IR UL EFIE -

()

we engaged our internal tax specialists to review the LAT
provision, including the LAT provision calculation based on
the relevant tax rates for different types of properties and
the deductibility of the expenditures against the relevant tax
rules and regulations in the calculation.

HMEE T ASRBEREMN LIS ER G - BERE
TRFEHEBEFMIEET A RAEPEETERRESN
AR S T B T IS AR -

Based on the procedures performed, we found that
management s judgement and estimates applied in provision for
LAT were supported by available evidence.
RIEFTEITEVIEF - BAPIBEIRE 12 B 4 L b B (B R B A i A1
T ERSE R R -
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETER

ERESHE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRANETTNAEERRETSE

Assessment of net realisable value (“NRV”) of properties
under development (“PUD”) and completed properties held
for sale (“PHS”)

AR ERYE(TRERYE]) MFEHENE R IYE
(I FHERENERTYE DRI SEFE (AT IFE])

Refer to Note 4(d) and Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.
B2 BRSPS IRAR LA M7 -

The PUD and PHS of the Group amounted to
RMB17,705,994,000 and RMB3,509,779,000 respectively
as at 31 December 2023, which in total accounted for
approximately 67.1% of the Group’s total assets. The
carrying amounts of PUD and PHS are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value (“NRV”). For the year ended
31 December 2023, provision for impairment of properties
under development and completed properties held for sale
amounted to RMB670,566,000.

R2023%F12A31H - EEENHABHWEREELE
ME®RIMED R A ARE17,705994,000 7T & A R
3,509,779,0007T * A #Ah BEEEEEMRTERGT.1%
FERYERBEHENERIYENREERKAR KA
BIVFE([ATERFE ] NBIEREDIRR - #2023 121
BIEFE RERMERSELHENERITMENRE
A ARM670,566,0007T ©

In assessing the NRV of PUD and PHS, we have performed the
following procedures:

FHAR BRI ERSEL SN E R TR S EUFER - BM
EITTUTER

a)

we understood and evaluated the management’s
assessment process of NRV of PUD and PHS and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty, complexity, subjectivity
and other inherent risk factors.

BT T EREYRETMERSELENE R
IYER R ER AN LRI - WBRE B T
EM M FRERHEMERRRREER  FHETEKXR
R E B R o

we understand and evaluate the Group’s internal controls
related to the estimated cost of completion of properties
under development.
BT BRAETE T
B ER e o

BEREABFERYERTAKA
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B BE RS (&)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BREETEE

ERESSEHE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNEF AR EBEETSE

Determination of NRV of PUD and PHS involved critical
accounting estimates on the selling price, variable selling
expenses and, for PUD, the costs to completion. The
judgements and estimations are subject to high degree of
estimation uncertainty. The inherent risk in relation to the
assessment of NRV of properties under development and
completed properties held for sales is considered relatively
higher due to uncertainty of significant assumptions used.
EERBETYERSELENERIMENRIEERFEY
Rt EE R #HER X ERERGH AT (SRR YE
= - AF R EER TR EHERGFH GG o HIE
RiEFZISEMGTTHREEOTE - ARAERAERR
REODMETEN  FHERBEPYERFEFHENS R IR
ERIE IR FENEE R ER AR -

We focus on the assessment of NRV of PUD and PHS
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the PUD
and PHS to the consolidated financial statements and the
significance of the judgement and estimates involved.
HRFREFYERFELENER T EE LGS M HREK
WEBZMHARFTES ROFB RGN ER N - RIETME
FERYELFHEREN DRI EN IR FEER—
TBRARETEFEM BTN EIE o

0

0

Tested management’s key estimates, on a sample basis,
for:
MEOAH T ERES AT T EARI ST

° Selling price which is estimated based on the
prevailing market conditions. We compared
the estimated selling price to the recent market
transactions by making reference to the Group’s
selling price of pre-sale units in the same project or
the prevailing market price of comparable properties
with similar type, size and location.

o & HNREBRITTRME - HM2R EXERA
—IHBBEEEUMNEEIEE - BEMZERC T
LEERBRITHE - A ESERTIRNTISER S
FTHEE ©

° Variable selling expenses which are estimated based
on certain percentage of selling price. We compared
the above estimated percentage with the actual
average selling expenses to revenue ratio of the Group
in recent years.

o HEHENX  HNRBEEN—EHAMEE o Fif
& EAfEET Ao E SRERFNERFIHHEER
S ELA L R ETLLRR o
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BYZBE#RE (F)

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

ERESHE)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRANETT O AEERRETSE

Estimated costs to completion for PUD. We
reconciled the estimated costs to completion to the
budget approved by management and examined the
construction contracts or compared the anticipated
completion costs to the actual costs of similar type of
completed properties of the Group.

FIE R E AR R TR o B EEHR TR AR
BB ENTBEETYHER  UTEESTREAR - 3
HEFHR T ARE BEERACETYENERK
AEITLLRR ©

For the suspended project in Guangzhou, we
have assessed the independence, objectivity and
competence of valuer engaged by the Group, and we
engaged our internal valuation specialists to review the
valuation of the project.
HREMONEIEE - BTG T BE5EZESNG
BERMAE M - BBIEMEE S - WEEADEHEZER
FEZIAB KA -

Based on the procedures performed, we found that
management’s assessment of NRV of PUD and PHS were
supported by available evidence.
BIBFTITORER - RAEREEBHARPWERBIEHED
B TR r] R FEN A B S FEFF -

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYZEERE (&)

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in
Ganglong China Property Group Limited 2023 Annual Report (the
“annual report”) other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. We have obtained some of the other
information including Corporate Information, Chairman’s Statement,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management and Corporate Governance Report
prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The remaining other information,
including Directors’ Report, Financial Summary and the other sections
to be included in the annual report, is expected to be made available to us
after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that
we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to Audit Committee
and take appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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HtfER

BERREFAHEMERRE - HLEEBEM
BEESHEARETEESEARAF2023FFH,
(TF# D BERA M BERR R BN ZEED RS
MER - RPIEAZEEHRE AR S BGEF i E
WESERBEAREN - LFEHE - BIRENmHR
o EFREREEENBEEABREXER
HE - HRTHEMER  BREESFWRS  UEH
ZNKBEREFHRANEMLES - BEHAEER
TR BN E RIS o

BPYEGRABRRNBELL TREEMER
BTt T EZEHEMERBRREATEADN

EAY/==2
%uﬁém Af ©

FBRBRMBRAMBHRENET  RANEEE
Bl DA EAMEE - BT ZEEM(E
BRBEGEAVBHBRIBMERTBIETHAT
OB FEEABRBREUTFEERHERR
AHYIFI ©

ERBMEEAZBENRE BATRGHEAMES
TR T - IRBMRREMESFEEKR
ERRL - BAFEREZFE - A& TH K
FPRBEMERE ©

ERMMEBZSEEREFRABRTOHEMES
% WREMRBSEPFEEREREL - A
FEREMFTREEITZEGARE  ULEERM
HLEREMMBER R RIEETE

BERESTZESHESUER
RARENSE

BERREFAARRBEEES A RMEAE
B E R DR EBCR RHEG])E IR FE AR € B
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B ZEERE (&)

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

EENETZEENGFSTHR
REAFENEEGE)

ERBRAVBHRERE EFa 8 E5H
SEEEMRE S WEBERBR T HERFEL
LEMNEER  URERFECERGER
BRIEEAER BEREFRIUFLELE - X
BEHMERNERTER -

EHRESAAREE ESRENYHRSSBRE-

BN B AR S B R AR AE
BT

RMNE IR RS AMBRREBRE T
B SR S8 R T B 0 B AR BB S & 12
R A DERIIE R KBRS - B
B BTUEABE)BERMOER Bz
SRR RIS B A0 o BB BARS 07
REEMEMALE FRABEARIE - ABE
ERBAFHRE - EFEREREEEL
RDEFTVERE - EX — B A RBL TR A
B - HRPA A AR R SIREI R - MRA
28T M B R E AR A S Bl A TR
KRR & RS R AT E i B0 ORE -
R RS SRR AT AR (A o

ERBCEBEAERDETRERES - T
BRTERAE - RS TERRREE - RFIT

o BERIMFFE R RFFRBR M B RERE UK
BREEEAHERRANER - R RIT
EFEF AL ELRR - A RENTT RN
BENETEE - FRAMBENER - &
REFFARE Y R BRR - B - EEER &
B - SORBRAERIESIZ £ - FitbREE
BHAMFFME RN EAFERANRER S
TR BE 3T R 8 3R T B B B A #8 AR PRk A9
[\
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYZEERE (&)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B ZEERE (&)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Hin Gay, Gabriel.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

BN LS AR S B RS R AR AR
MEE(E)

REEHEBGBEOEET  RORTHLE
BYAMGANBREOETRAEE - AN
RGBS B © BB o i
B BIERARTAH AN REELFE -
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SLeEEEWRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 | & Z2023F 12 A31H L F &

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
st AR®T T AREETFIT
Revenue WA 5 17,579,219 11,892,348
Cost of sales SHE AR 6 (15,190,430) (9,914,494)
Gross profit EF 2,388,789 1,977,854
Other income and other gains, net E A A R B i 250558 8 27,058 45,757
Selling and marketing expenses SHE R EHAYT 6 (368,347) (416,105)
General and administrative expenses —RE AT 6 (311,782) (493,116)
Fair value loss on investment properties REMEAR(EEEIE 14 (30,020) -
Provision for impairment of financial assets &gt &&= sHERE 3(b) (56,145) -
Operating profit ERT 1,649,553 1,114,390
Finance income BB WA 9 12,738 32,421
Finance costs A& R A 9 (92,125) (150,440
Finance costs, net BB R ANFEE 9 (79,387) (118,019)
Share of results of joint ventures and EIEEEDEEEE A RIRE
associates 15 (24,029) 79,017
Profit before income tax FRET BB AR 1,546,137 1,075,388
Income tax expenses IERET b3 10 (827,694) (494,233)
Profit and total FRENRE2E RSB
comprehensive income for the year 718,443 581,155
Profit and total comprehensive AT ATEMRARZE
income attributable to: st 4858 -
Owners of the Company VIN/NETE YN 147,972 121,886
Non-controlling interests JEIEAR RS 570,471 459,269
718,443 581155
Earnings per share attributable to EATEBEAEEERER
owners of the Company (LB ARESIR)
(expressed in RMB per share)
— Basic and diluted —HAREE 11 0.09 0.07
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be 4R A B E RS IR e BARE BB A — OFBE o

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e M BARRE

At of 31 December 2023 | 74202312 A31H

As at 31 December

#M12A318
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE ARET T AREETTT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R NRE 12 70,991 105,965
Investment properties "EME 14 153,000 183,020
Investments accounted for using RAESEYRNIEE
the equity method 15 1,340,234 1,364,263
Deferred income tax assets BT EE 16 249,301 400,971
1,813,526 2,054,219
Current assets REEE
Properties under development FEEh 17 17,705,994 30,736,363
Completed properties held for sale FEHEMD BRI YE 17 3,509,779 2,142,458
Trade and other receivables and B 5 R E A FEWRIE A K
prepayments Ta A 18 2,308,387 2,475,755
Amounts due from associates NI E O 31 124,229 129,976
Amounts due from joint ventures FEU & E{ERIA 31 155,181 170,957
Amounts due from non-controlling interests  FEY3E12 % #2531 18 25 3,317,373 3,740,880
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEFEBEEHTA
profit or loss BalemEE = 3,952
Tax recoverable A e R E 837,770 917,210
Restricted cash SRR HIIR & 19 1,120,284 2,914,221
Pledged time deposits B E BT 19 145,711 55,116
Cash and cash equivalents ReENBEEEEY 19 570,167 1,172,191
29,794,875 44,459,079
Total assets BEMAE 31,608,401 46,513,298
Equity =
Capital and reserves attributable to the 72 T#EHE A E{HE R
owners of the Company RthE
Share capital RE AR 20 14,838 14,838
Reserves i 21 4,078,846 3,935,734
4,093,684 3,950,572
Non-controlling interests FFERER 7,254,502 7,176,974
Total equity e 11,348,186 111275646

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

ma M EIR R (&)

At of 31 December 2023 | 74202312 A31H

As at 31 December

A12831H
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
st ARETT AREFTT
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities kREBERE
Borrowings &k 22 2,027,230 4,024,602
Deferred income tax liabilities BLEBHAE 16 291,945 236,650
Lease liabilities HEaE 13 48,200 56,422
2,367,375 4,317,674
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables, bills payables and other B EMNFE - EAEE R
payables HAuhpE A 23 2,793,683 4,053,621
Lease liabilities HERE 13 8,018 9,561
Contract liabilities AHAaRE 5 8,694,513 21,294,053
Amounts due to associates FEfTE N BIFRIE 31 736,644 653,711
Amounts due to joint ventures ENEEERIA 31 532,942 680,499
Amounts due to non-controlling interests ~ fE{ 3E1E R 425 2018 25 1,918,756 1,465,986
Tax payable FESHIIE 411,657 169,045
Borrowings = 22 2,796,627 2,741,602
17,892,840 31,068,078
Total liabilities EE8E 20,260,215 35,385,752
Total equity and liabilities ERRBEEE 31,608,401 46,513,298

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read AR A B FSIA R SR R B BE M B s — OFRIAE o
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 108 to 235 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2024 and were signed
on its behalf.

F£108£ 2358 MR A M IS HEK 2 M2024F3 A28
AEEEeHE  URREEZERE -

Mr. Lui Ming Mr. Lui Jin Ling
BHEE BESKE
Director Director

EBF S
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 | #£2023F 12 A31H L FE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

ZF’DﬂTﬁﬁAFE{E Non-
Share Share  Statutory Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserves  reserves  earnings  Subtotal interests Total
Bx  RHEE  iERE  EtRE  REEA Nt FERER a5t
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note20)  (Note21)  (Note21)  (Note 21)
(Wir20)  (MfsEen)  (W&1) (21
Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023E1 B 1R S 14,838 1,448,564 240,268 289,095 1,957,807 3,950,572 7,176,974 11,127,546
Profit and total comprehensive income ~ EREH k2 BN £
for the year - - - - 147,972 147,972 570,471 718,443
Transactions with owners: BEEANRS
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 27 (a) HE-EHBAT
(Frstor) - - - - - - (345633 (345,639
Effect of equity interest swap (Note 26) ~ RIEE AL (Ji3H26) - = = (4,860) = (4,860)  (147,310)  (152,170)
Appropriation to statutory reserve ERTTTRE - - 139,149 - (139,149) - - -
Total transactions with ownersin ~ EEAA (UHEBEEA
their capacity as owners EGEEE - - 139,149 (4,860 (139,149) (4,860) (492,943  (497,803)
Balance at 31 December 2023 2023512831 Rtk 14,838 1,448,564 379,417 284235 1,966,630 4,093,684 7,254,502 11,348,186

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Littr AR S B R IEEEM N — GBI

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023

111



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
mekRgHR(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 | & Z2023F 12 A31H L F &

Attributable to the owners of the Company

Share Share  Statutory Other ~ Retained controling
capital premium reserves reserves eamings Subtotal interests Total

Bx RAEE  EERE  EMER  RERA NGt RS st

RVB'000  RMB'000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'O00  RMB'000

ARBTL ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARBTT ARETR ARETR
(Note20) ~ (Note21)  (Note21)  (Note21)
(fsko0)  (msret)  (mset)  (Ris21)

Balance at 1 January 2022 202051 A1 A&t 14900 1,467,819 232,788 10,277,752
Profit and total comprehensive income  ERETI R Bl L

for the year - - - 581,155
Transactions with owners: AREFANRS
Cancellation of shares (Note 20) RN (M3E0) (62)  (19255) - -
Repurchase of shares (Note 20) BRIk (H320) - - - (13,186)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 27(0)) HE-RHBLE

(P&27(0)) - - - - 14,505

Capital injections from non-controlling~~ JEi%AR IR 5 (fifzta)

interests (Note @) - - - - - - 267,300 267,300
Appropriation to statutory reserve ERTITEE - - 7,480 - (7,480 - - -
Total transactions with owners REBAURERRBA

in their capacity as owners EGEEEE 62) (19,259) 7,480 6,131 (7,480) (13,186) 281,825 268,639
Balance at 31 December 2022 R2022512A31 REsh 14,838 1,448,564 240,268 289,095 1,957,807 39505572 7176974 11,127,546

Note a: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the non-controlling MitFa : #{Z2022F12A31BILEE  ETHBAR
interests of certain subsidiaries injected RMB267,300,000 in cash HIEIE R E SRS T E AR EENHTB A
into the Group 's subsidiaries as capital contribution. Al - @F R AR267,300,0007T °

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read itk A RS S B R EERS MM s T — FRRE o
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 | #Z2023F 12 A31H L F &

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BfaE AR¥TR AREETFIT
Cash flows from operating activities KESEEFBESRE
Cash generated from operations EFTSIR S 24(a) 1,217,003 2,483,478
Income tax paid [EANIZIES T (298,677) (460,373)
Net cash generated from operating activites &4 EBIFTSIR &% 58 918,326 2,023,105
Cash flows from investing activities RETHRERLRE
Payments for purchase of property, BEME  BEMREMK
plant and equipment 12 (1,965) (9,870)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME - WEKEE
plant and equipment FriSsaE 24(b) 3,077 303
Payments for purchase of financial assets BERANBEI=EHE
at fair value through profit or loss AFABENEREENK - (41,502)
Proceed from disposal of financial assets HERAREBETEEEES
at fair value through profit or loss FABRNEREERME
HIE 4,191 11,539
Cash outflow on Equity Interests Swap fEiEBRMIRE R 26 (59) -
Cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary I — R B A RIS R 27 (70,714) (30,379)
Proceeds from capital reduction A FTSRIA = 87,000
Proceeds from withdrawal of a BEEMEEEREN
joint venture’s project S sIE = 5,194
Advances to associates Bl =INEIE=E N (720) (1,283)
Repayment of advances to associate BEREE QTR - 1,157
Advances to joint ventures MEEEERR = (5,244)
Repayment of advances to joint ventures BEREEDERR 7,650 88,048
Advances to non-controlling interests MIFEERRE R B - (1,262,455)
Repayment of advances to non-controlling RS g E e N
interests 423,507 1,482,382
Interest received BUF B 12,738 32,421
Net cash generated from investing activites % & EEFT1SIR S 558 377,705 357,311
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

RERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 | & Z2023F 12 A31H L F &

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLFE
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
b ARET T AREETFIT
Cash flows from financing activities RETEMBRERE
Advances from associates i8N B EAER 24(c) 82,933 275,931
Repayment of advances from associates BIRBEE A TIER 24(c) = (168,810)
Advances from joint ventures BEPERR 24(c) = 70,419
Repayment of advances from joint ventures  BiE &SR ERA 24(c) (147,557) (78,600)
Advances from non-controlling interests FEFERR e RS EA TR 24(c) 452,770 569,331
Repayment of advances from BRI RIEREIN
non-controlling interests 24(c) - (961,931)
Repayment of advances from third parties BEE=FRR 24(c) - (19,342)
Proceeds from borrowings ERGIES e 24(c) 426,562 2,539,150
Repayment of borrowings EEER 24(c) (2,288,639) (5,342,266)
Payment of principal portion of lease BEEHEBEASHS
liabilities 24(c) (8,250) (14,702)
Payment of interest portion of lease BEBERBNSHS
liabilities 24(c) (4,558) (5,783)
Buyback of shares F& B A% (7 = (13,186)
Capital injection from non-controlling JEfE i A
interests - 267,300
Interest paid EAHE (411,316) (626,042)
Repayment for issuance of senior note EEBEITELER = (4,613)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEB AR FE (1,898,055) (3,513,144)
Net decrease in cash and cash ReRBESEEWRDFE
equivalents (602,024) (1,132,728)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FHIRERIRESEEY
the year 1,172,191 2,304,919
Cash and cash equivalents at M2023F12A31ERER
31 December 2023 HEZEEY 19 570,167 i1l 725191
The above consolidated statement of cashflows should be read in LR AR MER BN —HRE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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General Information

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 8
October 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address of its
registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South Church
Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) is located at
No. 11 Building, PortMix South District, No. 2177 Shenkun Road,
Minhang District, Shanghai, the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong is located at Suite 501, 5/F, Five Pacific Place, 28 Hennessy
Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the development of real estate projects
in the PRC. The Company’s shares were listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 15
July 2020. The ultimate holding companies of the Company are
Huaxing Development Co. Ltd., Hudian Development Co., Ltd
and Hualong Development Co. Ltd., which are incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands (“BVI”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issued by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company on
28 March 2024.
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Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622 (“HKCO”). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except as modified by financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and investment properties which
are measured at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4.

(@ New and amendments to standards adopted
by the Group
The following new and amendments to standards have been
adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial year
beginning on or after 1 January 2023:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

FRG BB 1R REBVBRSENEBREF2RZEITA

Amendments to HKAS 8
ARG ERESHR ZIEF] AN
Amendments to HKAS 12

BAGTHERIE125 2 BETA
Amendments to HKAS 12
BAGERFE1258 2 EFTA

HKFRS 17 and Amendments to HKFRS 17

BHREPBHREENENTRREBEPBHREEREATREFTA

Amendments to HKFRS 17

R BREENF17THRZEFTA

The adoption of the above new and amendments to
standards did not have significant financial impact on the
consolidated financial statements, except for the adoption of
HKAS 12 as stated in Note 2(d).
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(a) AREBECHEMFT REIE:
B
AEE D H2023F1 A1k 2 &F A
FIEF IR AF FE BRI T 2 35T B &1
HES:E

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

SRR

Definition of Accounting Estimates

BHAEENER

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

E-RHGELNEEMEBRBENRELETIA

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

BIFR 5o — A AR RIS AR

Insurance Contracts

RERE K

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 —
Comparative Information

IR IE B B WmE R F 179 R BB

HAERIF O — LB AR

B i aT RAS IS R E R iR A
M RERELEATBTE  HERNE
BE R F 1257 N (A0 FE2(d)FR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

mEEE(E)

(b) #reTERIRIBELER 2 EFTAD EME
HARF20234F1 B1H a2 B F
£ B EEAEERRATRY

2 Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2
(b) New standard and amendments to existing standards issued
but not yet effective for the financial year beginning on or
after 1 January 2023 and have not been early adopted by the

Group:

Effective for

accounting

periods

beginning on

or after

RUT B#=R

Z BB

BRPBEN

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024
BEBGHERIEIE 2EFTR BESBANE KIERE 20241 A1H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
BAGERIFE1G BT MsRErIERE B E 20241 A1H
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
BB BREERE165R ZIEFTA BREEFHNEEAR 20241 H1H

Amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

EREREBELYR(2020)2 &4

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

ARG ERETR RV B RS
HRBTIRZAERT R

Amendments to HKAS 21

BAGERIFE215 BT

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

BEAVBRELNE10RRES
SRR E 28R 2 BRI A

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification

1 January 2024

by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a

Repayment on Demand Clause

I HmENEN —ERAB S B REKRE
EHERN S

Supplier Finance Arrangements

HER R E bk

Lack of Exchangeability
R A AR

B 20241 A1H
1 January 2024
20241 A1H

1 January 2025
20251 H1H

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and To be determined

its Associate or Joint Venture
KEEREBENRNEELECHEE

HESKTE FE

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to
accounting standards and interpretations have been
published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2023
reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the
Group. These standards, amendments or interpretations are
not expected to have a material impact on the entity in the

N

current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future

transactions.

& HAE SR IR

SHEA B R FE - BEFREER - BFT
HEEREA SR ARRBERATSHERK
AHEENARRRGELEATE o

ETEEMOFETER - S5HERRERT

BERE E2023%12 A31 B ILHR
b AN £ B R 4R PR AN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

2 Basis of Preparation (Continued)
(c) Going concern

At 31 December 2023, the Group had total borrowings

of RMB4,823,857,000, of which RMB2,797,627,000
were current borrowings repayable within 12 months,
trade payables, bills payables and other payables
of RMB2,7983,683,000 and contract liabilities of
RMB8,694,513,000, while the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents, pledged time deposit and restricted cash
amounted to RMB570,167,000, RMB145,711,000 and
RMB1,120,284,000, respectively.

Since 2021, the property market in the PRC has continued to
decline and there has been no sign of recovery. As a result,
the Group’s pre-sale performance continued to decline
during the year and subsequent to the year end, which had
an adverse impact on the Group’s cash flows and gave rise
to certain pressure on the Group’s liquidity.

All of the above events and conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of
financing in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to meet its financial obligation and
continue as a going concern. The Group has formulated
following plans and measures to mitigate the liquidity
pressure and to improve its cash flows:

(@ The Group will continue to implement plans and
measures to actively adjust the pre-sales and sales
activities to respond to market changes and capture
demands;

(b) The Group will closely monitor the progress of
construction of its property development projects
according to the sales plan and estimated cost to
complete to ensure that construction and related
payments are fulfilled, in particular, by utilising pre-
sale proceeds, and the relevant properties sold under
pre-sales arrangements are completed and are able
to deliver to the customers on schedule as planned
thereby allowing the Group to meet its other financial
obligations, including but not limited to, the repayment
of its outstanding borrowings, as and when they fall due;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

2. Basis of Preparation (Continued)
(c) Going concern (Continued)

(©

In November 2023, the Group successfully redeemed
its senior notes with an aggregate amount of
US$145,000,000, together with the accrued interest of
US$19,000,000, totalling US$164,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB1,165,828,000) due on 6 November 2023 with
the issuance of a new senior note on 6 November 2023
of the same amount which is due on 4 November 2024
(“2024 Senior Notes”). The Group will closely monitor its
liquidity position to satisfy the repayment of 2024 Senior
Notes by the due date and will also negotiate with the
bondholders for extension arrangement, as necessary;

Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
are subject to certain covenant requirements and the
Group will continue to monitor its compliance with these
covenant requirements. Should the Group be unable
to comply with any of these covenant requirements,
management of the Group will discuss and negotiate
with the respective lenders and will seek to obtain a
waiver of compliance with the covenant requirements
from the lenders or to agree with the respective lenders
to revise the terms and covenant requirements, if
needed; The Group will seek to repay its borrowings as
and when they fall due. Should the Group be unable to
meet these payment deadlines, it will also continue to
seek to extend or renew these borrowings that are due
for repayment, or seek for other alternative financing
and borrowings to finance the settlement of its existing
financial obligations and future operating expenditures;
and

The Group will reduce various non-essential operating
expenses; continue to strengthen cost control and take
further measures to reduce selling and marketing costs
and administrative expenses.

2028611 A - AEE K IHER
R2023F 11 AR MR ERE
/145,000,000 TTHELEE
38 [7] B 51 F) 819,000,000 T
4 #£164,000,000 3% 7T (& B
AR #1,165,828,0007T) * W
2023411 A6 HE 1T 2024
11 A48 R HRER @ SR FTE ST
ZE([2024FBEZEE]) - K&
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BT B HA B A E 82024 F 18
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EREZREGEAFEARBLTS
ZHE

AEBETRITREMERAE
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BB RAEITR R - I
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B B IRR M ()

2. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(c) Going concern (Continued)

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
cash flow projections prepared by management, which cover
a period of not less than twelve months from 31 December
2023. The directors of the Company are of the opinion that,
considering the anticipated cash flows generated from the
Group’s operation and its cost control measures; as well as
the above-mentioned plans and measures, the Group will
have sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due within the next twelve months
from 31 December 2023. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company consider that it is appropriate to prepare these
consolidated financial statements have been on a going
concemn basis.

Notwithstanding the above, a material uncertainty exists as to
whether the Group is able to achieve its plans and measures,
which incorporate assumptions about future events and
conditions that are subject to inherent uncertainties. Whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the Group’s ability to execute the following:

(@  Successful implementation of the plans and measures
to accelerate the pre-sales and sales activities, and
accelerate the collection of the relevant sales proceeds;

(b)  Successful completion and delivery of properties to
the customers on schedule such that restricted pre-
sale proceeds in the designated bank accounts can
be released to meet its other financial obligations as
planned;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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2. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

(c) Going concern (Continued)

©

Successful and timely extension and renewal of its
banking facilities and its bank and other borrowings,
including project loans and the Group’s senior notes,
upon maturity as well as obtaining new financing
from financial institutions; in particular the successful
negotiation with the bondholders to secure their
agreement to extend the repayment terms of the
Group’s 2024 Senior Notes maturing in November
2024. The Group’s ability to obtain these financing
depends on (1) current and ongoing regulatory
environments and how the relevant policies and
measures might affect the Group and/or the relevant
financial institutions; (2) whether the lenders of existing
borrowings agree the terms and conditions for such
extension or renewal; and (3) the Group’s ability to
continuously comply with the relevant terms and
conditions of its bank and other borrowings including
the senior notes;

Continuous compliance of the financial covenant
requirements of the related borrowings and, where
applicable, successful negotiation with the lenders
to obtain wavier of compliance with the covenant
requirements or to relax the covenant requirements of
these borrowings for the continuous compliance thereof
as and when needed;

Successful in obtaining other additional sources of
financing other than those mentioned above as and
when needed; and

Successful implementation of measures to reduce non-
essential operating expenses, and reduce selling and
marketing costs and administrative expenses.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above plans and
measures and operate as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying values of
the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets
and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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2. Basis of Preparation (Continued)
(d) Adoption of Amendments to HKAS 12

The amendments narrow the scope of initial recognition
exemption such that it does not apply to transactions that
give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences on
initial recognition such as leases and decommissioning
liabilities. The Group should recognise deferred tax
assets (to the extent that it is probable that they can be
utilised) and deferred tax liabilities at the beginning of the
earliest comparative period for all deductible and taxable
temporary differences associated with these transactions.
The cumulative effect of recognising these adjustments is
recognised in the opening balance of retained earnings, or
another component of equity, as appropriate.

By adopting the above amendments, the Group should
recognise the temporary difference araised from right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period.

The adoption of above amendments does not have any
impact on the consolidated statement of financial position
and consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
current period or any prior period and is not likely to affect
future periods, but it affects the disclosure of deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities as shown in Note 16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3 Financial Risk Management
3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@) Market risk

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group principally operates in the PRC with
most of the transactions denominated in RMB.
With minor operation in Hong Kong, the Group is
exposed to foreign exchange risk with respect to
the Hong Kong dollar (‘HK$”) and United States
dollar (“USD”). Foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transactions and recognised
assets and liabilities denominated in a currency
that is not the functional currency of the relevant
group entity. The exposure to foreign exchange
risk related to HKD is not material to the Group.

At 31 December 2023, if USD had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against the RMB with all
other variables held constant, profit before
income tax for the year then ended would have
been approximately RMB58,289,000 (2022:
RMB49,987,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result
of the foreign exchange difference on translation
of USD denominated cash and cash equivalents
and borrowings.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-
term borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at
variable rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
The Group closely monitors trend of interest rate
and its impact on the Group’s interest rate risk
exposure. The Group currently has not used any
interest rate swap arrangements but will consider
hedging interest rate risk should the need arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, bank and other
borrowings of the Group which were bearing
at floating rates amounted to approximately
RMB1,824,430,000 (2022: RMB3,555,136,000).
If interest rates on borrowings at floating rates had
been 50 basis points higher or lower with all other
variables held constant and without taking into
account interest capitalisation, interest charges
for the year ended 31 December 2023 would
have been RMB9,122,000 higher/lower (2022:
RMB17,776,000 higher/lower).

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash
and cash equivalents, pledged time deposits, restricted
cash, trade and other receivables, amounts due from
associates, joint ventures and non-controlling interests
included in the consolidated statement of financial

position, which represent the Group’s maximum

exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

Management has credit policies in place to monitor the
exposures to these credit risks on an ongoing basis.

()

Risk management

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, in order to
manage this risk, the Group’s bank deposits are
mainly deposited with reputable banks which
are all high-credit-quality financial institutions
incorporated in the PRC.

For the trade receivables arising from sales
of properties, the Group closely monitors the
collection of progress payments from customers
in accordance with payment schedule agreed
with customers. The Group has policies in place
to ensure that sales are made to purchasers with
an appropriate financial strength and appropriate
percentage of down payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

()

Risk management (Continued)

Meanwhile, the Group has the right to cancel the
contracts once repayment from the customers
is in default; it also has monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up actions are taken to recover
overdue balances. In addition, the Group regularly
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
trade receivables to ensure that adequate
impairment provisions are made for irrecoverable
amounts. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk with exposure spread
over a number of counterparties and customers.

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of the Group’s property units and
provided guarantees to secure obligations of such
purchasers for repayments. Detailed disclosure of
such guarantees is made in Note 28. If a purchase
defaults on the payment of its mortgage loan
during the guarantee period, the bank holding the
guarantee may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding principal of the loan and any interest
accrued thereon. Under such circumstances, the
Group is able to forfeit the customer’s deposit and
resell the property to recover any amounts paid by
the Group to the bank. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit
risk is mitigated.

For other receivables and amounts due from
associates and joint ventures, management of
the Group makes periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability based on credit quality of
the counterparties by taking into account their
financial position and credit history, and also
available reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. Management also regularly
reviews the recoverability of these receivables and
follow up the disputes or amounts overdue, if any.
The directors are of the opinion that the risk of
default by counter parties is low.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

()

Risk management (Continued)

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the asset as at the reporting
date with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. Especially
the following indicators are incorporated:

o external credit rating

° actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the counterparty’s
ability to meet its obligations

° actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the customer

° significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the customer,
including changes in the payment status of
customer in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

()

(i)

Risk management (Continued)

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor
is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment.

A default on a financial asset is when the
counterparty fails to make contractual payments
within 90 days of when they fall due.

The Group accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for expected credit losses
on a timely basis. In calculating the expected
credit loss rates, the Group considers historical
loss rates for each category of receivables and
adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data.

Impairment of financial assets

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
providing for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime
expected loss provision for all trade receivables
from third parties.

The Group overall considers the shared credit risk
characteristic and the days past due of the trade
receivables to measure the expected credit loss.
Based on management assessment, the expected
credit losses of the financial assets mentioned
above are not significant. The loss allowance
provision for these balances was not material as at
31 December 2023 (2022: same).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3 HEEREE(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BiEkEZ (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERRE)
(i)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) EHZEREE)
Other financial assets at amortised costs R AT R A H & R
BE
For other receivables and amounts due from b Lt LA R TR R R A
associates, joint ventures and related parties Anl s AEPENBEE TR
and financial guarantees provided to customers, T8 MR 75 P B IS ER
the measurement of the expected credit losses mE - BEMEERIENGE
has been grouped based on shared credit risk ERBEEREERRBREE X
characteristics and the days past due. The closing BHIREUET 4 - 722023
loss allowance provision for other receivables, F12A831H - HAaEUER
amounts due from associates and joint ventures 18 - EWER LS AR RE SN
as at 31 December 2023 reconcile to the opening 2 TNTE HA oK B 1B B 4 ER ER 1)
loss allowance for that provision as follows: ZEEZEBERBHEREN
T
Amounts
Amounts  due from
Other  due from joint
receivables associates  ventures Total
HitfEl  EwEE EkEE
FE  QRRE L¥RE @t
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR%Tr ARBTR AR%TR
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 20221818 »
2022 and 1 January 2023 2022128318 %
2023F1A1H = - - -
Provision for impairment of CREERERE
financial assets 41,552 6,467 8,126 56,145
At 31 December 2023 72023%F12831H 41,552 6,467 8,126 56,145

All of these financial assets are considered to
have low credit risk and thus the impairment
provision recognised was based on 12 months
expected losses. Management considered other
receivables, amount due from associates and joint
ventures to be low credit risk as they have a low
risk of default and the issuer has strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B P RRMEE (R)

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

Management of the Group aims to maintain sufficient
cash and cash equivalents or have available funding
through proceeds from pre-sale of properties and an
adequate amount of available financing including short-
term and long-term borrowings and obtaining additional
funding from shareholders. Due to the dynamic nature
of the underlying businesses, the Group maintains
flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate amount of
cash and cash equivalents and through having available
sources of financing.

The Group has a number of alternative plans to mitigate
the potential impacts on anticipated cash flows should
there be significant adverse changes in economic
environment. These include reducing land acquisition,
adjusting project development timetable to adapt
the changing local real estate market environment,
implementing cost control measures, promotion of
sales of completed properties, accelerating sales with
more flexible pricing and seeking joint venture partners
to develop projects. The Group will pursue such options
basing on its assessment of relevant future costs and
benefits. The directors consider that the Group will be
able to maintain sufficient financial resources to meet its
operation needs.

The table below sets out the Group’s financial liabilities
by relevant maturity grouping at each balance sheet
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

PR E

=32 (&

3.1 Eﬁ%ﬂ[@?l?(ma

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) FBESRE(E)
On  Lessthan Over
demand 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5years Total
BER 15/ 122F 2255 BIB5F @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETR ARETrn AR%TR AR%Tx ARETn AR%Tx
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12831H
Borrowings R - 3,161,430 1,970,248 268,719 - 5,400,397
Trade payables, bills payablesand ~ Z ZENFUE - BNZEE R
other payables (excluding payroll HifENZE  TeEkE
payable and other taxes payable)  EE REMENTIE - 2,704,044 = = - 2,704,044
Amounts due to associates R E AT IE 736,644 - - - - 736,644
Amounts due to joint ventures EREERERT 532,942 - - - - 532,942
Amounts due to non-controlling FERT IR RS /TAIE
interests 1,918,756 - - - - 1,918,756
Lease liabilities HEAR - 11,939 11,913 33,828 12,193 69,873
3,188,342 5,877,413 1,982,161 302,547 12,193 11,362,656
On Less than Over
demand 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years Total
BEX 1ER 1506 2F5E HBR5F @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT AR®TR ARETT ARETRT ARET:H
At 31 December 2022 R2022F12831H
Borrowings E& - 3258112 2,849,894 1,395,764 - 7,503,770
Trade payables, bils payables and ~ ZZER B - BNEE R
other payables (excluding payroll HAENEIE - TEEE
payable and other taxes payable) ¥ ﬁ&HW‘&‘ 58 - 3,976,671 - - - 3,976,671
Amounts due to associates FERE & A 653,711 - - - - 653,711
Amounts due to joint ventures ERE “ﬁ% 680,499 - - - - 680,499
Amounts due to non-controlling A Wéﬁnmlﬁ
interests 1,465,986 = = = = 1,465,986
Lease liabilities HEARE - 14,152 12,254 34,435 23,291 84,132
2,800,196 7,248,935 2,862,148 1,430,199 23,291 14,364,769
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group also provides guarantees to secure
repayment obligations of certain purchasers of the
Group’s property units and the principal of borrowings
of the joint ventures, associates and third parties, which
will have contractual cash flows only if the guaranteed
purchasers, joint ventures, associates or third parties
default the repayment (Note 28).

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for the owner and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt. Except for the compliance of certain financial
covenants for maintaining the Group’s banking facilities
and borrowings, the Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. The management monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio of the Group. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings, amounts due to third
parties, amounts due to associates and joint ventures and
non-controlling interests and lease liabilities less cash and
cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus
net debt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3 HEEKREE(E)

3.2 Capital risk management (Continued) 3.2 EXREMEE (&)

As at 31 December

M12A831H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETF T
Borrowings (Note 22) fER(HI7E22) 4,823,857 6,766,204
Amounts due to associates (Note 31) FEBE A T TR (M5E31) 736,644 653,711
Amounts due to joint ventures (Note 31) & &AM ESD) 532,942 680,499
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FET IEIERR M 25 TR H
(Note 25) (Mi5E25) 1,918,756 1,465,986
Lease liabilities (Note 13) HEBE(HES) 56,218 65,983
Total borrowings ez 8,068,417 9,632,383
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 19) B ReRIReEEY
(Mi5E19) (570,167) (1,172,191)
Net debt B 55 7,498,250 8,460,192
Total equity AR 11,348,186 11,127,546
Total capital BEARLBRE 18,846,436 19,587,738
Gearing ratio BEAMGLE 39.8% 43.1%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

(a)

Fair value hierarchy

This note explains the judgements and estimates made
in determining the fair values of investment properties
that are recognised and measured at fair value in
the consolidated financial statements. To provide an
indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its non-
financial assets into the three levels prescribed under
the accounting standards.

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3 M%J_L eI (1)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) D REEMF ()
(@) Fair value hierarchy (Continued) (a) ARBEEERE)

The table below analyses the Group’s financial and non
financial instruments carried at fair value by level of the
inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair

TRAAEERAABEIIRD
CREFEHMIARAENAE
BERTAMMETEN R AERER

value: TEH DA -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1R F28% 3K #et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR TT ARBTT ARBT T
At 31 December 2023 7A2023%F12H31H
Investment properties B - - 153,000 153,000
At 31 December 2022 7A2022412H31H
Financial assets at FVPL EBEARnBEIFEEEEY
FFAEENEREE
— Listed shares — &G 3,952 - - 3,952
Investment properties LEYE - - 183,020 183,020

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end
of the reporting period.

There were no transfers among levels 1, 2 and 3 for

recurring fair value measurements during the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: same).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(b)

()

Valuation techniques used to determine level 3
fair values

The directors determine a property’s value within a
range of reasonable fair value estimates. Fair values
of the Group’s completed investment properties are
derived using the income capitalisation approach. This
valuation method takes into account the net rental
income of a property derived from its existing leases
and/or achievable in the existing market with due
allowance for the reversionary income potential of the
leases, which have been then capitalised to determine
the fair value at an appropriate capitalisation rate.

All resulting fair value estimates for investment
properties are included in level 3.

Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3)

Detailed disclosures of the changes in level 3 items
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 for
recurring fair value measurements are disclosed below.

3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued) 3

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(d) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

1%H% S (48)
3 AABEMET(E)
(d FEBABBEREAAA
RS

BEEH

The following table summarises the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable inputs
used in recurring level 3 fair value measurements. See (b)

TREGREEEFEIR DA BER
EFEANERTITERG AR
BEONE{ER - ARAMRAHM

above for the valuation techniques adopted.

B F2HLEX () °

Fair value at 31 December

M2A31BMAREE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR¥ETT
Investment properties wEWE 153,000 183,020

Range of unobservable inputs
As at 31 December

R2AN BT BEGARBHNEE

Properties status Unobservable inputs 2023 2022
PEMR FAEREARE
Investment properties Capitalisation rate 5.25% 5.25%
REMHE B &
Monthly rental
(RMB/sg.m./month) 36-103 77-105
A&
(AR¥FFHXK/RB)
Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value: A B RE ABBREA R EED

—  The higher capitalisation rate, the lower the fair

value;

= The higher monthly rental, the higher the fair value. i
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(d)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value
(Continued)

Based on the valuation results, a fair value loss
on investment properties of RMB30,020,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

The Group’s investment properties were valued by an
independent professionally qualified valuer, Cushman &
Wakefield, who holds a recognised relevant professional
qualification and has recent experience in the locations
and segments of the investment properties valued. For
all investment properties, their current use equates to
the highest and best use.

The Group’s finance department has a team to review
the valuations performed by the independent valuer for
financial reporting purposes. This team reports directly
to the executive directors. Discussion of valuation
processes and results are held amongst the executive
directors, the valuation team and the valuer at least
once every six months for the Group’s interim and
annual reporting process.

At each reporting period end, the finance department:

° Verifies all major inputs to the independent
valuation report;

° Assess property valuations movements when
compared to the prior period valuation report; and

. Holds discussions with the independent valuer.
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3 Financial Risk Management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(e) Leasing arrangements
Certain investment properties are leased to tenants
under long term operating leases with rentals payable
monthly. Minimum lease payments receivable on leases
of investment properties are disclosed in Note 30(b).

The period of leases whereby the Group leases out its
investment properties under operating leases ranged
from 1 year to 5 years.

Critical Accounting Estimates and

Judgements

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the consolidated
financial statements are evaluated and based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates
and assumptions that may have a significant effect on the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(@) Revenue recognition on properties sold

Judgement on recognition method

The Group recognises revenue from sales of properties at a
point in time when the buyer obtains control of the completed
property. The Group may not change or substitute the
property unit or redirect the property unit for another use
due to the contractual restrictions with the customer and
thus the property unit does not have an alternative use to
the Group. Whether there is an enforceable right to payment
depends on the terms of sales contract (by written or verbal)
and the interpretation of the applicable laws that apply to the
contract. Such determination requires the use of judgements
interpretation.

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2023

3

4

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

M%WAMEQM)
D EEME ()
@ BERH
ETRAMERRBELEE
1A MR & 5 R R T R
Ao BRMERE N RIERKA
B ERHFE00) -

it ARERBEEEEHE
HEEMENHERN F15ES
o

TR R

%ﬁ%ﬁ/—\ﬁﬁ%iﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁé)ﬂE’Mﬁ%&%ﬂﬁﬁﬁ
ARBEEREEAR(BRREHE
T?ﬁ?ﬁﬁ’*\ﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁ,ﬁﬁElfﬁ%ﬁl)igﬁaﬂﬁ
REBERKEL A RRR - BHEE
A RO SERBBERER - T Xl
ARERBHN MEMBRFEAYEERAE
MWRAEELEERTEN G RERE

(a) EEMRAWNZEHER

HI BRI R
REBRETERISERIYEZEHIEN
BB ERIHE M R M et - ARNER
FZRENAHRE  ARETSEHRHK
BHMESL - HREAM B mEYE
EITENER - Rty EMH AR EE
RS EZEKAE - A - THREE
BARE AR H I TN BURNIEE S
#(EEH O WIRKERRZ AR
HERERIRE - ZEHEFIELH
B RO AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B P RRMEE (R)

4 Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements (Continued)

(@

Revenue recognition on properties sold
(Continued)

Judgement on recognition point

Management has also made judgement on when control of
properties are transferred to customers. Control of properties
are transferred to customer upon which the construction
of relevant properties has been completed and upon which
the properties has been handed over to the customers, the
Group has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable, usually all considerations received
before handover of the properties to customers.

The judgement on the right to payment associated with
the property sales transaction and the transfer of control of
properties would affect the Group’s profit for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 and the carrying value of
completed properties held for sale.

Land appreciation tax

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in the PRC and
it is one of the main components of the Group’s tax provision,
and is levied on the sale of properties at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% based on the appreciation of land
value. The Group estimates the provision for LAT in relation
to the sales of properties based on the allocation of revenue
and cost of sales among different property types and the
estimated total sales of properties less total deductible
expenditures of the relevant property. This estimation
incorporated judgement around classification of property
types, and the application of deductibles, which includes
lease payments for land use rights, property development
costs, borrowing costs and other development expenditures,
based on management’s understanding and interpretation of
the relevant tax rules and regulations.

However, the implementation and settlement of these taxes
varies among various tax jurisdictions in cities of the PRC,
and the Group’s land appreciation taxes calculation and
payments are subject to finalisation with local tax authorities
in the PRC. The final tax outcome could be different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, and these differences
will impact the income tax expense and deferred income
tax provisions in the periods in which such taxes have been
finalised with local tax authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B B IRR M ()

4 Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements (Continued)

(©

Income tax and deferred income tax

Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises tax
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on a single
best estimate of the most likely outcome approach. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such difference will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers to be probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences or tax
losses can be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation
may be different.

Provision for impairment of properties under
development and completed properties held
for sale

The Group assesses the carrying amounts of properties
under development and completed properties held for
sale according to their net realisable value based on the
realisability of these properties, taking into account estimated
costs to completion based on past experience (properties
under development only), variable selling expenses and
estimated net sales value based on prevailing market
conditions. Provision is made when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be
realised. The assessment requires the use of judgement and
estimates.
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5 Revenue from Contracts With Customers

and Segment Information

The Executive Directors of the Company have been identified as
the chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”). Management
determines the operating segments based on the Group’s internal
reports, which are then submitted to the CODM for performance
assessment and resources allocation.

The Executive Directors assess the performance of the operating
segment based on a measure of profit before income tax and
regard these to be only one operating segment — property
development. Accordingly, segment disclosures are not presented.
No geographical segment analysis is presented as the majority
of the assets and operation of the Group are located in the PRC,
which is considered as one geographical location in an economic
environment with similar risk and returns.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there was no
transaction with a single external customer that amounted to 10%
or more of the Group’s revenue.

The revenue from contracts with customers recognised during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are sales of properties
in the PRC, all of which were recognised at a point in time.

The revenue from external parties is derived from numerous
external customers and the revenue reported to the Executive
Directors is measured in a manner consistent with that in the
consolidated financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

5 Revenue from Contracts With Customers 5 REZEFSHNWNERDIE

=

and Segment Information (Continued) (&)
(a) Details of contract liabilities (@ BXHNEEFE
As at 31 December
M2A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TT ARETT
Contract liabilities related to sales of HYEHERANEHNERE

properties (Note) (FF&E)

8,694,513 21,294,063

Note: As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, contract liabilities
represent advanced payments received from customers
for properties that have not yet been transferred to the
customers. Decreased in contract liabilities during the
year ended 31 December 2023 represents recognition of
advanced payments received from customers to revenue.

(b) Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities
The following table shows the revenue recognised during the
year ended 31 December 2023 related to carried-forward
contract liabilities.

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract
liabilities balance at the beginning of the year:

BiaE © 20234 22022612 A31H » &
HEBEERHARBERETERFNY
¥MEFWEBRELMR - BHE
2023%F 12 A31H L FEHMALHE
ERLIEERBREPHEZEK
i

HENaEAENC RN

TREINEZE2023F 12431 HILFE
HETRRELE SN B EMBENIK

3z
= o
g

FRAA KR B DB -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREETFT
Sales of properties YIEHE 16,924,525 8,339,274
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

5 Revenue from Contracts With Customers

5 REFFENNKZERDEE

and Segment Information (Continued)
() Unsatisfied contracts related to sales of
properties

#HE&E)
() ERYEFEERBHABITEN

As at 31 December

#W12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F T AREETIT
Sales of properties MEHE
Expected to be recognised TR T HERR
— Within one year ——&FR 11,260,012 17,040,763
— After one year ——%F1% 151,341 8,877,102
11,411,353 25,917,865

(d) Assets recognised from costs to fulfill a
contract
In addition to the contract balances disclosed above, the
Group has also recognised sales commission as an asset
in relation to costs to fulfill the contracts with customers.
This is presented within trade and other receivables and
prepayments in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

(d) BEAKRARERNEE

B EXFIEA DRI - ARETE
HRAHEMERERBETEEPANZ
RANEVEE © LEIRE ISR A
B 5 I H 8RR A R TR TR T
o

As at 31 December

M12831H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Sales commission recognised from costs BB AEE K AP RER S
incurred to fulfill a contract (Note 18) HEMe (MIFE18) 103,626 131,365
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5 Revenue from Contracts With Customers

and Segment Information (Continued)
(e) Accounting policies on revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivables for the sales of properties in the PRC
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.

Sales of properties

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset
is transferred to the purchaser. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control
of the asset may transfer over time or at a point in time.
Control of the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

o Provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the purchaser; or

o Creates and enhances an asset that the purchaser
controls as the Group performs;

o Does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

For property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the purchaser obtains the
physical possession or the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effect of a financing
component if it is significant.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

6 Expenses by Nature 6 EMEITHEEXZ
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31BLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREEFIT
Cost of properties sold — including EEVEXT(BIERE

construction cost, land cost, capitalised KA~ EHIAAR « EARE

interest expenses FERZ) 14,430,210 9,784,004
Provision for impairment of properties R MERBFELER

under development and completed B TR RERE

properties held for sale 670,566 71,414
Other taxes and surcharges BB KM NE 89,654 59,076
Employee benefit expenses (Note 7) 1B B @ FZ (fFEE7) 202,188 320,598
Management and consulting services fee B NEEARTEE (Fis@)

(Note (a)) 58,037 46,125
Donation b= 237 966
Advertising and promotion expenses BEENMHERS 119,191 192,261
Office expenses PANER 62,340 132,116
Depreciation on property, plant and M WE - mER

equipment and right-of-use assets (Note 12) FREEETE (MFE12) 26,836 35,598
Entertainment expenses EEBERY 26,913 31,656
Expenses related to short-term and R REEBEHEERA

low-value leases 3,704 4,645
Recruitment fee REEEH 88 131
Motor vehicle expenses HEEA 5,446 3,213
Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR = B

— Audit services —EiT AR 3,000 4,750

— Non-audit services —IEE AR = 160
Legal and professional service fees FEEMEERGER 24,898 60,436
Travelling and transportation expenses ERERBEA 6,363 8,245
Sales commission HERE 139,039 57,879
Others Hith 1,849 10,442
Total cost of sales, selling and marketing THE AR - HE R &R

expenses and general and administrative LA R — R R AT 2

expenses 15,870,559 10,823,715

fiiE(e) - 2 RIRAE TIFERE SRR R E
=HXNERMERBRENEER
HHARBENER -

Note (a): The amounts represent the fees paid to certain non-
controlling interests shareholders and third parties in relation
to the management and consulting services provided by them
for the property development projects.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 7 EERINBEX(SIEEEEHE)
Directors’ Emoluments)

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BHLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARBFT
Wages, salaries and other benefits I% - e hEmEH 174,890 278,963
Pension costs — statutory pension BRERA —ETERINE 27,298 41,635
202,188 320,598
Pensions scheme - statutory pension BREFE - ZERKE
Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required AEERTEKBARIESAS IS TR
to participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme FERREENTERETRINGE - AEER
administrated and operated by the local municipal government. WHRBINEARE TREEHFEBE LEHE
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which are IR R IR - LAAME B R IRE IR
calculated on certain percentage of the employee salary to the B o
scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.
The Group recognises employee benefit expenses in the following REERGEE2ERERERATERNNE
categories in the consolidated statement of comprehensive SRMFX
income:

Year ended 31 December

BZE12831HLLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAT 68,088 98,756
General and administrative expenses —RR R ITERBE 134,100 221,842
202,188 320,598
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 7 EEEIHEX(EEEEHS)
Directors’ Emoluments) (Continued) (&
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEME
The remuneration of the directors of the Company are AAREEHFMOT ¢
presented as below:

~—

(i) For the year ended 31 December 2023 () EZE2023F12831HILEE

Other
emoluments
paid or
receivable in
respect of
director's other
services in
Employer's connection
contribution with the
Allowance ~ toaretirement  management
Discretionary and benefit benefit  of the affairs of
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonuses inkind scheme the Group Total
kEEER
ERALH
SHNERE
{52150 ST e 1]
ESte -4 B RERL ZERENAE BRHENGR Hfthe it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR  ARETR AR#TR  ARETR ARHTR ARETT

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HENBE2AMALER

Executive directors Higs

Mr, LuiMing EEEE - 1,533 - - 5 - 1,584
M, Lui Chi Chung Jmmy REILE - 1433 - - 160 - 1,593
M, Lui din Ling BERRE - 1,433 - - 160 - 1,593
Non-executive directors FirES

Mr, Lui Wing Nam AL - 674 - - - - 674
. Lui Wing Mau BAREE - 674 - - - - 674

Independent non-executive directors BUFAES

. Chan Pak Hung (Note ) RIEW £ (15 0 - 5 . - - 20
. Guo Shaomu (Note ) B A 275 - - 5 - - o5
Ms. Tang Lo Ner Bafat 193 - - = . - 193
. Wong Tung Yuen (Note i) TRRRE (M) 9 - - = - - 9
Tod @t 679 5741 - - an - 6,797
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 7 EEFEFBEX(BIEESHD)
Directors’ Emoluments) (Continued)
(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

(ii)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(%8

,I_\_//

@@ E=M< (&)
(i) EZE2022F12A31HLEFE

QOther
emoluments
paid or
receivable in
respect of
director's other
sevicesin
Employer's connection
contrioution with the
Alowance ~ toarefirement  management
Discrefionary and benefit benefit  of the affairs of
Name of directors Fees Salaries honuses inkind scheme the Group Total
EEES)
]
EROARE
EEEER  BREEL
e R 5 MERD ZMREOME  RAGHOER Aftie @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETRL ARETT ARETRL ARETT ARETT ARETT
For the year ended 31 December 2022 HENRF2RMALER
Executive directors HrEs
Mr. Lui Ming Bk - 1,647 - - 138 - 1,785
Mr, Lui Chi Chung Jimmy AEEAE - 1,544 - - 138 - 1682
M. Lui Jin Ling BERnE - 1,044 - - 138 - 1,682
Non-executive directors FHES
M, Lui Wing Nam BkERE - 746 - - - - 746
Mr,Lui Wing Mau BKEE - 74 - - - - 14
Independent non-executive directors BukHnEs
. Chan Pak Hung (Nofe i) RIEELA (R 13 - - - - - 173
. Wan Ho Yin (Note ) BERRE (M) K = = = = £ 9
Mr. Guo Shaomu Phhks 30 - - - - - 30
Ms. Tang Lo Ner LEEIeY 0 - - - - - 20
Totel it 72 6,227 - - 44 - 7353
Notes: k=3
()  Mr. Guo Shaomu resigned as the Company’s ) EBLHEER2023F12A1H
independent non-executive director on 1 December BEARBINBIIERITE
2023. E
(i)  Mr. Wong Tung Yuen was appointed as the (i) FERIRLENR2023F12A1H
Company’s independent non-executive director on 1 EZE AR RINEIERIT
December 2023. £
(i) Mr. Chan Pak Hung was appointed as the (i) FRIEMBIEEMR2022F2AH11H
Company’s independent non-executive director on BZE AR BINENIERIT
11 February 2022. BFo
(v)  Mr. Wan Ho Yin resigned as the Company’s (iv) REARFLER2022F2A811H

independent non-executive director on 11 February

2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including
Directors’ Emoluments) (Continued)

(b)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any
directors in respect of their other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiaries’ undertaking for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: same).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No payment was made to any former employers of the
directors for making available the services of them as a
director of the Company during the year 31 December 2023
(2022: same).

Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no other loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favor of the directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: same).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 31, no significant transactions,
arrangements, and contracts in relations to the Group’s
business to which the Company was a party and in which
a director of the Company has a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: same).

7 &

(&

(b)

SEANFAX(BREEH)
)
ERRMENRBERER

HZE2023F12A31HILFE » TAE
EMEREEARFNEMBARER
9 L fth BR 75 1 JE 32 1<) sk FE M (A 3R AR A8
F(20224F : 4B[R) °

BERHEEREMOAE=S
RERE

B E20235F12 A31 A ILFE - #ER®
EERTARQRERMEESNEMRAT
B £ ZAHEAFIAE (20224 « #HF) °

ﬁ@%%% EEEFIEE
HBEEERAZEANE
f%k HUBRREMRZNE
#
HZE2023F12A31BIEFE » #EE
BE  EERHMEEREEEERES
Zm AMe] LA REMER - HUER
B A3z 5 (20224 : #8E]) o

EERRS - KFHREHTH
EPN &

BRI S AT ER B 51 - REE 20234
12 A31 B L4 B R A (T 5 7 30 4
BEADTEILZRAREEBT 5B
BAMAATNEFEEXMEEAEA
W2 X5 - RHERAK(2022F : 4
)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

7 Employee Benefit Expenses (Including 7 EEEFBEX(BIEESEHE)
Directors’ Emoluments) (Continued) (,,%'-E)
(f) Five highest paid individuals  ERESHMMAL
There are three directors’ emoluments included in the five @zi2023¢12ﬂ S1THLFE - KEE
individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group AREEBHMA LBTE=BE = H
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: there are three (2022%F : "EBRAAESHFMALE
directors’ emoluments included in the five individuals whose EZRZEFHM) - HZ=2023F12H31
emoluments were the highest in the Group). The emoluments HIEFE B T28(2022F : 2
payable to the remaining 2 (2022: 2) individuals during the EZIONTHIFBNT -
year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEFE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREETIT
Wages, salaries and other benefits TE  #FekAMER 3,392 3,918
Pension costs - statutory pension RARERAER—EFRKRE 33 31
3,425 3,949
The emoluments of these remaining individuals of the Group KEEZEHRTALT ZHFHHBEDT -
fell within the following bands:
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A31ALEFE
2023 2022
Number of Number of
individual individual
AE A&
Annual emolument bands: FENEE -
- HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 —1,500,001/87tE
2,000,000/ 7T 2 =
- HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 —2,000,001/ 87L&
2,500,000/ 7T = 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

Other Income and Other Gains, Net 8 H AR HA s FER
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARETTT
Fair value gains/(losses) of financial assets at BAREEEBEZEETA

fair value through profit or loss — listed BEaemEEAREE

trading securities Wz (B1B) — LR ZEFH 239 (26,011)
(Losses)/gains on disposal of property, plant HEME  BE MERED

and equipment (E518) Wz (5,662) 97
(Loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARM(ER),

(Note 27) Wz (M 5E27) (13,104) 9,406
Gain on termination of leases RIS R 151 8,562
Income arising from withdrawal of BETHEQAREERY

certain associates’ projects FrE £/ A - 21,635
Income arising from withdrawal of a joint BETCEEBERIMEEN

venture’s project WA - 10,966
Management and consulting service B2 REEARBSUA (Mita)

income (Note a) 20,851 18,438
Rental income HalwA 20,146 4,173
Others i 4,437 (1,509)

27,058 45,757

Note (a): The amount mainly represents the management and

Mizt(e) : ZFR T R EFREBAA MEH

consulting services provided to the Group’s joint ventures and
associates in relation to the property development projects.

FREBLSBLERMEATNEE
REHRTS -

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

9 Finance Costs, Net

9 BERAFE

Year ended 31 December

BZE12831HLLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TRT AREFTT
Finance income BB WA
— Interest income from bank deposits —IRI T B (12,738) (32,421)
(12,738) (32,421)
Finance costs BEERAR
- Bank and other borrowings —IRIT REMIER 535,108 689,568
— Amounts due to associates and a joint —ENBERARIREE
venture ¥R 13,098 24,712
— Amounts due to non-controlling interests — JERT IR AR i 2 FOE 757 6,374
— Lease liabilities (Note 13) —HEaE(MFE13) 4,558 5,783
— Less: capitalised interest — : BAEFE (461,396) (575,997)
92,125 150,440
Finance costs, net BhE A F R 79,387 118,019
10 Income Tax Expenses 10 FriS®ipx
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
Current income tax: BNERAFT1S A -
— PRC corporate income tax — M 534,196 263,356
— PRC land appreciation tax — R B i (E R 86,533 142,826
620,729 406,182
Deferred income tax (Note 16) EIEFTSHE(HRE16) 206,965 88,061
827,694 494,233
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

10 Income Tax Expenses (Continued)
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical
amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate
applicable to profit/loss of the consolidated entities as follows:

10 FriE%ifas (&)
AR EBAFENBB BN EARA R
FIT/ FSIRRTE A B DO B 175
RS - BRT :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBETTT
Profit before income tax P8 EiAE 7 1,546,137 1,075,388
Adijust for share of results of joint ventures and ~ FLET 2 H1EA S0 % LIS
associates reported net of tax NRIZEEEFAR(FORTIER) 24,029 (79,017)
1,570,166 996,371
Tax calculated at applicable corporate LEATEMSHBERTERN
income tax rate FHTE 454,378 307,754
Effect of income not subject to tax BERBRSHB AN E (31) (414)
Effect of expenses not deductible AT E R 2 5,402 6,465
Effect of tax losses not recognised RERBIELEFTSHEER
as deferred income tax assets HMEEENTE 263,785 49,112
PRC land appreciation tax deductible for AIHIFTAS 351 B AR B+ 3 (E 7Y
income tax purpose (21,633) (85,707)
Effect of withholding tax on undistributed RO ERFTENBFE
profits 39,260 24,197
Corporate income tax ERSH 741,161 351,407
PRC land appreciation tax B+ IR (E R 86,533 142,826
827,694 494,233
PRC Corporate Income Tax RE TSR

REBEF T EEB L LA RNAEHERT
RIBEABARBLE  2BLENHBEES
B ET RN B E AR R M E

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations
in the PRC has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the
estimated assessable profits for the year, based on the existing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

RSP EARKMBEEFAETOEN (15
F/HE] - IR ER N RE R RATE
R EFEHRIRER265% ©

The corporate income tax rate applicable to the group entities
located in Mainland China is 25% according to the Corporate
Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China (the “CIT
Law”).
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10 Income Tax Expenses (Continued)

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

Pursuant to the requirements in relation to LAT in the PRC, all
income from the sale or transfer of state-owned land use rights,
building and their attached facilities in the PRC is subject to LAT
at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% of the appreciation
value, with an exemption provided for sales of ordinary residential
properties if their appreciation values do not exceed 20% of the
sum of the total deductible items.

The Group has made provision of LAT for sales of properties
according to the aforementioned progressive rate.

Overseas income tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands and, is exempted from Cayman Islands
income tax. The Company’s direct subsidiary in the BVI was
incorporated under the BVI Business Companies Act of the BVI
and is exempted from BVI income tax. The Group’s subsidiaries in
Hong Kong are subject to profits tax at the rate of 16.5%.

PRC withholding tax

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued on 6
December 2017, dividends distributed from the profits generated
by the PRC companies after 1 January 2008 to their foreign
investors shall be subject to this withholding income tax of 10%, a
lower 5% withholding tax rate may be applied when the immediate
holding companies of the PRC subsidiaries are incorporated
in Hong Kong and fulfill the requirements to the tax treaty
arrangements between the PRC and Hong Kong.

On 21 December 2020 and 2 June 2023, the immediate holding
companies of the PRC subsidiaries have obtained the Certificate
of Resident Status from the Inland Revenue Department and fulffill
the requirements to the tax treaty arrangements between the PRC
and Hong Kong. Therefore, a lower 5% withholding tax rate shall
be applied to dividend distribution thereafter.

As at 31 December 2023, deferred income tax liabilities of
approximately RMB172,785,000 (2022: RMB133,525,000) have
been provided for at applicable tax rate 5% (2022: 5%) in respect
of temporary differences attributable to undistributed profits of the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

10 FriSHiR s (&)

B £ it 3R AR ([ £ it 3R {ER )
RIERE I EDRRIARE - PR 8
SR EEA L ERE - B R
SR HE R M AR IR B FE A I 30% ZE60% T
%7 REBEBN DI RER - HBETE
1B20% 0PI HIRIE B M2 R EEME Y
E A TR -

REBERE LR ZERXHEHEMERN
THIRET -

BIMNTEH
AAFRAS BB RIEFN SR B A AER
R BRHEBRAT - WRHEENHE
BBFEH - FATAREBEBABRBNE
EHBARDRELBRBREE 2 HBE
BREBHEARDEIMRY - LERRH
MEBEBRBBAHEH - AEEREBN
P B R 16.5% OB SR B FIS Bt =

R EIFEINHE
RIEFR2017F 12 A6 BB EMERE
EHIEG) - ©2008F1 B181% - LAFEAT]
ELRGEFNMEGIMEEE D IRMR S IEE
10% R B R EAMTEHFTSH - W BB A
AN EEERARERSTIMA L RFEH
PR B MBI E - A
5% R BRIKTENFLE o

2020512 21 H &2023F6 21 + #E
WEBARMEEZERARCESHERED
MERGHERS  THFATPEHEEBTL
ISR L HERIRE » BEUL - BERARE
DR EFRABIERNS%TEIIFE -

720235128318 * HHARHE172,785,000
TC(2022%F + AR¥133,525,0007T) HYIEE
IS aBEERARaREMBARERDIE
o ) FE (R B B = RRIR B A T R 5% (20224 -
5% )FHR R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

11 Earnings Per Share

(@)

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
respective years.

11 BREF
(a) &R
BRERBRIZRNARES AEERET
BRUASFEDBITL BARM INE 92

o
Al

Year ended 31 December

BZE12AB1ALEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFT
Profit attributable to owners of the BEFERNARRER A
Company during the years (RMB’000) R (ARETT) 147,972 121,886
Weighted average number of ordinary BTSRRI T
shares in issue (in thousand) (Fh%) 1,621,799 1,625,345
Basic earnings per share (RMB) BREREF(ARE) 0.09 0.07
Diluted (b) #=H

The Company did not have any potential dilutive shares
outstanding during the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022. Accordingly, diluted earnings per share is the same as

the basic earnings per share.

B Z=2023% 202212 A31 A I FE
AARWEARBEEERDTBE
Gh o E - SRREES R T REREAR
FIAER -
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12 Property, Plant and Equipment

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

12 Y% - BERRZE

Computer
Right-of use Leasehold and office Motor
assets improvement equipment vehicles Total
HEWE ERR
EREEE %1 WARE AE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR%TR AR¥TR AR®TRT AR%TR
At 31 December 2022 R2022512831H
Cost [D#N 107,504 26,200 39,598 12,660 185,962
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (40,676) (8,733) (22,336) (8,252) (79,997)
Net book amount FEFE 66,828 17,467 17,262 4,408 105,965
Year ended 31 December 2023  #Z2023%5128318
LEE
Opening net book amount HBREFE 66,828 17,467 17,262 4,408 105,965
Additions = 1,037 - 1,921 44 3,002
Disposals e (2,401) (4,583) (2,783) (1,373) (11,140)
Depreciation e (11,689) (6,435) (7,863) (849) (26,836)
Closing net book amount HAREERE 53,775 6,449 8,537 2,230 70,991
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12/831A
Cost A 65,197 15,283 25,641 7,347 113,468
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (11,422) (13,338) (12,600) (5,117) (42,477)
Net book amount REFAE 53,775 1,945 13,041 2,230 70,991
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

12 Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 12 #1% - BERHE (&)

Computer
Right-of use Leasehold and office Motor
assets  improvement equipment vehicles Total
HEME )4
ERERE £ PRRME AE @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE  ARETR ARETT ARETR AR%T:

At 31 December 2021 R2021512831H
Cost BAR 137,773 34,564 33,759 12,407 218,503
Accumulated depreciation ZEHE (46,411) (11,718) (15,099) (6,336) (79,564)
Net book amount FEFE 91,362 22,846 18,660 6,071 138,939
Year ended 31 December 2022  #%2022F12831H
LEE
Opening net book amount HEmEFE 91,362 22,846 18,660 6,071 138,939
Additions NE 66,163 2,255 6,723 892 76,033
Disposals HE (73,203) - 21) (185) (73,409)
Depreciation e (17,494) (7,634) (8,100) (2,370) (35,598)
Closing net book amount HAREmFE 66,828 17,467 17,262 4,408 105,965
At 31 December 2022 R2022612831H
Cost &N 107,504 26,200 39,598 12,660 185,962
Accumulated depreciation REtiE (40,676) (8,733 (22,336) (8,252) (79,997)
Net book amount REFE 66,828 17,467 17,262 4,408 105,965
Depreciation expenses has been charged in the following MEBRENGAZERERIEATER
categories in the consolidated statement of comprehensive B
income:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BLELEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETT
Cost of sales SHERAR 418 112
Selling and marketing expenses THENZHEAT 669 1,261
Administrative expenses 1TBAX 25,749 34,225
26,836 35,598
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

13 Leases

(i)

(i)

Amount recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

13 #HE

(i)

RS M HIRR REZN T

FAMBHRRARBER N EEERHZ
e K

As at 31 December

M12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Properties S 53,775 66,828
Lease liabilities HESE
— Non-current —JERE 48,200 56,422
- Current —nE 8,018 9,561
Total lease liabilities HESBRE 56,218 65,983

Amount recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income shows
the following amounts relating to leases:

e HWmRERN T

RATEWERER NMIRBEERRZ

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETT

Expenses related to short-term and FRRAMEEEREEZR
low-value leases (Note 6) (K7x6) 3,704 4,645

Depreciation charges of right-of-use FREEETEEZER

assets (Note 12) (FF3E12) 11,689 17,494
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 9) A E & &F)5 2 A (M:19) 4,558 5,783

Amount recognised in the consolidated
statement of cash flows

During the year ended 31 December 2023, cash outflows
relating to leases, including short-term and low value leases,
amounted to RMB16,512,000 (2022: RMB25,130,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

14 Investment Properties

14 REWE

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLEEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETF T
Opening net book amount EAfIERE HE 183,020 183,020
Fair value loss N EEEE (30,020) -
Closing net book amount HREREDFE 153,000 183,020

15 BRAEIRIETIRIIIRE
() AEZREIIERNIRE

15 Investments Accounted for Using the
Equity Method
(@ Investments accounted for using the equity
method
()  The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement () REREMBARZERBRAE
of financial position as “Investments accounted for using HRPIIRMRE MBI
the equity method” are as follows:

As at 31 December

M12A318

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFT
Joint ventures BN 782,552 801,874
Associates L l/NG] 557,682 562,389
1,340,234 1,364,263

Movement of investments in joint ventures: REREELENES) :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETFT
At 1 January ®w1A1H 801,874 868,812
Share of results FEIhEE (19,322) 43,098
Dividend declared BEEIRRKE - (81,000)
Capital reduction HE = (29,036)
At 31 December »12H31H 782,552 801,874
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 AR ETIBRIVIZE (&)
Equity Method (Continued)

(@) Investments accounted for using the equity (@) LARERIESIBRMNIRE (E)
method (Continued)

()  The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement ()  PEEEFBRRKRERB SR AE
of financial position as “Investments accounted for using ROEVIRNRE I NBEEAT
the equity method” are as follows: (Continued) (%)

Movement of investments in associates: REREE N TR

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFT
At 1 January ®1HA1H 562,389 751,072
Share of results FEIE 4R (4,707) 35,919
Capital reduction HE = (224,602)
At 31 December w12A31H 557,682 562,389
The Group’s joint ventures and associates are principally REBHELELENEE NG T
engaged in property development business. As at 31 ENREEMEREES - 12023
December 2023 and 2022, the Group has performed FN2022F12A31H » AEBE
assessment on impairment of the investments in HEE ﬁ%&ﬁﬁéfé’&?ﬁ’j&éi&
joint ventures and associates taking into account the THEEDTE  2hZEREE
pre-sales of the properties of the joint venture and BhERBENTINE - Hj%
associates, the current and future market condition for V)% e IR &%Xﬁi){ KRIEE 3
sales of properties and the budgeted development cost BERARFYT  RAEGEDNENR
and expenses, no impairment on the investments in ‘;ﬁ%@jﬁ’]&éﬂ/ﬁﬂfﬁ
joint ventures and associates is considered necessary.
(i)  The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement (i) MEEE2ERSIREREIELE
of comprehensive income statements as “Share of EEEBMENRES INSED
results of joint ventures and associates” are as follows: N

Year ended 31 December

BZE12B31BLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBFT
Joint ventures BETE (19,322) 43,098
Associates NG| (4,707) 35,919
(24,029) 79,017
(b) Set out below are the principal joint ventures and associates (b) T E T A EE R 20234 K 2022F 12
of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. The place A3 THMTEAR N EREALNT o
of incorporation or registration is also their principal place of SR It B s T EA
business. 2o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 BREREGZETIBENIRE (E)
Equity Method (Continued)

(b) (Continued) (b) (&)
(i) Joint ventures: iy E&EE:
Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership

Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group

ARER HRRIHE ITERED HRIE ARERUFERERZEA
2023 2022

Haimen Jinjia Property Co., Ltd PRC Property development Equity method

BIREEXARAA hE HIES Rk 30% 30%

Zhangjiagang Free Duty Zone Yaohui Real Estate PRC Property development Equity method

Development Co., Ltd. B NELE Bt

FRERTERBR L EREERAR 18.5% 13.5%

Nantong Zhuosu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

LREHREREERLT hE NEER &k 125% 12.5%

Yixing Jiayu Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

BRTRERNERSARAA il NEER Bt 20% 20%

Changshu Zhuoyang Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

ERERERERAA HE NEER ik 25% 25%

Nantong Fuliteng Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

AT RRAERSERAT e NELR Bt 2% 20%

Nantong Chongtong Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

BRFBEZRRAA il NEER ey 33% 33%

Changzhou Jiahong Cailing Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

ENEEREERERERLA el NEER B 2021% 2021%

Taixing Ronghe Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

REATHNEEERAT HE NEER ez 3% 33%

Zhejiang Gangda Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

MIBEEZERAR HE NELR Rk 49% 49%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 BREAREGSETIBENIRE (E)
Equity Method (Continued)

(b) (Continued) (o) (&)
(i) Joint ventures: (Continued) i)y B&ELE: (E
Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership

Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group

L HRAL S IEEHED HE s AREELFERERE DL
2023 2002

Huzhou Ganghong Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

WIETELERAR b NE%E sk 0% 0%

Changshu Meolong Real State Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

EARERNERRERAA HE YELS Bk 50% 50%

Suzhou Zhengxi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

HNIBRHERSERAT hE NEER Rk 33% 33%

Rugao Ganghua Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

MREEEERRAA hE NELR Bz 24.99% 24,99%

Nanjing Jinjun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method

R kEHEREERAT hE MEER Rk 25% 2%

Nantong Gangxuan Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC Investment holding Equity method

BRRREXERAA hE RAZHR Bk 49% 49%

Changzhou Shenmai Investment Co., Lid. PRC Investment holding Equity method

ENREERREARAA hE RERR B 41.25% 41.25%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 BREREGZETIBENIRE (E)
Equity Method (Continued)

(b) (Continued) (b) (&)
(i) Associates: (i) BEQT:
Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership
Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group
ARER SR IERHRED HEAE AREELFERERE DL
2023 2022
Nantong Country Garcen New District Property PRC Property development Equity method
0o, Ltd. (Notg HE NELR Rt
ERMEEENREFARAN D) 15% 1%
Haimen Zhongnan Jinguan Property Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
EEREERERAT el NEER B 30% 30%
Yancheng Xinbi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
BN ERNERSERLT il NEER &k 30% 30%
Yancheng Shunbi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
EATEERHERSERAA ke HIESH Bt 20% 20%
Jiangyin Hecheng Real Estate Development PRC Property development Equity method
Co., Ltd. (Note) HE ESE Bk
TETAHRPERERRAA (M) 15% 15%
Rugao Xinbi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
EMFERNEREERAT ke HIESH ey 30% 30%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e M B RRMEE(E

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 BREAREGSETIBENIRE (E)
Equity Method (Continued)

(b) (Continued) (b) (#&)
(i) Associates: (Continued) (i) HEAT: (&)
Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership
Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group
AER HRRIHE IZEHED HEAE ARERGAEREREA
2028 2022
Changshu Jin'an Ruichen Real Estate PRC Property development Equity method
Development Co, Lid. h VIELHE Bk
BAmE TRREEREARAT 2% 25%
Changzhou Mudan Jungang Real Estate Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
BN AERERARAA hE VELHES i 24.5% 24.5%
Lianyungang Ganglong Property Co., Lid. PRC Property development Equity method
BERTRRERARLT ol IESHE i3y 20% 20%
Shanghal Yinwang Property Co., Ltd. PRC Investment holding Equity method
HEREERARAT hE REAR i 3% 30%
Changzhou Kaize Property Co,, Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
Blimsl2ERARAA hE IESHE i3y 30% 30%

164 Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

15 Investments Accounted for Using the
Equity Method (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(ii) Associates: (Continued)

15 BRAERIASIBRRVIRE (&)

(b) (&)

(i) HEAT: (&)

Place of Measurement Percentage of ownership
Name of company* incorporation Principal activities method interest attributable to the Group
ATER MR IEEHRED HRAE ARBELFERERE DL
2023 2002

Guangzhou Wangyuan Industrial Investment PRC Property development Equity method

Co., Ltd. (Note) i mx%E Rt
BMREEZREERAR M) 10% 10%
Yangzhou Jiuhe Property Co,, Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
BANNESERAR HE NEER Rk 24% 2%
Yangzhou Economic and Technological Development PRC Investment holding Equity method

Zone Ruiiang Business Administration Co., Lid. HE RERR BRiE
ANEERIRSERE THERARAA 49.60% 49.60%
Guangzhou Kewang Investment Co., Ltd. PRC Property development Equity method
ENHRERRAA hE NELE &k 20% 20%

Note:

The English names of PRC companies referred
to above in this note represents management’s
best effort in translating the Chinese names of
those companies as no English name have been
registered or available.

These entities had three to five shareholders,
where the Group held 10% to 15% equity interests.
Pursuant to the articles of association of this entity,
the Group is entitled to appoint one director on
these entities’ Directors’ Board. Therefore, the
Group has power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the entity pursuant to
the articles of association.

B

BT

AP RE b SRt b B R
EXEHMAKREEEENSE
ERERRM R XA
AYEAX LD MR
HERI -

HEERBE=-ZRAKRE
MAKEFERFN10%E
15% A - RIBFZERNHA
BERAY - AEEEER
ZEERNEEERI %
B - Fit REABER
WA AREAEE2EZE
BRI RS EBREORE -

WESERRAT F#2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e M B RRMEE(E

15 Investments Accounted for Using the 15 BRI EDIBRMIRE (&)
Equity Method (Continued)

(c) Summarised financial information for ) BEQATIREEDLEMIIEE
associates and joint ventures R E
The directors of the Company consider that none of the RATEZRE  MEBEARREE
associates and joint ventures were significant to the Group CEHALEMEBEK - FHITER
and thus the individual financial information of the associates B E R RN ERNFTEER -

was not disclosed.

(i)  Set out below are the summarised financial information (i) MATEINERmEEAREELT
of joint ventures, which are individually immaterial to the BRNEEENMTEEREE
Group.

Year ended 31 December

BE12A1BLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR¥ETFTT
(Loss)/profit for the year FN(EEE),/SEF (19,322) 43,098
Other comprehensive income Hin 2 mias - -
(19,322) 43,098
(i) Set out below are the summarized financial information (i) ATEFERMS HAREBRL T
of associates, which are individually immaterial to the FANBE AT BERE o
Group.
Year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFRT AR¥ETT
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE),RF (4,707) 35,919
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 miias - -
(4,707) 35,919
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

16 Deferred Income Tax 16 IEIEFTEH
(a) Deferred income tax assets (a) EEMSHEE

As at 31 December

M2H31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFTT
The balance comprises temporary EHREREUTEEN
differences attributable to: R ERE
— Tax losses —THIEER 163,899 355,653
— Deferred land appreciation tax — JERE + IR (EF 105,267 74,591
— Lease liabilities —HEaE 13,826 16,216
Total deferred income tax assets RIEFTIST B E R 282,902 446,460
Set-off with deferred tax liabilities 1R BR IR S AR SR AT
pursuant to set-off provisions FrSTiIEAE (33,691) (45,489)
Net deferred income tax assets EEFBHEEFE 249,301 400,971
Movements of deferred income tax assets without taking into RIEFTEHEEZ & (W Mt R E—H
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax BEERANERIEE) T

jurisdiction is as follows:

Deferred land

appreciation Lease
Movements Tax losses tax liabilities Total
=) BEEE BEELHBER HEaE #mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTFT ARBTFT
At 1 January 2022 R202261A1H 338,283 82,878 23,752 444,913
Credited/(Charged) to the A (BB )4
consolidated statement of 2HEKER(FIFE10)
comprehensive income
(Note 10) 17,370 (8,287) (7,536) 1,547
At 31 December 2022 and M2022F12A31A K
1 January 2023 2023F1H1H 355,653 74,591 16,216 446,460
(Charged)/Credited to the (% 8) /G ARE
consolidated statement of 2HEKER(FFE10)
comprehensive income
(Note 10) (191,754) 30,676 (2,390) (163,468)
At 31 December 2023 A2023F12H31H 163,899 105,267 13,826 282,992
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

16 Deferred Income Tax (Continued)

(@) Deferred income tax assets (Continued)
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not recognise
deferred income tax assets of RMB190,458,000 (2022:
RMB132,901,000) in respect of tax losses amounting to
RMB761,833,000 (2022: RMB531,604,000), that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. These tax
losses will expire up to and including 2028.

(b) Deferred income tax liabilities

16 IRALFTISHE (&)

(a) EELEMESHEE (&)

EEFTS R EE DA EAAERER D
ERlpeB B A BERT M BB M
Frses 2 BB E 1B 1ETERR o 20234
12A31H » REBEIWEFLA] T AAE LA
HIERRERMBANTEBEAR
& 761,833,000 70 (2022 FF : AR ¥
531,604,000 T ) HERIELEFTIS T EE
AR #190,458,0007T (20224F : AR
#132,901,0007T ) * ZEFHIBEEE K
R2028F (BIERMFE)ATERM °

(b) ELFFEBIEE

As at 31 December

M12831H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
The balance comprises temporary ERBIEA TS ENE R
differences attributable to: ZF
— Withholding tax on dividends for — R F A I B TE R
undistributed profits (172,785) (133,525)
— Fair value gains on investment —EEWMEAREENE
properties (19,228) (26,736)
— Deferred land appreciation tax — IR+ 3B (E R (119,797) (105,662)
- Right-of-use assets —(FREEE (13,826) (16,216)
Total deferred income tax liabilities FIEFTET B ERE (325,636) (282,139
Set-off with deferred income tax assets LRI SE R S IR AE P15 A
pursuant to set-off provisions BE 33,691 45,489
Net deferred income tax liabilities BEFTSH A EFE (291,945) (236,650)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

16 Deferred Income Tax (Continued) 16 IRIEFAISHL(E)
(b) Deferred income tax liabilities (Continued) (b) EEMEHEEE)
Movements of deferred income tax liabilities without taking EEFEHRAEEEH (T ET RE—F
into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same BEERANESREE 0T -

tax jurisdiction is as follows:

Withholding
taxon Fair value
dividends for gains on Deferred land
undistributed  investment properties  Right-of-use
Movements profits properties tax assets Total
AAMEFIE RENE i1
28 REFENH 2AABEKRE  THEER  KREEE @t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRE  ARETR ARETT ARETR AR%T:R

At 1 January 2022 20221810 (109,328) (26,736) (32,725) (28,752) (192,541)
Charged to the consolidated ~ 1B B&A 2 EUER

statement of comprehensive ~ (Ff5F10)

income (Note 10) (24,197) - (72,937) 7,536 (89,598)

At 31 December 2022 and  A2022F128318 Kk

1 January 2023 202351810 (133,525) (26,736) (105,662) (16,216) (282,139)
(Charged)/Credited to the G =G INE

consolidated statement of 2R (H:E10)

comprehensive income

(Note 10) (39,260) 7,508 (14,135) 2,390 (43,497)
At 31 December 2023 2023128317 (172,785) (19,228) (119,797) (13,826) (325,636)
The analysis of deferred income tax accounts are as follows: RIEFTEIHHERBE T -

As at 31 December

M2H31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARET T
Deferred income tax assets: EEFBHREE .
Recoverable after 12 months Al 24 A & Y [E] 249,301 400,971
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFBHEE
Recoverable after 12 months AT 28 Bz e (291,945) (236,650)
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17 Properties Under Development and

Completed Properties Held for Sale

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

17 FEPYRRIFFHENE R

TH=

As at 31 December

M12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFT
Properties under development FAEE R 2 17,705,994 30,736,363
Completed properties held for sale HIEHENB B T 3,509,779 2,142,458
21,215,773 32,878,821

Properties under development and completed properties held for
sale of the Group are all located in the PRC and expected to be
completed and available for sale within normal operating cycle.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the capitalisation rate of
borrowings is 10.4% (2022: 9.2%).

Completed properties held for sale recognised as an expense
during the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
RMB24,430,210,000 (2022: RMB9,784,004,000). These were
included in cost of properties sold (Note 6).

Write-downs of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale to net realisable value amounted
to RMB670,566,000 (2022: RMB71,414,000). These were
recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 December
2028 and included in “cost of sales” in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2023, the provision for impairment of
properties under development and completed properties held
for sale amounted to approximately RMB754,929,000 (2022:
RMB84,363,000).
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AEBFAETMERFEHENRR IR
BURFPE - BRRERELBHATER R
AIHEHE -

HZE2023F 12 A31HILFEMNERHER
{EEL TR 510.4%(20224F  9.2%) °

HZE2023F12A31BILFE - R AR
THHBELHENERIVESETAAR
& 24,430,210,000 7t (2022 F : A R ¥
9,784,004,0007T) ° EJIEt AR EWEA
(Pff3E6) ©

FE R Y ¥ RIFEDENE % T Y EMRR
Zr B8R FENSEAAREG670,566,000
JL(20224F :« AR#71,414,00070) - HZE
2023F 12 A1 HILFE - EHERBERAX
Wt AREEERERT A EERA] -

R2023F12 A31H » MR Y ERIFE
HENERIVMENBESEANARE
754,929,0007T (20224F = A R #84,363,000
T



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

17 Properties Under Development and
Completed Properties Held for Sale
(Continued)

The carrying amounts of Group’s properties held for sales and
properties under development pledged as collateral for the
Group’s borrowings are set out as follows:

17 FEPYERRIFFHENE R
T (&)

EREAAEEERNER RN AEERFE
HENMERREFODENREENT

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBFT
Carrying amounts of completed properties FIEHEND R TMER
held for sale and properties under FE R Y RMIREE -
development:
- Pledged as collateral for Group’s borrowings — — IEf{E A&7 &2 B {E 7 HY)
i 4,521,938 11,720,000
Properties under development BHExchyy %

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Net realisable value is determined by reference
to the sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of
business, less all necessary selling expenses and the anticipated
costs to completion based on prevailing marketing conditions.

Development cost of property primarily comprises land use rights,
construction costs, borrowing costs and professional fees incurred
during the development period. On completion, the properties are
transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond normal
operating cycle. The normal operating cycle is usually between 2
to 3 years.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties remaining unsold at the end of reporting
period are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises development costs attributable to the unsold
properties. Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
sale proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of business,
less all necessary selling expenses, or by management estimates
based on prevailing marketing conditions.

BB YR AR B IR E K RO
B3I - METFASER B HEHBIZT
B e S TSR+ L A 3
R REMRTACK - RIEEHTBHRR
CHE R

MENFREKRATEBRERLERE - 25
A BRRARERERRREENERE
- MERNRTHEREFELENDRT
E

FRIFTRRIB R MR IA R MEEREN —
REBRES  DARETPVEIRASRDE
E - —REEBHBT R2E3F -

FEHENSRIYE

RIS EIRE R TR IR &2 A
820 R FET MBI ETIR - RABIER
EMEREENBERRA - TRRFESER
AHELBIET D EMENHEFRSHE
WEFE BB BERITEE - K ERER

BERTSIRGFEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

18 Trade and Other Receivables and 18 B R HMEWEIERTE(

Prepayments

FAIE

As at 31 December

M12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREEFTT
Trade receivables from third parties REF=FNE ZEKRE
(Note (a)) (B3 (a)) 42,011 65,269
Other receivables HnfE R IE
— Deposits for property development projects —¥EMREIER RS 680,504 659,394
- Receivables from banks and bank card — FEYERTT R ERIT R ARFS L FE
service providers FEskIA 28,579 11,242
— Refundable deposits for property —MERFIBENRELRS
development projects (Note (b)) (P 5% (o)) 73,966 77,394
— Others —HAth 38,529 36,496
821,578 784,526
Less: provision for impairment of other A B RN IE R E R
receivables (41,552) -
780,026 784,526
Prepayments FEARE
— Prepayments for property development — ¥ ¥FEIEE BN KA
projects 505,170 568,838
— Prepaid value added tax and other taxes —TEHGET K AT 845,045 887,319
- Contract acquisition costs (Note (c)) — B HERUR A (M 5E(c) 103,626 131,365
— Others —EAh 32,509 38,438
1,486,350 1,625,960
Total trade and other receivables and B REMEWRRENUR
prepayments FETFRIBEEE 2,308,387 2,475,755
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

18 Trade and Other Receivables and 18 BZ R H{EWZIEL R FA(T
Prepayments (Continued) FIE (48)
(@) Trade receivables from third parties () XEE=FNEZEWRFE

Trade receivables are denominated in RMB and mainly
arise from sales of properties. Proceeds in respect of sales
of properties are generally received in accordance with the
terms stipulated in the sale and purchase agreements. This is
generally no credit period granted to the property purchasers.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables at the
consolidated statement of financial position date based on

BEHRWHENAREE - £2RA
HEME - HEMERMEHA—RIRIE
BEE BRI AGRRKER - —RimE - I
BRBEERTEES -

B 5 RUGRIAN A MR R B #iiR
HEHBBIDHREONIAT

invoice dates is as follows:

As at 31 December

M2A31A8
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
0-30 days 0-30H 42,011 65,269

As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables of
RMB42,011,000 (2022: RMB65,269,000) were overdue but
not impaired.

202312 A31H » ZESEWFIEA
R#42,011,0007T (20224F : AR ¥
65,269,0007T) E i HHR i AR RE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B B IRR M ()

18 Trade and Other Receivables and

Prepayments (Continued)
(b) Refundable deposits for property development projects

represent the amounts advanced to other property
developers in the PRC for the funding of property
development projects. As at 31 December 2023, the balance
were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Management considers the contract acquisition costs, which
represents sales commission paid for obtaining property
sale contracts, to be recoverable. The Group has deferred
the amounts paid and will charge them to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income when the related
revenue is recognised. For the year ended 31 December
2023, the amount charged to consolidated statement of
comprehensive income was RMB139,039,000 (2022:
RMB57,879,000) and there were no impairment loss in
relation to the remaining balances.

The carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables and
prepayments approximate their fair values and are denominated in
RMB.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December 2023
and 2022 was the carrying value of receivables. The Group did not
hold any collateral as security.
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8 B5 REMEWS

RIE LA K FEAY

%XIE(IHE)

(b) M ERWARERSEENTH
BEEMMEREFINOMERLEEE
& ° R2023F12H31H - ; *ﬁ%?%?ﬁi%
R RBWERERTFIUER

(c) BRAERAAWNWERARTWE -
ZERNIERERMERSA M
WHEERE  AEECECI NS
R WA ERARRAREEBGRTA
AR - B E2023F12A318 1E
FE - BEAGEEARSERNESEA
AR #139,039,0007T (20224 : AR
#57,879,0007T) + AREEBEEGE °

5 I Eo A MR IR K FE AN SRR A BR T {E £
HAREEES  TAAREE-

R20234F K 2022F12 A1 HEmE AR
B ERGIEZ REE - AEBYEES
EEIRRIEAER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

19 Cash and Bank Balances 19 BERIIRITLHEER
As at 31 December
M12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR ARBFT
Restricted cash (Note a) ZRRHIR S (Mita) 1,120,284 2,914,221
Pledged time deposits B E BT K 145,711 55,116
Cash and cash equivalents Be MREEEY 570,167 1,172,191
1,836,162 4,141,528
Note: FfsE -
(@) The Group’s restricted cash mainly comprise of (1) (@) AEENZRFIREEIERIENBEEY
Supervision accounts for construction of pre-sold properties; HEEINESTRHRER  QIRES &
(2) Guarantee deposits for construction; and (3) Supervision QIEIRIEREESER -
accounts for mortgage guarantee.
The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign 15 A REEFTHE R A R8I0 BN DA K i INEE
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies out of EEHREIEIN - BETREBNEHRNER
the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign HSNFEE I AERI R B KA R o
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
The above balances as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 It A2023 4 K 2022F 12 431 H Ky 4 fR £
approximate their fair values and are denominated in the following HEAREEES - WR N 5EEE
currencies:
As at 31 December
M12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AR¥ETT
Denominated in: BTy iERHE
- RMB —AR¥E 1,835,960 4,139,356
-UsD —%7T 50 364
- HKD — 8% 152 1,808

1,836,162 4,141,528
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

20 Share Capital 20 pR7A<
Number of Share
shares capital
gk 2 E| [N
HK$
BT
Authorised: EE -
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, 720221 A1H ~ 20224
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 12A31H + 2023F1 A1H
}2023F12A431H 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
Number of Share
shares capital
RHER [N
RMB’000
AREFT
Issued: BT
At 1 January 2022 7202291 A1H 1,628,541,000 14,900
Cancellation of shares AR D (6,742,000 62)
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 2022412 A31H ~ 2023%F1H1H
31 December 2023 N2023F12A31H 1,621,799,000 14,838
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

21 Share Premium and Reserves

21 R aEBRGEHE

Share Statutory Other
premium reserves reserves Total
B RE EERE Hitf# st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT AREFTT ARBTT

(Note (i)) (Note (ii))

GELD) (B=EG)
At 1 January 2022 2022%F181H 1,467,819 232,788 282,964 1,983,571
Cancellation of shares (Note 20)  FE#R& 5 (Bi5E20) (19,255) - 19,317 62
Repurchase of shares (Note 20) BB {7 (Fi5E20) - - (13,186) (13,186)
Appropriation to statutory reserves BB E EFEE - 7,480 - 7,480

At 31 December 2022 and 2022912318 &

1 January 2023 2023%F1H1H 1,448,564 240,268 289,095 1,977,927
Effect of equity interests swap BREEBRNTE - = (4,860) (4,860)
Appropriation to statutory reserves R E AT - 139,149 - 139,149
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12831H 1,448,564 379,417 284,235 2,112,216
() Statutory reserves (i) EERE

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable BIEFRBEEARINGBECE 2 BBE
to wholly foreign owned enterprises, the PRC subsidiary is iR PEINBAREG —ETLRBRET
required to appropriate to reserve fund an amount of not less 1FREFE10% (TR BEEEAFE)
than 10% of the profit after income tax, calculated based THIBBABREBES - MitEHEES 2
on the PRC accounting standards. Should the accumulated Z2rtEzEERRENB AR ZFMER Y
total of this reserve fund reach 50% of the registered capital 50% * Bz EM B A Pl % B A BIER
of the PRC subsidiary, the subsidiary will not be required to oo LB A @ SR E R HEE
make any further appropriation. The reserve fund can only be WHEEESEARKE Rt EIESE
used, upon approval by the shareholders’ meeting or similar INEZA o

authorities, to offset accumulated losses or increase capital.

(i) Other reserves (iy HAtufEs

Other reserves mainly represented the reserves derived from
acquisition of non-controlling interests, the share premium
and the accumulated capital contribution from the then
equity holders of the group companies in excess of the
consideration given in relation to the reorganisation.

HAtHE R 5K A RE IR
FEHREER RS R IRR T EARB LA
NHREFDOBRMDRERRAEE -

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

22 Borrowings

22 &

As at 31 December

M2H31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
Non-current JEBN A
Bank borrowings HRITIE
- Secured and guaranteed — B RER 1,166,868 3,263,136
Other borrowings g
— Secured — A 796,362 761,466
— Unsecured — A 64,000 -
2,027,230 4,024,602
Current BRI &R
Bank borrowings RITHER
— Secured and guaranteed —BHEARER 1,055,149 770,477
Other borrowings EAbIER
— Secured — B 542,500 856,528
- Unsecured — I 33,150 114,500
Senior notes BEERE 1,165,828 1,000,097
2,796,627 2,741,602
Total borrowings RS GEE] 4,823,857 6,766,204

(@) Bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2023, bank and other borrowings
of RMB3,560,879,000 (2022: RMB5,651,607,000) were
secured by certain receivables, equity interests of group
companies, properties under development, completed
properties held for sales and investment properties
with total carrying values of RMB9,815,385,000 (2022:

RMB19,375,032,000).

As at 31 December 2023, certain bank and other borrowings
amounted to RMB2,222,017,000 required guaranteed by
subsidiaries of the Group (2022: RMB4,033,613,000).
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R2023F12 A318 » iRFT R EMIE K
A FR#3,560,879,000 7T (20224 : A
R #5,651,607,0007C) HEEE A E A
AR #09,815,385,0007T (20224 : A
R #19,375,082,0007T ) Hy & F e W X
B SEATMRAEZ  FESRY
¥ BEHENCSRIMERILEDE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

22 Borrowings (Continued)

(@)

Bank and other borrowings (Continued)
Certain group companies in the PRC have entered into
fund arrangements with trust companies and assets
management companies, respectively, pursuant to which
these financial institutions raised funds and injected them to
the group companies. Certain equity interests of the group
companies were held by the financial institutions as collateral
of which the Group is obligated to redeem at predetermined
prices. The funds bear fixed interest rates and have fixed
repayment terms. Thus, the Group did not derecognise
its equity interests in the subject group companies but
treated the fund arrangements as other borrowings in the
consolidated financial statements. As at 31 December 2023,
these borrowings amounted to RMB1,338,862,000 (2022:
RMB1,271,995,000).

Senior notes

On 8 November 2022, the Group issued another short-term
notes with principal amount of USD145,000,000 (equivalent
to RMB1,000,097,000) at par value, at an interest rate of
13.5% per annum and with maturity in November 2023 (2023
Senior Notes”).

On 6 November 2023, all of the outstanding 2023 Senior
Notes was redeemed in full, and the redemption price was
paid in kind of the new notes (the “2024 Senior Notes”) in an
aggregate principal amount of US$164,411,875 (equivalent
to RMB1,165,828,000). The 2024 Senior Notes bear interest
at a fixed rate of 9.5% per annum, payable annually in
arrears.

22 fEFR (&)

(@)

IRITR HAERR (&)
AETHEEBARCOREELEART R
BEEEAAVESTH - Bt
ZECHRBEEEASTRAEERA]
TE c EERNRINE TRERS K
BEE AEEFETRBETERE
B EIRE - ZEESRIBEETE A X
IAFE - RBETEHRER -
It REBTRKIEERENZENE
BEATRRE  MERGE M BHRE
NG E & ZHR BEMB R - 72023
F12A31H » ZEEFNESEAAR
% 1,338,862,0007T (20224F : AR ¥
1,271,995,0007¢) °

BEERE

R2022F11 A8H « ALBEEITLAER
{BE A% % 5145,000,0003 7T (18
B ARY1,000,097,00070) K B — 52
HELEZER([2023FBAZEEK]) - F
F*EA13.5% + FIHAH A2023F 114 -

R2023%F 11 A6H © FTEEITEING
2023 BAZRCEEHERD - ME
BB T AR & 4258 5164,411,8753TC
(FAE R AR1,165,828,0007T ) K HT
ZR([2024FBAER ) B BREYMF
AL o 2024 F B A ERIZETFF
EI5%FE  BERHRI A —KF

B o

TN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

22 Borrowings (Continued) 22 fEFR(#&)
() The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest-rate (C) AEmEZEAEEHNERRANE
changes and the contractual repricing dates or maturity date FEBHNFHB(UREEAE) WD
whichever is earlier are as follows: T

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBFT
Variable rate borrowings EBRER 1,824,430 3,555,136
Other borrowings — repricing date: EMER-EHEEHE
6 months or less 61E A AT 257,370 156,976
6-12 months 6-121@ A 1,391,829 1,672,292
1-2 years 1-2%F 807,728 542,000
2-5 years 254 542,500 839,800
Total 1@zt 4,823,857 6,766,204
(d) The weighted average effective interest rates as at 31 (d) 20234 %2022 12 431 B & INREE
December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: HERRZRNOT
As at 31 December
A12A31H
2023 2022
Bank borrowings RITHER 5.87% 5.68%
Other borrowings HifE 10.90% 12.00%
Weighted average effective interest rates ~ JiEF 19 BB FI| = 8.58% 8.29%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

22 Borrowings (Continued)

(e)

The repayment terms of the borrowings are as follows:

22 {BEF(E)
(e) BEmEBRBMT -

As at 31 December

M12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AR¥ETT
Within 1 year 1R 2,796,627 2,741,602
1-2 years 1-24F 1,830,668 2,663,272
2-5 years 2-5%F 196,562 1,361,330
Total st 4,823,857 6,766,204
The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in (f) EROETERTYEEE -
the following currencies.
As at 31 December
M12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR¥ETT
RVB AR 3,658,029 5,766,107
uUSD EViW 1,165,828 1,000,097
Total 4t 4,823,857 6,766,204

The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximated their
fair values as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 as either the
impact of discounting of borrowings with fixed interest rates
was not significant, or the borrowings bear interest at floating
rates.

(9) #2023%F K2022% 128318 - f&%KHY
REBEEIAQAAEE  TTEREER
REERURTEIK » HEFRAEH)
Flzzte, -

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023 181



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

23 Trade Payables, Bills Payables and Other 23 BZE{(FIE - ENEERE

Payables ftt B TR IE
As at 31 December
M12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Trade payables (Note (a)) B 3 EAFE (M) 2,581,193 3,734,166
Bills payables (Note (b)) LN EEAGIET (V) 5,941 4,394
Other payables: HthfE{RRIE -
Other taxes payable HAbfEFIIA 41,704 33,423
Payroll payable A 47,935 63,185
Deposits received from potential property BEEEREERENES
purchasers 24,794 46,743
Deposits from contractors and suppliers EER MEEEIZS 85,022 166,509
Others Hib 7,094 5,201
Total trade payables, bills payables and EFENTIE  EREER
other payables Hit e RIEHARR 2,793,683 4,053,621
(@ The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice @ TRHFIIZFZBHSAOIEREIDH
dates or contractual terms is as follows: B SN RENRR DT
As at 31 December
M2H31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREFT
0-30 days 0-30H 1,996,901 2,906,145
31-60 days 31-60H 380,853 374,935
61-90 days 61-90H 202,113 360,487
Over 91 days 91HME 1,326 92,599
2,581,193 3,734,166
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A HRERMEE ()
23 Trade Payables, Bills Payables and Other BSENTIE - ENEENR
Payables (Continued) {’@F’Eﬁ RIE (,..a)
(b) The ageing analysis of the bills payables based on invoice (b) TERHIIZHZAHAEHREIDH
dates or contractual terms is as follows: ERTEEMNERER DT
As at 31 December
#W12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFTT
0-30 days 0-30H - 4,394
31-60 days 31-60H - -
61-90 days 61-90H = -
Over 91 days 91HA b 5,941 -
5,941 4,394
The carrying amounts of the trade payables, bills payable B EMNFE - EAEEREM RN
and other payables approximate their fair values and are EMERAEREAAAEBEBAERUAAR
denominated in RMB. METHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e M B RRMEE(E

24 Cash Generated from Operations

(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to

cash generated from operations

24 REFFRE

N2 AL NN2

(@) BREFSHIATGE R

cpdi ok

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31ALEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFIT
Profit before income tax B BT 1S 5 BT a A 1,546,137 1,075,388
Adjustments for: PRATNEIEEL A
— Depreciation of property, plant and —WI% - RERBRETE
equipment (Note 12) (M7E12) 26,836 35,598
- Finance costs (Note 9) -V Z N =) 92,125 150,440
- Finance income (Note 9) — BB U A (FF5E9) (12,738) (32,421)
— Share of results of joint ventures and —E(hE e EHEBE AR
associates (Note 15) FAE(FEE15) 24,029 (79,017)
— (Gain)/loss on disposal of financial —HERARBEFEER
assets at fair value through SETABTRNEREE
profit or loss (Note 8) # (Uas) /518 (BT =Es) (239) 26,011
— Fair value loss on investment —REMEAREERRE
properties (Note 14) (PfFEE14) 30,020 -
— Gains on early termination of leases —REEIEEMRE (151) (8,562)
- Losses/(gains) on disposals of property, —— HEWE « FiE M RED
plant and equipment (Note 8) B8, (Ukzs) (MisEs) 5,662 (97)
- Loss/(gain) on disposal of a subsidiary —HE—MHERAR
18, (as) 13,104 (9,406)
— Income arising from withdrawal of —BETEEATIERRY
certain associates’ projects (Note 8) FrEE MU A (MI7E8) - (21,635)
— Income arising from withdrawal of —BAECEERRLAM
ajoint venture’s project (Note 8) EERUA(FIES) - (10,966)
— Provision for impairment of properties —FABRMERIBFIELER
under development and completed ERTYERRER %
properties held for sale 670,566 71,414
— Provision for impairment of —SRMEERERE
financial assets 56,145 —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

24 Cash Generated from Operations (Continued) 24 &&FFEIRS (&)
(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to
cash generated from operations (Continued)

(@) FRFFSHANGR EELEFRER
T2 B ER (&)

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREEFTT
Operating profit before changes in LiBEE P ERIALE E T
working capital 2,451,496 1,196,747
Changes in working capital: EEESHE
— Properties under development and —FABERMERFIELED
completed properties held for sale BRI 10,490,802 6,024,052
— Contract liabilities —BHEE (11,826,201) (5,371,786)
— Trade and other receivables and — B 5 REMERRIER
prepayments TENFE (541,486) (675,386)
- Trade payables, bill payables and other ~ — & SERFIAE - FERT =18
payables ME M FRIE (1,060,950) (400,741)
— Changes in pledged time deposits — BT BE R E (90,595) 16,541
— Changes in restricted cash —RRHIREE S 1,793,937 1,694,051
Cash generated from operations KERTSIRE 1,217,003 2,483,478

(b) Reconciliation of proceeds from disposals of

property, plant and equipment

TH ¥ R

(b) HEWE - BERREEHK

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TF T AREETTT
Net book amount (Note 12) BREVFE(MIRE12) 8,739 206
(Losses)/gains on disposals of property, HEME - R KRED
plant and equipment (Note 8) (E518) Wzs (Fizxs) (5,662) 97
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWME  BE MREFEHKE
plant and equipment 3,077 303
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

24 Cash Generated from Operations (Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of assets and liabilities arising

from financing activities

Amounts

Lease due to
liabilities associates
Jft

HERE BENIRE
RMB000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR

4 KEMBRE(E)
() MEZHEENEERERB/N
iR
Amounts
Amounts  due to non- Amounts
due to joint controlling due to
ventures interests  third parties  Borrowings Total
Bt EAFER JEft
RELENE BEYE  £ShRE B Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETT ARETT ARETR

Asat 1 January 2022 R022F1A18 9,817 705,827 804,488 1,858,566 139,812 9404587 13100117
Non-cash movement (Note) FRLEE(E) (10,349) (159.237) (115,808) - (120470) 91,770 (314,004
Cash inflows A - 275,931 70419 569,331 - 2,170,795 3086476
Cash outflows Rt (20485 (168810) (78600) (961931) (1934 (4990948 (5.240,116)
As at 31 Decerber 2022 and 20205128318 R

1 January 2023 NE1 AR 65,983 663,711 680,499 1,465,986 - 6,766,204 9,632,383
Non-cash movement (Note) FReeE () 3,043 - - - - (80,270) (17,221)
Cash inflows REHA - 82,933 - 452,710 - 426,562 962,265
Cash outfows b E (12,808) = (147,557) - - (2208630  (2449,004)
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12A318 56,218 736,644 530,942 1,918,756 - 4,823,857 8,008,417
Note: =T -

During the year ended 31 December 2023, borrowings
amounted to RMB246,000,000 were disposed upon the
disposal of a subsidiary (Note 27) and borrowings amounted
to RMB165,731,000 represented interest on 2023 Senior Note
which formed part of the principal of 2024 Senior Notes (Note
22).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, proceed from capital
reduction from certain associates and joint ventures amounted
to RMB159,237,000 and RMB34,808,000 respectively,
and dividend declared by a joint venture amounted to
RMB81,000,000, were set-off against the amount due to these
associates and joint ventures.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, certain amounts
due to third parties amounted to RMB120,470,000 were set-off
against an receivable with a contractor.
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B ZE2023FE 12 A1 BILEE - @FAA
EM246000000759’J BN E— W

AR (W27 BHE  MEBAAR
?ﬁi’f165 731,000 K & 5K B2023 F B 2
BN S (EEBR2024F B EZIBEASH
— &%) (FizE22) ©

Eﬁzizozzimﬂm AtEFEE -B&FT
Hﬁ%%‘*'& AETEREMNABRE

DRAR "A% 159,237,000 7t & A R #&
84,808,000ﬁ&é ERETROREAR
#81,000,000 BN Z ZEE AR RE
BERFIEKS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

25 Amounts Due from/(to) Non-Controlling

Interests

25 FEUR () FEiE R B TR IA

As at 31 December

M12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TF T AREEFTT
Amounts due from non-controlling interests R FEF5E IS AR 25 TR
(Note (2)) GED)) 3,317,373 3,740,880
Amounts due to non-controlling interests e IEFEE AR AR 25 TR
(Note (b)) (B3E(b)) (1,918,756) (1,465,986)
Notes: FiEx -
(a)  Amounts due from non-controlling interests mainly represented @ EUCHERERFEEZERETHEA

cash advances to the non-controlling interest of certain
subsidiaries. They are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

BMEIERE SR NRE - ZEFER
BN RS RIRENREE -

()  Amounts due to non-controlling interests mainly represented (o) ERIEERERFIEXZEREETHEA

cash advances provided by the non-controlling interests of
certain subsidiaries. All of the amounts due to non-controlling
interests are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

HO SRR SR PR (A ER & B Fﬁﬁﬂ’é@
ﬁ;H’EH%%E?ﬂIEi’;JZ%ﬁ%ﬁ C RBIA
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26 Transaction with Non-Controlling Interests

On 12 January 2023, Jiangsu Zhengchang Zhongrunfu Investment
Development Co., Ltd.* (I&# ISR HEEREZEREGR A R) (the
“JV Partner”), Anhui Gangfan Real Estate Co., Ltd. (Z#/&MN
BEAMR AT (an indirect and wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company), Anhui Ganglong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (ZHIBEE XS
FR /A &) (an indirect and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company),
Huangshan Ganglong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (BEIUBREEEAR
A2 7)) (“Huangshan Project Co”) and Guangde Gangxing Real
Estate Co., Ltd. (EEmEEE ZEGR A A (“Guangde Project
Co”) entered into an equity interests swap agreement, pursuant to
which the JV Partner agrees to transfer its 30% equity interests in
Huangshan Project Co to Anhui Ganglong Real Estate Co., Ltd.;
and Anhui Gangfan Real Estate Co., Ltd. agrees to transfer the
100% equity interests in Guangde Project Co it held, to the JV
Partner (the “Equity Interests Swap”) (Note 27(a)). No gain or loss
on disposal was recognised as “Other income and other gains,
net” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Following the completion of the Equity Interests Swap, (i) the
Company no longer held any equity interests in Guangde Project
Co, which ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company and the
Guangde Project Co was no longer consolidated into the financial
statements of the Group; and (ii) the Huangshan Project Co
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

On 12 January 20283, fair value of 30% equity interests
of Huangshan Project Co from the JV Partner and 100%
equity interest of Guangde Project Co were approximately
RMB152,170,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

26 FEIERERRR S

R2023%F1A12H  IHLERHEIREH
BAERDB([AERERMN])  TRBNE
¥ERAB(ARAHEEZENBAR) * &
BEREXBRAR(ARAHEEEZEAWE
naE)  BELEREEEERAR([EILIEE
AR REEMEEEEXFR AR EEE
BRADFIZREERGZ Bt - %D
ERNRERLESEEEARAREER
HAEREILER A RIB0%ME M TZEEN
BEXERAFRAERNSECEBHERER
BEWEREIEE ARI100%MKE ([REER])
(FIsE27(0)) - BN ERE 2 HEIRER A H
b I B B s 25 5 58 | P RE R U A Bk
18 -

TRBEEERE  (ARATBRERERE
B AREARE - ETBRARRNMER
A BEEAB AR TERAREMEREK
hERa AR RiFELIEB ARKAAEE
MEEHBAR -

R2023F1 A12H ' A& CEBHBFTENS
ILIE B A R)30% M M EEEE A F1100%
AEIER A A EEL A AREE152,170,0007T °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

26 Transaction with Non-Controlling Interests 26 FEIZpRiEZST S (&)

(Continued)
The following table summarises the effect of these acquisitions: TREMZZFWENTE
As at 31 December
M12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREETFTT
Total carrying amounts of non-controlling interest 3E3 I HE 5 HI42BR FE 147,310 -
Less: fair value of non-controlling interests W TR EES AR (EE (152,170) -
Total difference recognised within equity AR AERN A ERE (4,860) -
The major classes of assets and liabilities of Guangde Project Co as EEBEARREERSNEERBENE
at the date of disposal were as follows: ZERWT
RMB’000
AREFIT
Properties under development EEEGEEIES 154,842
Prepayments and other receivables T8 FRIE K Hh FE KRR 1,922
Cash and cash equivalents ReRE2EFED 59
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAENRE (4,653)
Net assets disposed of EHEEEFRE 162,170
RMB’000
AREFT
Gain/(loss) on disposal: HEWRE(BR) :
Fair value of non-controlling interests acquired Frik BB M FEIE R = A R (B (A 152,170
Less: net assets attributable to the Group disposed of B AEEENEHEEEFE (1562,170)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 8) HE—RHE A RS (E518) (FI:Es) =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed EHEReRASERBY (59)
Cash consideration received BYERENRE =
Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary HE—fRIBARELEMNR SR F5E (59)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

27 Disposal of Subsidiaries — Nantong Project

Co.

(@) Disposal of a subsidiary — Nantong Jiuhe Real

Estate Co., Limited (“Nantong Project Co.”)
On 2 April 2023, Jiangsu Ganglong Huayang Real Estate
Co., Ltd. (L& EREHEFEARARF) (the “Vendor”) (an
indirect and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company),
Nantong Jiuhe Property Development Co., Ltd. (Fg:@A 1
EHERZEAGR A F]) (the “Purchaser”) and Nantong Jiuhe
Real Estate Co., Ltd. (FBAMBEABRAF) (the “Target
Company”), among others, entered into the equity transfer
agreement, pursuant to which the Vendor agrees to sell, and
the Purchaser agrees to purchase the 35% equity interests in
the Target Company held by the Vendor, at a consideration
of RMB173,000,000 (the “Disposal”), with the consideration
being settled by off-setting the Group’s payables to Nantong
Project Co..

As a result of the disposal of the 35% equity interests in the
Target Company, a loss on disposal of the Target Company
amounting to RMB13,104,000 was recognised as “Other
income and other gains, net” in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

Following the completion of Disposal, the Target Company
ceased to be a subsidiary of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

27 Disposal of Subsidiaries — Nantong Project 27 HEKHEB QT

Co. (Continued) (48)

(@) Disposal of a subsidiary — Nantong Jiuhe Real (@) HEMBAR -EEBANEXE
Estate Co., Limited (“Nantong Project Co.”) ERAT(EBEEBEAF]
(Continued) (#&)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Target Company BEEARNEERBNEEREBENE
as at the date of disposal were as follows: AT
RMB’000
AREETIT
Property under development FAZER 2 836,317
Prepayments and other receivables TEAS SRIB R Eo A FE U SR IA 665,380
Cash and cash equivalents ReMIREEEY 70,714
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMER A (21,339)
Borrowings Bk (246,000)
Contract liabilities BHEE (773,339)
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE 531,737
Less: net assets attributable to non-controlling interests W FEERR S R B EF R (345,633)
Net assets attributable to the Group AEBELEEFE 186,104
RMB’000
AREETFTT
Loss on disposal: HERE
Written off of payables to Nantong Project Co. Wi SH P (< R 3BIE B A B FIE 173,000
Less: net assets attributable to the Group disposed of B AEEEEEHEEEERE (186,104)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 8) HE—FKB A REE(KES) (13,104)
Cash and cash equivalents disposed BEHEREKRSEEY (70,714)
Cash consideration received BREESRE =
Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FNBARIEEMN
e FR8 (70,714)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

27 Disposal of Subsidiaries — Nantong Project
Co. (Continued) (&
(b) Disposal of a subsidiary — Taixing Chuanghe (b)
Property Co., Limited (“Taixing Chuanghe”)
On 10 January 2022, the Group entered into a sales and
purchases agreement with a third-party property developer
to sell the Group’s 33% equity interests in Taixing Chuanghe
for a cash consideration of RMB6,600,000. A gain on
disposal of Taixing Chuanghe amounting to RMB9,406,000
was recognised as “Other income and other gains, net” in the

27 HEMB LT -

FEIEE A E)
)
HEMB AR — mAIFE
XBRAT(Z=ELIF 1)
R2022%1 108 - AEEE—FE =
FERBERRFIVES RS UIRE
R B AR¥6,600,0007T HEAREER
ZRELBIRHI33% A% HE o L& ZEAIME
U 25 AR #9,406,000 A BREGE A &
AR AR A E A A KR H AL

,\/\

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Taixing

N

wFRE] o

FEAMNEE APNEERBENE

Chuanghe as at the date of disposal were as follows: TR -
RMB’000
AREFTT
Completed properties held for sale BE ﬁ’%&’]ﬂﬁl%)% 647,829
Prepayments and other receivables T IR I H A FEUGR 4,373
Tax recoverable AT Uk [B1 55 TE 283
Cash and cash equivalents ReRESEEY 36,979
Trade and other payables B 5 REMPERRIE (136,747)
Contract liabilities =X ON=E (574,396)
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEEEFRE (21,679)
Less: net assets attributable to non-controlling interests R JEIERR S e (R B R AR 14,525
Net liabilities attributable to the Group rEEEGBEERE (7,154)
RMB’000
AREFT
Gain on disposal: HEWSS :
Cash consideration HERE 6,600
Less: written-off of receivables from Taixing Chuanghe W S PR R B A N SR TE (4,348)
Add: net liabilities attributable to the Group disposed of e AEEEREHER 1@@% 7,154
Fair value gains on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 8) HE—HEME Q) UkEs (fsEs) 9,406
Cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary: BIELE—EHBATMNIRER
Cash consideration received BUIRENRE 6,600
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHERG MRS EEY (36,979)
Net cash outflow on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RBARELD
RE LT (30,379)
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RE MR R aR M ()

28 Financial Guarantee

28 B SRR

As at 31 December

M12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREEFIT
Guarantee in respect of mortgage facilities BAETERENZERE

for certain purchasers (note (a)) YEH R (MiiE(a) 7,653,612 13,687,789

Guarantee provided for the borrowings of REEDEBIRHMER
joint ventures (note (b) and Note 32(d)) (P& (o) R M 5E32(d)) 234,170 285,425
7,887,782 13,973,214

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of the Group’s property units and provided
guarantees to secure obligation of such purchasers for
repayments. Such guarantees terminate upon earlier of (i)
issuance of the real estate ownership certificate which will
generally be available within an average period of two to three
years upon the completion of guarantee registration; or (i) the
satisfaction of mortgaged loan by purchasers of properties.
The directors consider that the likelihood of default in
payments by purchasers is minimal as the Group is entitled
to retain the ownership of the properties, the valuation of
which is significantly higher than the guaranteed amounts.
Therefore, the financial guarantees measured at fair value is
immaterial and no liabilities was recognised.

Amounts represented the maximum exposure of the
guarantees provided for the borrowings of the joint ventures
and associates at the year-end date. The directors consider
that the likelihood of default in payments by the joint ventures
and associates is minimal and therefore the financial
guarantee measured at fair value is immaterial and no
liabilities was recognised.

AEECRMEETNETEEE LT
THRITRE  XAZXTEEEETEE
BHREER - WEERNUTREE
BIE (VERBEFHERERE  ZEER
BAREREMZRRNFEORE=4F
NES  RiEFEEERBENX - &
ERE  BRAEBBRERBMENN
B MOENBEARSRERSE
7 BRI RERNAREMER/ N - FEit
URAfBEFENERERYTEAR
EBHERAE -

CREEFRANREELERBER
AEREHREROZKAR - EER
o AERERBERRHER AR
BEMEIR/N - Bt AR R BEENH
BERITTEABEEREE -
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29 Financial Instruments by Category

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

29 HEHETNEHMTE

As at 31 December

M12831H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AREFT
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost: REHKAT IR S REE -
- Trade and other receivables —B 5 REMERFIA 822,037 753,923
— Amounts due from associates — FEURHS & A RIFIR 124,229 129,976
— Amounts due from joint ventures — A EDERIE 155,181 170,957
— Amount due from non-controlling interests — PRI RR 25 T8 3,317,373 3,740,880
— Restricted cash —XBRHEE 1,120,284 2,914,221
- Pledged time deposits —EEREHER 145,711 55,116
— Cash and cash equivalents — R LR EEEY 570,167 1,172,191
Total @zt 6,254,982 8,937,264
As at 31 December
#M12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETR AREETFTT
Financial liabilities AN
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: REBHRAT RS RLAE
— Trade payables, bills payables and other — B O ENRIE - [ENERE
payables RE M FERIR 2,704,044 3,976,671
~ Lease liabilities —HEaE 56,218 65,983
— Amounts due to associates — B A RFIR 736,644 653,711
— Amounts due to joint ventures —EEEDERE 532,942 680,499
— Amount due to non-controlling interests — B SRR A RS TR 1,918,756 1,465,986
— Borrowings — g3 4,823,857 6,766,204
Total st 10,772,461 13,609,054
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RE MR R aR M ()

30 Commitments

(@)

Commitments for property development
expenditures

30 &R

(@) YIEFE A

As at 31 December

M2H31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Contracted but not provided for BRI 4B REE 4,245,972 6,481,219

The amount represented capital commitment for construction
contracts and agreed proposed development contracts
determined based on current estimated budgets.

Operating leases rental receivables — a group
company as lessor

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows:

ZERIERBE A A TREEENER
BRIRIBENRFAER DR EARAGE

(b) HEHERWHES -KEAQF
RAHBEA
R ST A T A R SR
BERKWT

As at 31 December

A12831H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREBFT
Within one year —FR 5,257 4,058

Later than one year but no later than iR —FE T ERRE

five years 12,828 12,035
Later than five years BRRF 4,095 6,514
22,180 22,607

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

31 Related Party Transactions

(a) The ultimate holding companies of the Company are Huaxing
Development Co., Ltd, Hualian Development Co., Ltd and
Hualong Development Co., Ltd and the ultimate controlling
shareholders of the Company are Mr. Lui Ming, Mr. Lui Wing
Nam, Mr. Lui Chi Chung Jimmy, Mr. Lui Jin Ling and Mr. Lui

Wing Mau.

Transaction with related parties

31 EAHE

R5

(a) ARAFHBRERATAERERAR
NAE) - ERERERAFREERRS
[RAF] « RRBMREZIZEBRBERS 20
4 BkEEL - aFREL - B
SRERBKETE

(b) EREAEEF VRS

Year ended 31 December

BZE12B31BLEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFT
Lease payments to Mr. Xie Jian Qing MEARAEYER
in respect of the leased office HRSEEL S
premises (Note) (Pf&E) (116) (664)
Interest expense to associates FERTEE A BRI B (13,098) (24,712
Income for rendering of management and ~ [A1& (b ¥R MHEIE K&
consulting services to joint ventures B EARTE AU A 11,027 9,840
Income for rendering of management and  [AlEE & A BRI &
consulting services to associates BRI EIA 9,824 8,598

Note: Mr. Xie Jian Qing is a senior management of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: same).

Ganglong China Property Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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31 Related Party Transactions (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

31 BB L XX 5 (5&)

(c) Balances with associates and joint ventures (c) HEENTRESETEMNEE
As at 31 December
MA12A31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000 Nature
AR®F T ARETT THE
Amounts due from joint ventures  JEUN & & EFIE Non-trade
(Note (i) (BREEG)) 155,181 170,957 FES
Amounts due to joint ventures ENAZERER Non-trade
(Note (ii)) (B RE(G)) (532,942) (680,499) EZ 5
Amounts due from associates FELH & A RIFIE Non-trade
(Note (ii)) G 124,229 129,976 *E5
Amounts due to associates X SNGTE ] Non-trade
(Note (iv)) (FfF7E(v) (736,644) (653,711) IFZEH
Notes: Bk -

M

(i)

(iv)

Amounts due from joint ventures represents the cash
advances for project development. The balances were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
As at 31 December 2023, provision for impairment of
RMB8, 126,000 was recognised (2022: Nil).

Amounts due to joint ventures represents the cash
advances for project development. The balances were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due from associates represents the cash
advances for project development. The balances were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
As at 31 December 2023, provision for impairment of
RMB6,467,000 was recognised (2022: Nil).

Amounts due to associates represents the cash advances
for project development. The balances were unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

M

(i)

(i)

)

ERAEETENREAEEAEMNR
S - B AEEE  RBIWA
?ﬁ%‘eiﬂﬂ;a 72023412 A31

TR E 5 A R#8,126,000
75(2022¢ ) o

e EhERIBRERMENR
SRR o HHRREER - REWAE
RBRFLAMEE -

FEUREE &N R RIEAIE B FMERIR
RN EHBEERE 2ETA
BB FAEE - 72023912 A31
A - FERRE R A R 6,467,000
TL(2022FF : &) o

FEE 2 AR FUARIA R REMNR

SRR - BEHRAEET  2RAR
RERTIMEE -

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

31 Related Party Transactions (Continued)
(d) Guarantee provided by the Group for related

parties

31 BHARS ()
(d) NEEABEEFIRENER

As at 31 December

A12831H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREFT
Carrying values of the borrowings of EREEREEFDIRERE
joint ventures guaranteed 234,170 285,425

(e) Key management compensation

Key management compensation are set out below:

() EREEASHM
EEEEABHHRIIMT

Year ended 31 December

HZ12B31HILEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AREEFTT

Key management compensation FTEEE A BFH

— Salaries and other employee benefits —FH & RHEMIEE RN 6,632 8,164
— Pension costs —RIRE AR 552 526
7,184 8,690
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

32 AR B R R
(a) ARQEFBARRE

32 Statement of Financial Position and

Reserve Movement of the Company
(@) Statement of financial position of the

Company
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREFT
Assets BE
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries B ARIRE 1,753,548 1,753,548
1,753,548 1,753,548
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables and prepayments HAth eI R IE R FE N F0E 3 565
Financial assets at fair value through BAREEFEAEE
profit or loss AFABERNESREE - 3,952
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEURHY B A FIFRIA 271,049 976,868
Cash and cash equivalents ReRESEZED 887 851
271,939 982,236
Total assets BEHAEE 2,025,487 2,735,784
Equity s
Capital and reserves Rk #E
Share capital A% A 14,838 14,838
Reserves i 665,910 1,285,334
Total equity EREEE 680,748 1,300,172
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables E e 5RIE 19,467 19,679
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERIHT B A RIFIB 159,444 415,836
Borrowings & 1,165,828 1,000,097
Total liabilities EERE 1,344,739 1,435,612
Total equity and liabilities EEREEAR 2,025,487 2,735,784

ARARF AR K ER20245F3 F28H
EEESiE  YHTIALTRERES

The financial statements were approved by the Board of
Directors on 28 March 2024 and were signed on its behalf.

gEE o
Mr. Lui Ming Mr. Lui Jin Ling
BHKE BERKE
Director Director
EE EZE

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023



200

32 Statement of Financial Position and

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

32 AN RN T K

Reserve Movement of the Company (&)
(Continued)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) RABHFEEEE
Share Other  Accumulated
premium reserves loss Total
RADEE Hitvi e 2t EE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTL AREFT AREFT ARETFTL
As at 1 January 2022 202241 A1H 1,467,819 663,880 (575,141) 1,656,558
Loss for the year FHEE - - (258,100) (258,100)
Transaction with owners: BEFANRS
Cancellation of shares SR (19,255) 19,317 - 62
Repurchase of shares BERAD - (13,186) - (13,186)
Total transactions with owners in HEEANAEEREREE A
their capacity as owners 50X HEE (19,255) 6,131 - (13,124
As at 31 December 2022 and 2022128318
1 January 2023 %2023F181A 1,448,564 670,011 (833,241) 1,285,334
Loss for the year FREE - - (147,168) (147,168)
As at 31 December 2023 RM2023F12H31H 1,448,564 670,011 (980,409) 1,138,166
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

33 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries

33 EEMEBRRIFE

Date of Place of
incorporation/ Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* establishment legal status establishment  activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
TR HMAT/AURY  RetER  EE/Huny  IEER i/ eafmha BEn FRRRERLH
2023 222
Directly owned:
ERER:
AEEGERERAA 9 October 2018 Limied lablity ~ Brtish VirginIslands ~ Ivestment holdings US$50,000 US$100 100% 100%
Ganglong Huayang Development company (equivalent to (eouivalent to
Limited RMB345,000) RMB690)
2018F10A9A BRLT iERAEE  REARR 50,000%7 100£7
(BERAREB000T)  (RERAREG0T)
Indirectly owned:
MR
LEREEARERSARLA 28 May 2014 Limited liabity PRC Property development RMB150,000,000 RMB20,000,000 50.00% 50.00%
(Hiita) company
Shanghai Chongming Yushang Real
Estate Development Co., Lid. (Note (a)
201455728R BRLE e UESES AREI50000000  AEH20,000,0007
BhlEEEZARAT (M) 26 August 2021 Limited fibilty PRC Property development RMBB00,000,000 RMBB00,000,000  10000%  100.00%
Foshen Ganglong Real Estate Co, Ltd. company
(Note (o))
2001587268 BRLE g UESES ARHB000000007  AK#800,000,0007C
ARAHERERLA 2November 2020 Limtediablty ~ PRO Property development RMB191,666,700 RMB88S,170,000 60.00% 60.00%
Nanjing Gangli Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company
200%11f2R BRLE s ESES ARE191666,700T  AR886,170,0007
HRALEHERSARDA(MiHE)  4Decomber209  Limitedliblly  PRC Property development RMB100,000,000 RVBIOO000000  5000%  50.00%
Nanjing Ganghong Real Estate company
Development Co, Lid. (Note (3)
219512548 BRAE s hxE% ARE1000000007  AR100,0000007
BRLTEHERRARDA(NEE)  10Mach 2021 Limited fabiity ~ PRC Property development RMB150,000,000 RVB1S0000000  4000%  40.00%
Nantong Liangcai Real Estate company
Development Co., Lid. (Note (g))
2021%3A108 BRAR e nER% ARE150000000T  AR¥150,000,0007
ERTAEEARLA(HiE) 2 September 2019 Limted bty PRC Property development RMB50,000,000 RMB50,000,000 28,00% 28,00%
Nantong Xinhe Real Estate Co., Lid. company
(Note (a)
2019%9A26H BRAR e nER% ARE0000000T  AR50000,0007
HREEEEEARAT () 16 January 2020 Limited liabilty PRC Property development RMB200,000,000 RMB200,000,000 26.01% 26.01%
Nantong Haimen Ganghua Real Estate company
Co., Ltd. (Note (a)
200051 A16R BRLT i UES ARH2000000007T  AF#200,000,0007C
BREZEZERLA 11 February 2019 Limited fiabifty PRC Property development RMB71,428,500 RMB71,429,000 7000% 70.00%
Nantong Ganghua Enterprise Lid. company
2019%52R11A BRAT o UESTE ARBTI 485001 ARETI 4290007

BETHRBEREARIR F3H,2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

33 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

33 FEMBRARFEE(E)

Date of Place of

incorporation/ Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* establishment legal status establishment  activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
R HMAL/AIRY  ResfEE  EE/Hun¥  FEER i/ ek BEn FagRRNA

2023 A2

NREREFERLT 28.June 2019 Limted lebilty ~ PRC Property development RMB51,000,000 RMB28,051,000 51.00% 51.00%
Rudong Gengrui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company

2019567288 BRAF e I ARB51000000m  AR28,01,0007
DREEEZERLT 25 July 2019 Limtedliabilty ~ PRC Property development RMB50,000,000 RMB50,000,000 51,00% 51,00%
Rudong Gangda Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company

201957A2%H BRAR e nER% ARB0000000  AR50,000,0007
RHELELRERLT 9 October 2020 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB200,000,000 RMB200,000,000 60.00% 60.00%
Anhui Gangfeng Real Estate Co., Ltd. company

2020F10A9H BRAF e S ARE2000000007  AR%200,000,0007
EREEELARAA 13Janvary 2020 Limiedliabllty ~ PRC Property development RMB200,000,000 RMBI41,070,000  100.00%  100.00%
Yixing Gangheng Real Estate Co., Lid. company

2020%1A13A BRAT e UEST ARH000000007T  ARE141,0700007T
BlmdBEEEARAT 30 Aprl 2019 Limited lebilty ~ PRC Property development R\B20,000,000 RMBi 51.00% 51.00%
Changzhou Kalyang Property Co,, Ltd. company

201954A3R BRLE I UELES ARH20,0000007 AREET
ENEREERSARAT 25 May 2021 Limited labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB241,000,000 RMBA0,000,000 5000% 50,00%
Changzhou Hengxu Real Estate company
Development Co., Lid.

20214857258 BRAT i UESTES ARBA41000000  ARH40000,0007
EMARERARAR Hika) 6 August 2019 Limited liabity PRC Property development RMB350,000,000 RMB350,000,000 40.00% 40.00%
Changzhou Gangjia Real Estate Co., company
Ltd. (Note (a)

2019868 BRAE i ESE ARHB00000007T  ARH3500000007T
EREEELERAA 4 January 2016 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 RVBal  10000%  100.00%
Changshu Ganghua Property Co,, Ltd. company

201651 A4R BRLA g ERE ARH10,0000007 AREET
BNERESERAR (M) 14 October 2020 Limited liabity PRC Property development RMB2,000,000,000 RMBnil 60.00% 60.00%
Guangzhou Gangke Real Estate company
Co,, Ltd. (Note o))

ANFI0AMR  HRAF G EEE ARE2,0000000007 NEEET
ENTEERHERSERAA Tuly 2017 Limited liabity PRC Property development RMB50,000,000 RMB50,000,000 51.00% 51.00%
Guangzhou Gangke Real Estate company
Co, Ltd.

17E7ATR BRAE e nERE ARES0000000T  AR50,000,0007
RBL5E | RHEREARAT 130ctober 2020 Limtedlbilty ~ PRC Property development RMB300,000,000 RVB30OIO000  B500%  5.00%
Chengdu Mingyang Meichuan Real company
Estate Development Co, Lid.

NNFI0EIBE BRAF g EmE ARH3000000007  AF#300,000,0007C
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

33 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

33 FEMBRABFEE(E)

Date of Place of
incorporation/ Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* establishment legal status establishment ~ activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
R HRAL/HIRE REMAEE  EE/AInY  IEER i/ ek BfER FragRRNA
2023 2022
EEERERAR (M) 16.June 2021 Limited fabiity ~ PRO Property development RVB400,000,000 RVBA0000000  60.00%  60.00%
Yangzhou Ganghua Property Co., Lid. company
(Note (o)
2021567 168 BRLE e VIS ARHA000000007  AEH400,000,0007C
TNFEEEERAR (Hika) 10 August 2018 Limted lablty ~ PRC Property development RMBL0,000,000 RMBX0,000,000 25,00% 25,00%
Hangzhou Chenrui Property Co., Ltd. company
(Note (a)
2018787108 BRLE s UGS AREA0000000T  ARE40,000,0007
RakEEZERLA 5November 2019 Limtediablty ~ PRC Property development USD15,000000 USD7,650,000 51,00% 51.00%
Dongtal Jinteng Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company (equivalent to equivalent to
RMB103,458,000) RMBA2,764,000)
2019411 A5R ERAT e S 15,000,007 7,650 0000
(R (BER
ARE1034580007)  ARM52,764,0007)
IEAEZERERATA 9 August 2013 Limted labiity ~ PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 RMBl  10000%  100.00%
Jeangsu Ganghua Property Co., Ltd company
201358798 BRLT i B ARH10,0000007 AREET
AR FESERAT 10 Apr 2018 Limited lebllty ~ PRC Property development RMB112,562,200 RMB62,562000  100.00%  100.00%
Yangzhou Ganghua Property Co., Lid. company
2018547108 ERLE g EEiES AREN25622000  AR62,5620007C
THEELRERERAA 9 February 2010 Limited liabilty PRC Property development USD6,800,000 USD5,000000  10000%  100.00%
Jangsu Ganglong Mingyang Real Estate company (equivalent to (equivalent to
Co, Ltd. RMB46,901,000) RMB34,486,000)
20106279H BRAR e nER% 6,800,000 70 500000070
(R (BER
ARB469010007)  AR34,486,0007)
IEAEESEERAA 13 August 2007 Limited fiabifty PRC Property development USD42,857,000 USD42,857,000 100.00% 100.00%
Jeangsu Ganglong Realty Group company (equivalent to (equivalent to
Co, Ltd. RMB295,593,000) RMB295,593,000)
2007%58A 18R ERAT ol IS 42,857 000%TC 42,857 D00%TC
(R (&R
AR¥%2955930007)  ARH295,593,0007)
THEEERERERAA 20 November 2012 Limited liabitty PRC Property development USD53,061,000 USD1,600,000  10000%  100.00%
Jangsu Ganglong Huayang Real Estate company (equivalent to (equivalent to
Co, Ltd. RMB365,972,000) RMB11,036,000)
W16115208  BRAF il S 53,061 000%TC 1,600 000%TC
(R (BER
AR¥365972000)  ARM11,086,0007)
TERALEZERAA(E) BFeoray 2019 Limitedliabity ~ PRC Property development RMB100,000,000 RMBE7,000,000 34.00% 34.00%
Jiangsu Tongganghong Property company
Co., Ltd. (Note (a)
2019427250 BRAR hE nER% ARE100000000  AR67,000,0007
NN EEEERAT 9December 2019 Limitedlabilty ~ PRC Property development RMB200,000,000 RMB200000000  60.00%  60.00%
Taizhou Gangxinzheng Real Estate company
Co, Ltd.
2019%F12A9A BRLE e UESES ARH2000000007  AK#200,000,0007C
BETEHBESREBRLAE F3#H2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

33 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

33 FEMBRARFEE(E)

Date of Place of

incorporation/ Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* establishment legal status establishment  activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
IR BMRL/RIAS  ResiER  gB/HinY  IEER #/BRAKA EER fERRRILA

2023 2022
FNEZEEERAA (M) 17 May 2021 Limited fabiity ~ PRO Property development RMB700,000,000 RMB700000000  3400%  3400%
Taizhou Ganghua Real Estate Co, Lid. company
(Note (a)

AN F5A17H BRAR hE VIEGES ARE7000000007  AR700,000,0007
REEREEERLT BNovember 2013 Limitedlabilty ~ PRC Property development R\B30,000,000 RMB10,000000  10000%  100.00%
Luoyang Ganglong Property Co., Ltd. company

NEMALE  ARAH hE VIEGES ARB80000000  ARE10,000,0007
BERREEARLA(E) SFebuay202t  Limitedliabliy  PRO Property development RMB100,000,000 RMBI0OO00000  2400%  2400%
Hai An Hai Tal Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company
(Note (a)

A1F2A38 BRAF e NER% AEE1000000007  ARE100,000,0007
ERRERNERLARAA(NRE)  290ctober2018  Limiedlabity  PRC Property development RMB20,000,000 RVB20000000  2550%  2550%
Huaf'an Guochuang Real Estate company
Development Co., Lid. (Note (a)

N18FI0ANE  ABAT hE IESE ARE20000000  AK%20,000,0007
ERMEEERARAA 7 August 2020 Limited fabiity ~ PRC Property development USD65,730,000 USD29993000  10000%  100.00%
Hual'an Ganghua Real Estate Co., Ltd. company (equivalent to eouivalent to

RMB460,250,000) R\B206,868,000)
2058778 BRAF hE VIEE 66,730,000 7 29,993, 000£7
(iFEn (FER
AR¥460.2500007)  ARE206,868,0007)
ANSTRIERRABAN (M)  SFebway2018  Limitedleblty  PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 RMB10,000,000 25.00% 25,00%
Huzhou Haiwang Kangshan Real Estate company
Co., Ltd. (Note (g))

0185258 BRAR e nER% ARB10000000  ARE10,000,0007
SNETREIELERARARI)  %0ctober 2017 Limitedlabiity ~ PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 RVB200000000  2500%  25.00%
Huzhou Haiwang Kangshan Property company
Development Co., Lid. (Note (a)

MTEI0AUE  BBAF hE IEGE ARE10000000  AE%200,000,0007
BRETEEARAR (M) 24 July 2020 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB240,000,000 RMB240,000,000 3.00% 35.00%
Liyang Gangzheng Property Co., Ltd. company
(Note (a)

2057 5248 HRAF e nER% ARB2400000007  ARE240,000,0007
ARERESERAA 19 September 2019 Limitedlabiity ~ PRC Property development RMB20,000,000 RMB20000000  5000%  50.00%
Shaoxing Gangtong Real Estate Co., company
Lid.

01997198 BRAA e nER% ARB20000000C  ARE20,000,0007
AREREXERAA 24 Jung 2019 Limted labty ~ PRC Property development RMB100,000,000 RMB100,000,000 7000%  7000%
Shaoxing Gangxing Property Co., Ltd. company

2019%6824H BRAR hE IEGE ARE1000000007  AR%100,000,0007
REMARERARAA 4September 2020 Limiedliabliy ~ PRC Property development RMB10,000,000 RVBI0000000  6000%  60.00%
Yiwu Ganghui Real Estate Co,, Ltd. company

020F974R BRAR hE VIEGE ARE10000000  ARE10,000,0007
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

33 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued) 33 F=EM B A RS (&)

Date of Place of

incorporation/ Type of operation/ Principal Registered/ Paid up Proportion of
Name of company* establishment legal status establishment  activities Issued capital capital ownership interest
G HMAL/AURY  ReshEE  EE/Hun¥  FEER i/ ek BiER FRRBERLS

2023 202

HREEEEARAA 19 June 2020 Limited fabiity ~ PRC Property development RMBA0,000,000 RMBnl  60.00%  60.00%
Wuhu Gangehun Real Estate Co., Ltd. company

2000567198 BRLE nE UEEES NRH600000007T NREET
EREALARERTARLA 19 May 2020 Limited liabity PRC Property development RMB20,000,000 RMBnl 100.00%  100.00%
Wuhu Gounty Gangsheng Enterprise company
Management Consuling Co, Ltd.

200057198 ERAE G hxE% ARH20,0000007 NEEET
ERERRERARAA 19 June 2020 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB70,000,000 RMBn 65.00% 65.00%
Wuhu County Gangda Real Estate company
Co, Ltd.

2020%6719A BRLT el UESES ARET0,000,0007 AREET
HiEERuEERAA () 4 September 2019 Limited liabifty PRC Property development RMB100,000,000 RMB100,000,000 34.90% 34.90%
Suzhou Ruixing Real Estate company
Development Co., Lid. (Note (@)

201959848 BRAA e S ARE100000000  ARE100,000,0007
BEEERERAT 21 May 2018 Limited liabity PRC Property development RMB100,000,000 RMB100,000000  10000%  100.00%
Guizhou Ganghua Property Co,, Ltd. company

201855A21H BRAR hE nER% ARE100000000  AR100,000,0007
BEATREELERDT 16 May 2016 Limited lebilty ~ PRC Property development R\B10,000,000 RVBnl  10000%  100.00%
Lianyungang Ganghua Property company
Co, Ltd.

2016557168 BRLA 2 UEGE ARH10,0000007 AREET
SEARERERAA 13 August 2020 Limted labilty ~ PRC Property development RMB149,253,731 RMB149,254,000 57.00% 57.00%
Fuyang Ganglong Real Estate Co., Ltd. company

200087138 BRAE S ESE ARH19253 731 \R149.254 0007
BIEEEZERAT(M) 16 Apr 2021 Limted labty ~ PRC Property development R\B540,000,000 RMBr 34,00% 34,00%
Jingjiang Ganghua Property Co., Lid. company
(Note (a)

021547 16R BRLT il UESES AR540,0000007T ARHZT
BYMSEERTRNERRERAT 17 ine 2021 Limited liabity PRC Property development RMB400,000,000 RMB280,000,000 40.00% 40.00%
(M) company
Yancheng Funing Gang Tong Hui Real
Estate Development Co,, Ltd. (Note (g))

2021%6A17A BRLT e ESES ARHA000000007  AF#280,000,0007C
TR ERRHERRERLT 17 December 2018 Limited bty PRC Property development RMB20,000,000 RMB20,000,000  100.00%  100.00%
Yancheng Funing Gang Tong Hui Real company
Estate Development Co, Lid.

WIBFRATE ARAT ] ESE ARB200000T  ARE200000007
ElEEERERAA (M7) 4 August 2020 Limited fiabilty PRC Property development RMBS0,000,000 RMB50,000,000  100.00% 70.00%
Huangshan Ganglong Real Estate company
Co, Ltd. (Note 27(a)

2020%8R4A BRAR e NER% ARE0000000  AR50000,0007
ERANEEARAA Mk 18November 2020 Limitedlabilty ~ PRC Property development RMB100,000,000 RMB100,000,000 - 0%
Nantong Jiuhe Real Estate Co., Lid. company
(Note 27(0)

ANFIABA  HRAF il UELES ARH1000000007  AK#100,000,0007C
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e M B RRMEE(E

33 Particulars of Principal Subsidiaries (Continued)

The English names of PRC companies referred to above in this
note represents management’s best effort in translating the
Chinese names of those companies as no English name have
been registered or available.

Notes:

(@)

The Group has controlled these companies through agreements
entered into with certain non-controlling shareholders pursuant
to which the Group has the right to make decision on relevant
activities including but not limited to budget, pricing and
promotion strategies of these companies. As the Group has
exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with
those companies, and has the ability to affect those returns
through its majority voting position and the existing rights to
direct the relevant activities, these companies are thus accounted
for as subsidiaries of the Group.

The percentage of attributable equity interests presented is the
beneficiary interests held by the Group. The equity interests in
entities legally held by the Group are lower than the beneficiary
interests because of the existence of Type Il trust financing
arrangements, which involve transfer of equity interests in the
project companies to the lender and the Group will redeem
our equity interest in the relevant project companies at a
predetermined price affixed by the then valuation report in a fixed
term or an earlier date if certain business performance target are
achieved.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
341 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group (Note
34.2).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of financial position respectively.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This
is generally the case where the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting rights, except for joint
arrangements as detailed in (c) below. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method
of accounting (see (d) below), after initially being
recognised at cost.
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34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
(Continued)
341 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(©)

(d)

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements” investments
in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification depends
on the contractual rights and obligations of each
investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint
arrangement.

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using
the equity method (see (d) below), after initially being
recognised at cost in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of
the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates and joint
ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying
amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-
accounted accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured
long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the other entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
(Continued)
341 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Equity method (Continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-
accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments
is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 34.8.

Structured entities

For structured entities, the Group assesses whether
they should be consolidated based on the contractual
terms as to whether the Group is exposed to, or has
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Third-party beneficiaries’ interests in the consolidated
structured entities with a limited life and are classified
as liabilities in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position, and net profits or losses attributable
to third-party beneficiaries are recorded in consolidated
statement of profit or loss as “finance costs”.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results in an adjustment
between the carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount
of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and
any consideration paid or received is recognised in a
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of
the Company.
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34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
(Continued)
341 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)

(f)

Changes in ownership interests (Continued)
When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of control
or significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change in
carrying amount recognised in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. This fair value becomes the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate
is reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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34 HMSFTBERME ()
34.2 EKE B

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.2 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired
business

° equity interests issued by the Group

° fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement, and

° fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable
assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

° consideration transferred;

° amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired
entity, and

° acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair
value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired,
the difference is recognised directly in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as a bargain purchase.
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34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)

34.2 Business combinations (Continued)

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is
deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to
their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount
rate used is the Group’s incremental borrowing rate, being
the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained
from an independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a
financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are
subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value
at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

34.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwiill.
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34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
(Continued)
34.4 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The CODM,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing

performance of the operating segments, has been identified

as the executive directors of the Company that makes
strategic decision.

34.5 Foreign currency translation

(@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year
end exchange rates are generally recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, within “finance costs”. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
on a net basis within “Other income and other gains,
net”.
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34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

(©)

Transactions and balances (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or
loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation
differences on non-monetary assets such as equities
classified as fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

° assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial
position

° income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at the dates
of the transactions), and

° all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

()

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, as part of the gain
or loss on sale.

Disposal of foreign operation

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal
involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share
of accumulated currency translation differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (that is, reductions in the group’s ownership
interest in associates or joint ventures that do not result
in the group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less depreciation and any impairment loss. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost, net of their residual values over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements
HEMERE

Computer and office equipment
NS NG

Motor vehicles

o

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each financial position date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 34.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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347 REME

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.7 Investment properties

Investment properties are held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both, and that are not occupied
by the Group. They also include properties that are being
constructed or developed for future use as investment
properties. Investment properties are initially measured at
cost, included related transaction costs and where applicable
borrowing costs. Subsequently they are carried at fair value,
representing open market value determined at each reporting
date by external valuers. Fair value is based on active market
prices, and adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the
nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If the
information is and uses alternative valuation methods such
as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash
flow projections. Changes in fair values are presented in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as part of
a valuation gain or loss.

34.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.
Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.9 Financial instruments

(@)

(b)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through OCI or through profit or loss), and

- those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sale of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the assets. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

()

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction cost of financial assets
carried at FVPL are expensed in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are
three measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

—  Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented
in other gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in the statement
of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
(Continued)
34.9 Financial instruments (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for
the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or loss.
When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in
OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in other gains, net. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in other gains, net and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within other gains,
net in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.9 Financial instruments (Continued)

()

(d)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when
the group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in other gains, net in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for
further details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
3410 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

3411 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
properties sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets.
If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The group holds the trade receivables with
the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. See Note 34.9(d) for
impairment policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies 34 HE#h&stBFEMHE (&)
(Continued)

3412 Contract assets and liabilities and costs for U SHEEREBBUNEESH

obtaining contracts

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from customer and
assumes performance obligations to transfer goods or
services to the customer. The combination of those rights
and performance obligations give rise to a net asset or a net
liability depending on the relationship between the remaining
rights and the performance obligations. The contract is an
asset and recognised as contract assets if the measure of
the remaining conditional rights to consideration exceeds the
satisfied performance obligations. Conversely, the contract is
a liability and recognised as contract liabilities if the measure
of the remaining performance obligations exceeds the
measure of the remaining rights.

The Group recognises the incremental costs of obtaining a
contract with a customer within prepayments if the Group
expects to recover these costs.

3413 Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash

and pledged time deposits

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less. Bank deposits
which are restricted to use are included in “restricted
cash” of the consolidated statement of financial position.
Time deposits pledged for notes payables of the Group
are included in “pledged time deposit” of the consolidated
statement of financial position. Restricted cash and pledged
time deposit are excluded from cash and cash equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity
instruments, for example as the result of a share buy-back
or a share-based payment plan, the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of
income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the
owners of the Company as treasury shares until the shares
are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are
subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of
any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the
related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to
the owners of the Company.

3415 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods
or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 HE st BERBIE (&)

34.16 18 FX R A8 TR AN

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
3416 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated statement of income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)

34.17 Current and deferred income tax
The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in the countries where
the Company and its subsidiaries and associates and
joint ventures operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will
accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely amount
or the expected value, depending on which method
provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.

(o) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
3417 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is determined
on the basis that the property will be recovered entirely
through use.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
3418 Employee benefits

(@)

(b)

()

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that are
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after
the end of the period in which the employees render the
related service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when
the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as
current employee benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

The group companies incorporated in PRC contribute
based on certain percentage of the salaries of the
employees to a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan organised by relevant government authorities
in the PRC on a monthly basis. The government
authorities undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations payable to all existing and future retired
employees under these plans and the Group has no
further obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond
the contributions made. Contributions to these defined
contributions plans are expensed as incurred.

Housing benefits, medical insurances and other
social insurances

PRC employees of the Group are entitled to participate
in various government-supervised housing funds,
medical insurance and other social insurance plan. The
Group contributes to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of these employees on a
monthly basis. The Group’s liability in respect of these
funds is limited to the contribution payable in each
period. Contributions to the housing funds, medical
insurances and other social insurances are expensed as
incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick leave
and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the
following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the
entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of
terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination
benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling
due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting
period are discounted to present value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

mE MR Rk M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditures to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period.
The discount rate used to determine the present value, is
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.20 Earnings per share

(i)

(i)

Basic earnings per shares
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the Company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares
issued during the year and excluding treasury
shares.

Diluted earnings per shares

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in
the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:

the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares, and

the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

3421 Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

34.22 Management and consultancy service income
Management and consultancy service income is recognised

in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B B IRR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)
34.23 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) and at fair value
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Dividends
are recognised as other income and other gains, net in the
consolidated profit or loss when the right to receive payment
is established. This applies even if they are paid out of
preacquisition profits, unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of an investment. In this case, the
dividend is recognised in OCI if it relates to an investment at
FVOCI.

34.24 Leases

The Group leases various properties to operate as its office
premises. Property leases are typically made for fixed
periods of one to ten years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain various different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets (included
in property, plant and equipment) and the corresponding
liabilities at the date of which the respective leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real
estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead
accounts for these as a single lease component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 HMSFTBERME ()

UUFHE(E)

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies
(Continued)
3424 Leases (Continued)

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate;

o amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B B IRR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies

(Continued)

3424 Leases (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group,
where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing
was received. Lease payments are allocated between
principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged
to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received;

° any initial direct costs, and

o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset’s useful life. While the Group revalues its
land and buildings that are presented within property, plant
and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for the right-of-
use buildings held by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

RE MR R aR M ()

34 Summary of Other Accounting Policies 34 HE#h&stFEME (&)
(Continued)

34.24 Leases (Continued) U214 FHE (1)

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of less than 12 months.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. The respective leased assets are included in
the consolidated statements of financial position based on
their nature.

34.25 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher
of:

° the amount determined in accordance with the
expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and

° the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee,
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.
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Financial Summary

MBERE

(Amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated) | (R4S RIFERRSN - SEEM AARE)

Results e
Year ended 31 December
BE12A31ALEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TT ARETT ARETT AR®TR
Revenue from contracts with customers ~ REE P4 4RIz 1,978,034 4,171,331 10,368,685 11,892,348 17,579,219
Profit before income tax BRETEH AR F 763,888 1,023,623 1,503,803 1,075,388 1,546,137
Income tax expenses HiESyitaba (293,824) (381,684) (401,622) (494,233) (827,694)
Profit and total comprehensive income  EREF R 2 A
for the year Fak 470,064 641,939 1,102,181 581,155 718,443
Attributable to: PATT AL -
Owners of the Company AREEBA 668,041 960,748 480,936 121,886 147,972
Non-controlling interests FEERE R (197,977) (318,809) 621,245 459,269 570,471
470,064 641,939 1,102,181 581,155 718,443
Assets and Liabilities LERAE
As at 31 December
M12A318
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TT ARETT ARETT AR¥TR
Total assets BEAS 22,892,752 46,246,196 56028274 46,513,208 31,608,401
Total liabilities BERTE (21,239,398)  (41,759,503)  (45,750,522)  (35,385,752)  (20,260,215)
Net assets B TE 1,653,354 4486693 10,277,752 11,127,546 11,348,186
Owners of the Company ADREARA 1,243,531 3,694,014 3,841,872 3,950,572 4,093,684
Non-controlling interests JEIR GRS 409,823 792,679 6,435,880 7,176,974 7,254,502
Total equity M 1,653,354 4486693 10277752 11,127,546 11,348,186
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